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VISION AND MISSION
BEREwD

POWERING THE eWORLD
EEN ) ERR

1
A To be a manufacturer of world-class
standard in power electronics
HRBKENTEEFEREER
v 2
To capture global demand in innovative
VISION products in the new smart economy
B#% BREBEATHANERNER
3

To be socially and environmentally
responsible to all stakeholders

EHERBRETHAQFNDERR

assion to improve & innovate
UEHENR KA

bligation to stakeholders
EEREEFOE

MISSION
f& oy

orld class standards & quality
SRR mE RokE

xcellence in operations
EHNEE

esponsibility to develop our people
BEAEEBAT

GOEOG
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Founded in 1983, Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) is an
electronics manufacturing services (‘EMS”) provider specialising
in the manufacturing and sales of customised industrial electronic
components and products, with offices in Hong Kong, Republic
of Ireland (“Ireland”), Germany and Thailand, and production
facilities in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), Ireland
and Thailand. The Group’s principal subsidiary, Trio Engineering
Company Limited, is the first industrial electronics provider in
Hong Kong to have obtained Industry 4.0 level 1i certification.

“Powering the eWorld” is the Group’s corporate vision. We provide
customised engineering and contract manufacturing services for
a broad range of industries. Addressing high complexity, we
offer advanced solutions for new product introductions that
meet dynamic business needs. Our product lines include: (i)
electro-mechanical products; (ii) switch-mode power supplies;
(i) smart chargers; and (iv) smart vending systems (“SVS”). Our
products are widely applied in various industrial and commercial
areas, such as renewable energy facilities, telecommunications
equipment, commercial freight equipment, medical and health
care devices, leisure and entertainment products, security and
access systems, etc.

ABOUT THE GROUP
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AEEFR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lai Yiu Wah (Chairman)
Tai Leung Lam (Chief Executive Officer)
Joseph Mac Carthy

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Fung Chun Chung
Cheung Kin Wing
Wong Raymond Fook Lam

REGISTERED OFFICE

Block J, 5/F, Phase I,
Kaiser Estate

51 Man Yue Street
Hung Hom, Kowloon
Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.trio-ieg.com

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Cheung Kin Wing (Chairman)
Fung Chun Chung
Wong Raymond Fook Lam

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Chairman)
Lai Yiu Wah

Fung Chun Chung
Cheung Kin Wing

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Fung Chun Chung (Chairman)
Lai Yiu Wah
Wong Raymond Fook Lam

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Lai Yiu Wah (Chairman)
Cheung Kin Wing

Fung Chun Chung

Wong Raymond Fook Lam
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Wan Mei Wa Ruby (ACG, ACS, CPA)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Lai Yiu Wah
Tai Leung Lam

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22nd Floor Prince’s Building

Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
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INFORMATION FOR OUR INVESTORS
REESETER

Financial Calendar

Financial year end 31 December 2020
Announcement of annual results 25 March 2021
Annual report available online 19 April 2021

e Company website: http://www.trio-ieg.com (“Investor Relations” section)
* Hong Kong Stock Exchange website: www.hkexnews.hk

Annual report dispatch date 20 April 2021
Annual general meeting 24 May 2021
Ex-dividend date 9 June 2021
Latest time for lodging share transfer documents for registration 10 June 2021

to entitle the final dividend (Not later than 4:30 p.m.)
Payment of final dividend 5 July 2021

Share Information

Stock Code 1710
Board Lot 4,000 shares
Market Capitalisation as at 31 December 2020 HK$190 million

Share Registrar

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address:  Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2980 1333

Facsimile: (852) 2810 8185

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

2020 2019
—EC-®H —F-hAF
HK$°000 HK$'000 Change
FHET FET &
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20
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Sales per Capita (US$)
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the same period.
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Gross Profit Margin and Net Profit Margin
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to
present to you the final report of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020 (“FY2020").

Without iteration, the coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) is
the most quoted subject in almost every annual/interim report
by listed companies for FY2020. As | wrote in the Chairman’s
statement in the 2020 Interim Report, this COVID-19 “is never
before, and hopefully never again”. Nevertheless, this disruptive
strike is still hanging around in most countries/territories even
though COVID-19 vaccines have come into place for wide-scale
injection since December 2020. The world has seen the dawn of
rejuvenation but COVID-19 seems to be phasing out quite slowly
as of today. It is yet unknown when the normal life of the world
citizens could return, thus the recovery of the global or regional
economy is still uncertain at this moment.

Lai Yiu Wah

Chairman and Executive Director
RpEE

FEFRPTEE

AABRKRBETESETEFEGRAA ([RA
A REMBAR (AB[AEE]) £F ([E
E)AkzESe ([BEEE)]) AR BT
RE2AREEHE-_E-_EF+-_A=+—H1t
FE ((ZE-ZHREE]) 2 KBRS -

BEER - 2019TMAEEH ([COVID-19]) #
FAERARLTRATIR S _EHBREEFER
& RHREPREIRENER - WARALH
R-ZE-_TFRHREPNEFEREAHM - 2
IRCOVID-19&BER [RIFTRA » FHENET
GHELE] AT - BIECOVID-19ZEEE =
—TFE+_ARBABRERAERE  BEBA
BEREARELREBNAESERBHER i
- SHBFCMDREEBEHRNEN  BRES
H ' COVID-19Z AR REHER - KHWAR
MEAREEEEENBRNZE At B
AT R BEHE TE 2 BR ok i [ A 78 (] B ) LA %
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In this Report, | do not intend to repeat the risks and hardships
that the Group had encountered during FY2020. It is more likely
that the shareholders and stakeholders of the Group would like
to learn more about the manner the management had taken to
turn around our profit for FY2020 to bring a 29.2% increase over
that of FY2019. Please note the following highlights:

1. Crisis management was seriously considered in March 2020
and the Board had agreed to implement certain vigorous
cost reduction programs by all operating divisions. Targets
were seriously set, discussed, implemented and monitored
month by month since April 2020. By November 2020,
almost all operating divisions had satisfactorily achieved
the targets set.

2. Increased business contacts by our European sales teams,
either physical visits or via internet communications. Our
counterparts also believed the same with us that business
must not be stopped because of COVID-19. It was not
common for such a wide consensus among business
people in our industry that everyone endeavoured to take
a step more and further. The result was that the Group
recorded a moderate decrease in sales of 13.2% compared
with that of 2019.

3. Apart from the cost reduction programs as mentioned
in paragraph 1 above, our engineering and production
management had put strong efforts to further streamline the
manufacturing processes, to reduce overtime cost of the
direct and indirect labour, and to make rational decisions on
many discretionary costs. All these actions had successfully
curtailed the cost of sales as well as manufacturing and
general overheads.

4.  The Finance Division had also played an important part
in making sure the survival of the Group by cautiously
managing the working capital. This Division had maintained
high cash funding balance, reduced revolving bank
borrowings, monitored to level down the stock holding
balance and costs, as well as striking a better balance of
credit days between accounts receivables and payables.
Our “Cash is King” policy had maintained a healthy and
safe liquidity level to overcome any short-term vulnerable
blows, positioning ourselves to regain our revenue and
profit growth path.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERE

if%@ﬂmﬂ &Iﬁ $%@W&%&ﬁ
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

5. The management strongly believed that the industrial
electronics sector would only be temporarily hampered. We
had re-structured the European office and personnel in the
third quarter of 2020. The present organisational structure
and additional sales and technical personnel recruited
have continuously cultivated the markets, products and
customers. It is the anticipation of the management, with
a cautious optimistic attitude, that the forthcoming year
would have a reasonable rebound of revenue because of
this re-structuring, and definitely a mild recovery of the
global economy.

Who will have a privileged position in the post COVID-19 business
climate? The coordination and cooperation among countries
during the COVID-19 tragic period have promoted unity of people
more deeply, and widely than ever before. The level of human
consensus and empathy have been reinforced and solidified. It
is hard to see any country could ever stand alone. Does it apply
to a commercial concern too? The Group is now operating in
Asia and Europe (each continent has three locations). We have
strategically positioned ourselves to deepen internationalisation of
activities to meet global customers’ demands, procurement and
manufacturing. We have utilised a wider application of digitalised
facilities all around the world. We have established a “same time
zone” mentality for East and West executives to ensure intact
communications in order to more efficiently and effectively handle
our business. In summary, the management is confident to stay
on the globalisation express train to go along with our customers,
suppliers and others to further advance our presence and growth.

Looking forward, the industrial electronics sector would benefit
much from the e-world development, positively powered by the
deployment of 5G technology, and passively (or more specific,
unwillingly) caused by the COVID-19. The Group’s current EMS
business development has concentrated in four major areas —
new energy vehicles (“NEV”) charging, energy storage system
(“ESS”), medical and health care products and smart vending
system (or generally referred to as smart kiosks). The living of
the world citizens will be embraced by this digitalisation progress
and it is quite certain within a decade of two, that the living of
human beings will be greatly surrounded by Internet of Things
(“10T”), Big Data, Artificial Intelligence (“Al”), etc. We are already
operating in a “primary school” digital world and the enrolment
to the “university life” is not that far away. Trio Group is well
prepared to working with our counterparts closely to capture
opportunities in the new era.

5, EEERE IXEFTEREXIEY
WEE - ZFIEE_T_TFE=FEE
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BARE ((HeeRAE] 28 EREFES
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BREF (—RBATHEEER) - 2HRBNHE
ESEBBCNEELBRE - WAl EELELR
R+z==+FR - WBE ((WBR]) - KEUE
MAILEfg AL SREBEREEEH
BEBE AT R, o FAM A SE 75 8 A SR 1E B A SUE th R
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
IRRE

On behalf of the Board, | must express my most sincere salute to  ARNAZRRXEZES @ HHMANEERSULES
our employees and our fellow directors. We had walked through — BUA & RO K REH - f£38 2R —F R 588
the Year of Darkness with glimmering light on hand. However, #HZAEB  BEERBMALERETH —4H
the trust, belief and high coordination among us had proved £ - A 2BAFTAGEANEE  E2UKL
1+1 synergy to achieve a better profit record than that of 2019. B0 B - BRFISKGEEFNEB T — LK

The Board will lead to coordinate, communicate and correct our F /& EREEZRFEET [1+1] B R %
people and activities in order to bring more reasonable returns to M JE - EE S| EARRE  MIFHT - EHE §
our shareholders. We are definitely appreciative to our business LEMBBENEE TREKRE - KR AK > 2
partners like vendors, bankers, professionals and many others to R4 KB A IR EIHK - HPINIEF K —H & i =
stroll along with us, bringing our business climate from darkness K FiEF B/ TRIHER - 17 - BEE A+ M ‘ §
to dawn and then to a bright sunshine in the near future. ZHMEBSIERHN  BMEEEEALETR =
B OOBERE - WETANBREAEBIED 2
BRE o
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o
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENEREEEEBE

1. Mr. Lai Yiu Wah
REELE

2. Mr. Tai Leung Lam
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.......... 3. Mr. Joseph Mac
Carthy

4. Mr. Fung Chun Chung I
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5. Mr. Cheung Kin Wing
RERAE

6. Mr. Wong Raymond
Fook Lam
ERRLLE
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEKEREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lai Yiu Wah (%), aged 65, is the Chairman and
Executive Director, and is responsible for the corporate and
strategic development of the Group. He is also the Chairman
of the Risk Management Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr.
Lai joined our Group since April 2015 and has been the Director
of the Company since 15 April 2016 but ceased to act as the
Chief Financial Officer since 1 March 2021. He is a director of all
the subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Lai has extensive experience in
management consulting, finance, accountancy and taxation. He
also has wide experience in businesses including manufacturing,
catering, retailing and trading sectors.

Mr. Lai obtained a higher diploma in accountancy in November
1978 from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic University). He was admitted as a fellow of
the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (now known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in September
1988.

Mr. Lai served in different positions, including trainee
and supervisor, in Coopers & Lybrand (now known as
PricewaterhouseCoopers) from November 1978 to August 1981,
and served in different positions, including internal auditor and
credit controller, in A.S. Watson & Co., Limited from December
1981 to June 1983. In 1983, Mr. Lai founded Thomson Y. W. Lai
& Co. Certified Public Accountants, which had been the Group’s
auditors and tax representative from August 2008 to April 2015
and from July 2008 to April 2015, respectively, before Mr. Lai was
invited to join the Group in April 2015.
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BEELLE 65 REFRATES E
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HEXBITENRE B ER -

%%iﬁé*ﬂt)\ﬁﬂ—*ﬂ’iﬁé}%ﬁléﬁ
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tai Leung Lam (& R #), aged 73, is Chief Executive Officer,
Executive Director and the Director of Manufacturing. Mr. Tai
joined the Group since October 1985 and was appointed as a
Director on 15 April 2016. He is responsible for the management,
strategic planning and development of the manufacturing division.
Mr. Tai was a director of Trio Engineering from October 1985 to
July 1987, and has been serving in the same position from July
1990 until present. He is a director of all of the subsidiaries of the
Group. Mr. Tai has over 45 years of experience in the electronics
industry, and specializes in the establishment and management
of production plants for electronics manufacturing.

Mr. Tai obtained a diploma in Wireless Mechanical Maintenance
without Wireless Telegraph Communication in The World Electric
Engineering College (B&t A EH TIZER) in March 1965.
During the period from October 1976 to 1983, Mr. Tai held
various positions in Timco Manufacturing Co. Limited (“Timco”),
a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and
principally engaged in electronics manufacturing. Timco was
dissolved in December 1991 as a result of creditor’s winding up.

Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy, aged 55, is the Executive Director of
the Company and was appointed as Head of Sales and Technical
in November 2020. He is managing the operations in Europe,
covering sales and marketing all over the world. Mr. Mac Carthy
joined the Group since March 1996 and was appointed as a
Director on 15 April 2016. He joined the Group as a consultant
in March 1996 and has been a director of Trio Engineering
since October 2003. He is a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Group. Before joining the Group, Mr. Mac Carthy worked
in different companies engaging in related industries. Mr. Mac
Carthy has been in the industry of design engineering for
electronic and magnetic products for over 30 years.

In 1985, Mr. Mac Carthy obtained a national certificate in
electronic engineering from Waterford Institute of Technology in
Ireland.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEKEREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Chun Chung (% #), aged 78, is an Independent
Non-executive Director appointed on 10 February 2017, and
is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Risk Management Committee. Mr. Fung has over 40 years of
experience in the electronics industry.

Mr. Fung received an advanced diploma in engineering from
North-East Essex Technical College in the United Kingdom in
July 1968 and a master degree of science in engineering from
the University of Hong Kong in November 1978. Mr. Fung was
admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
in January 1983, and a member of the Institution of Production
Engineers (now known as the Institution of Engineering and
Technology) in the United Kingdom in July 1971.

Mr. Fung worked as a manager of production in Transelectronics
Ltd. from June 1970 to December 1974, responsible for leading
the development of the company and training of the production
operators and staff. Mr. Fung was appointed as the chairman
of Manlion Industrial Co., Ltd., a company principally engaged
in the manufacturing of lighting products and festival items and
decorations, in October 1983, and of Packway Industries Ltd.,
a company principally engaged in the manufacturing of battery
chargers and festival items and decorations, in November
2007. In addition, Mr. Fung was the secretary of the Hong Kong
Electrical Appliance Industries Association from 2006 to 2008
and the executive committee member of group four (electrical
products) of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries from July
2005 to July 2015.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Kin Wing ((R&#%%), aged 66, is an Independent
Non-executive Director appointed on 10 February 2017, and
is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each
of the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management
Committee. Mr. Cheung has more than 31 years of experience
in information technology, financial accounting, auditing and
management.

Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor degree in commerce
from the University of Calgary in Canada in June 1979. He
became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales in May 1986 and February
2015, respectively.

From September 1980 to March 1995, Mr. Cheung held
several positions, including assistant manager, manager
and senior manager in Coopers & Lybrand (now known as
PricewaterhouseCoopers). He was a partner of Coopers &
Lybrand (now known as PricewaterhouseCoopers) from March
1995 until his resignation in May 1999. Since February 1999,
Mr. Cheung has been a director and lead consultant of Sunplex
Consultants Limited, a company principally engaged in the
provision of human resources management and IT consultancy
services. He was an independent director of Principal Trust
Company (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as AXA China
Region Trustees Limited), a provider of investment and retirement
solutions, from August 1999 to August 2015 and an independent
non-executive director of Bank of Communications Trustee
Limited, from November 2003 to January 2018. Mr. Cheung
was a director of the finance and operations department of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants from July
2004 to April 2008 and a consultant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants from April 2008 to August 2008.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEKEREEERE

Mr. Cheung is currently an independent non-executive director of
BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited, (whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1338), ENM Holdings
Limited (whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 128), and Kin Pang Holdings Limited (whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1722). Mr. Cheung
also joined Self Strengthening Service Centre Limited (B 38 R
AR AT (an NGO to help the underprivileged) as a director
on a voluntary basis in September 2019.

Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam (E&&), aged 66, is the
Independent Non-executive Director appointed on 10 February
2017, and is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Management Committee. Mr. Wong has
approximately 31 years of experience in financial management,
treasury, internal control and investment in the commercial field.

Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director of
Wenzhou Kangning Hospital Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2120), from April 2015 to June
2016. From January 1997 to June 2007 and from July 2009 to
December 2016, Mr. Wong served as an executive director of
SOCAM Development Limited (“SOCAM”), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 983) and a member of the Shui
On Group, a group principally engaged in property development
and construction in Hong Kong and the PRC. He also took up
the role of chief financial officer from July 2009 to December
2016 and assumed the role of managing director of SOCAM
from July 2013 to December 2016. During his tenure with
SOCAM, he was primarily responsible for financial, treasury and
legal and secretarial functions, corporate restructuring, mergers
and acquisitions, investment decisions, investor relationships
and corporate governance matters. In March 2007, Mr. Wong
was appointed an executive director of China Central Properties
Ltd., an affiliated company of SOCAM, which was listed on the
London Stock Exchange. Following the privatisation of China
Central Properties Ltd. in June 2009, he rejoined SOCAM. From
1992 to 1995, Mr. Wong served as the finance director of the
Shui On Group.

Mr. Wong obtained a diploma in accountancy from the City
of London Polytechnic (now known as London Metropolitan
University) in June 1976. He is a Fellow of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lai Sek Piu (2$51Z), aged 61, is the Head of Manufacturing
Division and Innovation Development Division and is responsible
for the management and supervision of the Group’s innovation
and development. Starting from 1 January 2019, Mr. Lai has
also been a Joint Managing Director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. On 21 January 2020, he was further appointed as
the Managing Director of Trio-tronics (Thailand) Limited to take
charge of the operations and management of production facilities
in Thailand. He has over 34 years of experience in the field of
manufacturing and engineering.

Mr. Lai completed a three years’ part-time course in electronic
engineering at Kasetsart University in Thailand in July 1993.

Mr. Lai worked as a section manager in Capetronic International
(Thailand) Public Company Limited in Thailand, a company
principally engaged in the manufacturing, distribution and
provision of after-sales services for computer monitors in
Thailand, from August 1988 to February 1997. He joined the
Group as an engineer in November 1998 and a general manager
of manufacturing division in April 2007, and has been the director
of Innovation and Development Division since January 2018.

Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun (B%#), aged 42, is the Director of the
Marketing Division and is responsible for the management and
supervision of the Group’s marketing. Starting from 1 January
2019, Mr. Lo has also been a Joint Managing Director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has 17 years of experience
in international marketing and business development in the
electronics industry.

Mr. Lo obtained a higher national diploma in business and
marketing in July 2001 and a bachelor of arts degree in business
management in September 2002 from the Southampton
Institute in the United Kingdom. He obtained a master degree
in management and a master degree in business administration
from Macquarie University in Australia in November 2013 and
December 2014, respectively.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEKEREEERE

Mr. Lo worked in Apogee International Limited, a company
principally engaged in the manufacturing of electronic products
and audio and innovative designed items, as a marketing
executive from June 2003 and an assistant marketing manager
from May 2005 to October 2005. He joined the Group as a
marketing executive in February 2006 and the general manager
of the Marketing Division since September 2012, and has been
the director of the Marketing Division since January 2018.

Ms. Wan Mei Wa Ruby (iB % %), aged 37, is the Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary. She is responsible for overall
financial management and company secretarial matters of the
Group. She was appointed as Chief Financial officer with effect
from 1 March 2021.

Ms. Wan obtained a Bachelor of Commerce (Honours) in Accounting
from Hong Kong Shue Yan University (formerly known as Hong
Kong Shue Yan College) in July 2006 and a Master of Corporate
Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2012. She is an Associate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries, and the Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).
Ms. Wan has over 10 years of experience in audit and assurance,
financial management, and corporate governance.

Ms. Wan joined the Group as the Assistant Financial Controller
in March 2015 and the Group Financial Controller since January
2018. She has also taken up the role of Company Secretary of
the Company since 1 January 2019.

Mr. Shahpour Javanmard Emamghissi, aged 64, is the
Director of Project Development and is responsible for business
development in the European market and supervision of the
product designs. He has over 31 years of experience in the
electronic engineering industry and specialises in manufacturing,
quality control and business development management.

Mr. Emamghissi obtained a higher national diploma in electrical
and electronic engineering from Liverpool Polytechnic (now
known as Liverpool John Moores University) in the United
Kingdom for session 1980/1981 and subsequently received
a diploma in electrical and electronic engineering from Leeds
Polytechnic (now known as Leeds Beckett University) in the
United Kingdom in June 1982 and a postgraduate diploma in
manufacturing management and technology from the Open
University in the United Kingdom in July 1997.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

After leaving college, Mr. Emamghissi worked on Automation
projects with Micro Systems Control until January 1984. He
joined Denis Ferranti Group in February 1984 as an Electronics
Engineer. During his 19 years with Ferranti Group, he held
a number of positions (Electronic design and test engineer,
Project and Telecom Engineering Manager). In 2003, he joined
Eaton Electrical Part of Eaton Corporation USA, a manufacturer
of electrical distribution equipment, circuit breakers and safety
products in the United Kingdom as Project/Process Manager.
Between November 2003 to April 2005, he worked as an
engineering project manager in Dolgarrog Aluminium Limited. In
November 2005, he joined Lake Communications Ltd holding
the position of offshore manufacturing and quality manager.
Lake Communications designs and supplies Telecom products
throughout Europe and the US. During the period from December
2011 to December 2015, Mr. Emamghissi worked as a consultant
for Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy, and provided support to the sales
activities in Europe as well as technical support to the customers
therein. He formally joined the Group as the director of project
development in January 2016.

Ms. Wu Mo Man (#5HX), aged 42, is the Director of the
Marketing Division, responsible for the management and
supervision of the Marketing Division.

Ms. Wu obtained a diploma in management in December 2003
from the University of Leicester, and a master degree in business
administration from the University of lowa in May 2019.

She joined the Group in March 2006 as Marketing Executive
and was promoted to Marketing Manager in 2009 until she left
in June 2011. From June 2012 to April 2014, Ms. Wu worked in
Fuji Xerox (H.K.) Limited as sales planning executive and assisted
in pipeline, sales and marketing data analysis and presented the
pre-sale & sales performance. In December 2014, she rejoined
the Group as Marketing Manager and has been the director of
the Marketing Division since January 2019. Ms. Wu has over
18 years of experience in the procurement and supply chain
development in the electrical and mechanical industry, as well as
sales planning and international marketing business development
in the electronics industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Year 2020 was marked as an unprecedentedly challenging time
across the globe. While the impacts arising from US-China
trade tensions and Brexit negotiations towards the Group
remained ongoing, the rapid spread of coronavirus disease
2019 (“COVID-19") in early 2020 aggravated the situation. The
Group experienced a delay in production outputs and product
delivery in the first half of 2020 due to a temporary disruption
of its production facilities in the PRC and global supply chains.
Although the Group’s operations had gradually resumed after
the lifting of local restrictions in the PRC, customer demands
and product launch initiatives were hard hit by the COVID-19
pandemic and the uncertain economic environment. These
resulted in the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December
2020 to have decreased by 13.2% to HK$701.7 million compared
with that of 2019. Profit attributable to owners of the Company
for the year, however, recorded a 29.2% increase to HK$28.9
million compared with the same period of 2019, thanks to the
strict cost control measures taken by the Group, as well as
receipts of various government grants, subsidies and other
concessions under the COVID-19 relief measures.

In these turbulent times of COVID-19 pandemic and global
economic uncertainties, the Group will continue to take a step
forward to sustain its financial performance and business growth,
including but not limited to:

1. maintain robust cash flows and financial management;

2. adopt efficient cost control measures and manage non-
essential expenses;

3. internationalise its talents and presences to capture more
business opportunities;

4.  diversify supply chains and customer bases to minimise the
reliance on a few countries and sectors;
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5.  enhance the level of automation and digitalisation at the
Group’s production bases to enhance production efficiency
and capabilities; and

6.  put more resources on product innovation and development
to strengthen its competitive edge in power electronics
industry.

COVID-19 presents challenges but also opportunities. The
COVID-19 pandemic has transformed the landscape of global
workforce mobility and business activity, which has accelerated
digital transformation and application. The remote/flexible work
arrangements and social distancing measures have stimulated
the global demands on medical and health care products,
automation and self-service equipment, and smart charging
solutions. The Group will continue to equip itself to reinforce core
competencies to seize huge business opportunities.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBEARR DN

5. RAAREELEREMN B RBHLK
¥ MRRAEEMERER &

6. KRHMEZERNEREFLER BARH
RIXEFITENHFES -

COVID-19% 15 7 3 Bk Bk [R) i 7% 4 3 #4608 - s
COVID-19ZEE R BR B TRBMRERE
BN BHNREEERER - B2

WM TR RRH T RER AR RSB
HEERREES AP RADRBENUR
BEFTERRTROBR - AEESRE T
Bl RICBEOBRED  KTHICERANE

;%go

BT CHb)

SY3ATOHIYVHS N0 OL

L

£

Annual Report 2020 3 25

FONVNYIA0D F1vH0dd00

NI 31v40d400

NOILVINHO

SINIWILVLIS TVIONVNIL




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The following table summarises the amount of revenue generated
and as a percentage of total revenue from each product category
for the years ended 31 December 2020 (“FY2020”) and 2019
(“FY2019”):

Bt 75 10

g 75

TREASERIBERBE_ZT_ZTF (=%
“EFMBREE]D) =T -AF ((ZB-h#F
MBFE]) T—A=+T—BLFEMEL K
SRENMEBKEANLL

FY2020 FY2019
—ECEFHHREE —NEHRFE
HK$°000 % HK$’000 %
FAET % FHET %
Electro-mechanical products BWEEM 323,166 46.0 323,513 40.0
Smart chargers BRenE R 173,965 24.8 260,743 32.2
Switch-mode power supplies HEEER 153,430 21.9 185,607 23.0
Smart vending systems BHEBRHR 47,478 6.8 25,939 3.2
Others® H 3,660 0.5 12,797 1.6
Total st 701,699 100.0 808,599 100.0
Note: HieF -

(1) Others include automatic testing equipment (“ATE”), power switch gear
boards, and catering equipment control boards.

The Group recorded a 13.2% decrease in revenue to HK$701.7
million for FY2020 from HK$808.6 million for FY2019, mainly due
to reduced sales orders caused by the outbreak of COVID-19
pandemic and the uncertain economic environment. Revenue
from electro-mechanical products was HK$323.2 million for
FY2020, which approximated to that of 2019. The core driver
for this steady performance came from the continued demands
on professional beauty and animal grooming products amid the
COVID-19 pandemic. There was a 83.0% increase in revenue
from smart vending systems to HK$47.5 million for FY2020
compared with HK$25.9 million for FY2019, which was primarily
driven by growing demands on leisure and entertainment
products.

(1)  EtBEEEERNRE ([BEBERYRLE) TR
FIRRE R R E KR EERIR -

AEER - ZE-_ZFHRFENKZA-_T—
N4 BF B4R [ #9808,600,000/% JT 38 1 13.2%
%£701,700,0008 7 ' TEEHNIHER EF
COVID-19%& 518 8 R & 7B IR SR /) N T M Mk
DB - R_E_EFHRFERAEEESR
Ry Uk 25 323,200,000 7T + B = F— AF A
@AEE - ZiBERBENZOE NIRECOVID-19
HIEREEEEEA RV ERERNFHES
Ko BEEEE R/ mu&#m:i@—nﬂm@
J£ #925,900,000/8 7T1E MN83.0%E — T = FF
81 B F [E #947,500,000/8 7 © £ BT IRE K&
IRELE M F A E L AR o
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The table below summarises the geographical revenue segment
based on location of customers for FY2020 and FY2019:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE D

TEBER T _FTFYBRFER_FT-NF
MBEEREPUEDEMIIEKE D EE

FY2020 FY2019
“ECEZEWREE TE-NFHBRFE
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %
FHET % FET %
Europe(” B 553,381 78.9 592,998 73.3
North America® ibxe 101,590 14.5 139,908 17.3
The PRC (including Hong Kong) RE (BIERE) 30,796 4.4 21,640 2.7
South-east Asia® HEgead 9,763 1.4 32,491 4.0
Others® Hh® 6,169 0.8 21,562 2.7
Total et 701,699 100.0 808,599 100.0
Notes: /}ﬁi{ B

(1) Europe includes Austria, Bulgaria, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece,
Hungary, Ireland, lItaly, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland,
Portugal, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the UK.

2) North America includes the US.
3) South-east Asia includes India, Malaysia, Singapore and the Philippines.

(4) Others include Australia, Israel, Japan, South Korea and Taiwan.

Europe and North America continued to be the Group’s
major markets, which in aggregate accounted for 93.4% and
90.6% of total revenue for FY2020 and FY2019, respectively.
The spread of COVID-19 across Europe, North America, and
South-east Asia along with extended US-China trade tensions
adversely affected the Group’s revenue in these regions.
Revenue from the PRC (including Hong Kong) was HK$30.8
million for FY2020, representing a 42.3% increase compared
with FY2019 due to the rapid recovery of local Chinese market
following the prompt prevention and control of COVID-19
pandemic by the Chinese government and continued product
demands from the underlying end customers.
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ZEHEBRFBE SAFEEZEMEDKE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBENWR DN

Cost of sales

Cost of sales mainly represented direct materials and
consumables, direct labour costs, and manufacturing overheads.
There was a decrease of 15.9% in cost of sales for FY2020
to HK$519.2 million compared with FY2019, thanks to the
depreciation of Renminbi (“RMB”) against other currencies in
early 2020 and the implementation of cost control measures by
the Group. While cost of sales has moved in line with revenue,
incremental costs associated with the COVID-19 pandemic and
the running of production facilities in Thailand and Ireland for part
of the year under review have offset the decrease in cost of sales.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit was HK$182.5 million for FY2020,
reduced by 4.5% from HK$191.1 million for FY2019. The
decrease in gross profit reflected the combined effect of (i)
reduced revenue and additional costs arising from the outbreak
of COVID-19; (ii) weak business sentiments derived from global
geopolitical and economic uncertainties; and (iii) accelerated
costs associated with the expansion of production facilities
in Thailand and Ireland. Despite the outbreak of COVID-19
and deteriorated business and market conditions, gross profit
margin for FY2020 was 26.0%, representing an increase of 2.4
percentage points compared with that of 2019. The improved
gross profit margin was attributable to the decrease in cost of
sales driven by effective cost control measures taken by the
Group and depreciation of RMB in early 2020.

Other income, net

Other income, net went down by 36.5% from HK$5.4 million
for FY2019 to HK$3.4 million for FY2020. The reduction was
primarily attributable to the decrease in scrap material sales
income and loss on foreign exchange, net arising from the
fluctuation of US$ against other currencies in the second half of
2020. The decrease, however, was partly offset by the receipt
of grants from the Chinese government and HKSAR government
and COVID-19 related rent concessions amounting to HK$4.2
million and HK$0.6 million, respectively as part of COVID-19 relief
measures for FY2020.

Selling and distribution expenses

Included in selling and distribution expenses were mainly freight,
insurance and transportation charges, marketing and promotion
expenses, and custom duties and declaration charges. There
was a 40.7% decrease in selling and distribution expenses
to HK$13.1 million for FY2020 compared with FY2019. The
reduction in (i) custom duties and declaration charges following
the slowdown in sales on those products exported to the US;
and (i) trip expenses due to travel restrictions and worldwide
lockdowns during the COVID-19 pandemic contributed to the
decrease in overall selling and distribution expenses.

HERAE
HERATTBIEEEYHMERRER B
BITRAREERAN - AR =_ZT_FFFHA
RE ([AR%]) LEMEEEE  UREAEE
B TR ER  W_E T FVREE
MHERAR T —NEFRFERM15.9%
%£519,200,000/8 7T © & B S A 7~ B U 2 B4 8
— 5 - BN COVID-19% 152 £ FERAR - A
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FWABYE - SRS T HER AT RMIEE -
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&WW%_?_YimﬁiﬁmMDm e
B HER — &5 BB BT ANEBSEBF
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses dropped by 7.9% from HK$132.4 million
for FY2019 to HK$121.9 million for FY2020. Such decrease
mainly resulted from: (i) the implementation of various cost
control measures, including pay and recruitment freezes, strict
control on overtime hours, and close monitoring on discretionary
expenses in response to the tough business environment, and so
on; (i) concession for employers’ contribution to pension funds
as part of COVID-19 relief measures in the PRC; and (iii) reduced
share-based compensation expenses following the cancellation
of outstanding share options on 21 January 2020. The reduction
in administrative expenses, however, was partially offset by
accelerated operating expenses derived from the operation of
production facilities in Thailand and Ireland during FY2020.

Other operating expenses, net

Other operating expenses, net went up by 13.4% from HK$5.9
million for FY2019 to HK$6.7 million for FY2020. The increase
mainly resulted from (i) the rise in impairment loss and write-off of
obsolete inventories; and (i) the absence of reversal of provision
for impairment loss on outstanding balance due from a trade
receivable incurred during FY2019.

Finance expenses, net

The Group recorded a 45.1% decrease in finance expenses, net
from HK$11.8 million for FY2019 to HK$6.5 million for FY2020.
Lower interest expenses and bank charges arising from reduced
average borrowing of the Group and lessened interest rate level
in the financial market during the reporting period contributed to
the reduction in finance expenses, net.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense moved upwards from HK$2.0 million
for FY2019 to HK$8.8 million for FY2020, as (i) the Group’s
overall operating profits for FY2020 has been improved; and
(i) the corporate income tax (“CIT”) rate from one of the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group returned to normal at 25% during
FY2020 following the expiry of “New and High Technology
Enterprise” certificate.

Profit for the year

The Group’s profit for the year increased by 29.2% from HK$22.4
million for FY2019 to HK$28.9 million for FY2020. The net profit
margin has also been improved from 2.8% for FY2019 to 4.1%
for FY2020. The better performance was the combined results
of (i) the implementation of stricter cost control measures in
view of uncertain business environment; and (i) the receipt of
government grants, subsidies and other concessions under
COVID-19 relief measures.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBENWR DN

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During FY2020, the Group’s operation and capital requirements
were financed principally through a combination of cash flows
generated from the operating activities, proceeds from the listing
of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
23 November 2017 (the “Listing”) and bank borrowings. As
at 31 December 2020, the Group had net current assets of
HK$292.3 million (2019: HK$282.3 million), including cash and
bank balances (including restricted bank deposits) of HK$105.4
million (2019: HK$103.9 million). The cash and bank balances
(including restricted bank deposits) are mainly denominated in
HK$, United States dollars (“US$”), RMB, Euros (‘EUR”) and
Thai Baht (“THB”). The Group’s current ratio (as calculated by
current assets divided by current liabilities) remained stable at 2.8
times as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 3.0 times). Gearing ratio
is calculated by net debt divided by total capital as at the end of
the reporting period. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
(including bank borrowings and finance lease payables) less cash
and bank balances, while total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position, plus
net debt, where applicable. As at 31 December 2020, the gearing
ratio was not applicable (“N/A”) to the Group (2019: N/A) as the
Group had sufficient working capital level from the net proceeds
received from the Listing.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks:
(i) market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
fair value interest rate risk), (i) credit risk; and (iii) liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong, the PRC, Thailand
and Ireland. Entities within the Group are exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to HK$, RMB, THB, and EUR. Foreign
exchange risk arises from export sales, purchases, other future
commercial transactions and monetary assets and liabilities that
are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional
currency.
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The management of the Company has set up a policy to require
the Group to manage their foreign exchange risk against its
functional currencies. It manages its foreign currency risk by
closely monitoring the movements of foreign currency rates and
will consider to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to
reduce the exposure should the need arise.

No gain or loss on derivative financial instruments was incurred
during FY2020, whilst a loss of HK$2.2 million was recognised
for the corresponding period in 2019, as the forward foreign
exchange contracts had expired during the year ended 31
December 2019.

As at 31 December 2020, no new forward foreign exchange
contracts had been entered into by the Group (2019: nil).

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates.
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. The Group does not adopt any interest
hedging strategy.

During FY2020 and FY2019, all bank borrowings of the Group
were arranged at floating rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has bank borrowings of
HK$8.8 million (2019: HK$11.9 million), which are primarily
denominated in HK$ and US$.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risks are primarily attributable to financial
instruments, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
trade and other receivables, deposits, time deposit and bank
balances.

In respect of time deposits and bank balances, the credit risk is
considered to be low as the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBENWR DN

The management of the Group makes periodic assessment
on the recoverability of trade and other receivables based on
historical payment records, the length of the overdue period,
the financial strength of the debtors and whether there are any
disputes with the debtors. The Group’s historical experience in
collection of trade and other receivables falls within the recorded
allowances and the management is of the opinion that adequate
provision for uncollectible receivables has been made in the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2020, the customer bases are widely
dispersed despite that 21.2% (2019: 21.4%) of the trade
receivable were due from the Group’s largest customer and
62.4% (2019: 64.8%) were due from the five largest customers
determined on the same basis.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk in relation to financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss. The maximum exposure
at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of these
investments.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of
the Group. Such forecast takes into consideration the Group’s
debt financing plans, covenant compliance and, if applicable
external regulatory or legal requirements — for example, currency
restrictions. The Group maintains liquidity by a number of
sources including orderly realisation of short-term financial assets
and receivables; and long-term financing including long-term
borrowings. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by
keeping sufficient bank balances, committed credit lines available
and interest bearing borrowings which enable the Group to
continue its business in the foreseeable future.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had HK$1.5 million of
capital commitments in relation to the purchase of property, plant
and equipment (2019: nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group
during FY2020. The share capital of the Company only comprises
ordinary shares.
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As at 31 December 2020, the Company had 1,000,000,000
shares in issue (2019: 1,000,000,000 shares).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not hold any significant
investments (2019: nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions nor disposals
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during FY2020
(2019: nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as those disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 13 November 2017 (the “Prospectus”) or otherwise in this
annual report, the Group currently has no other plan for material
investments and capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2020 (2019: nil).

TREASURY MANAGEMENT

During FY2020, there had been no material change in the Group’s
funding and treasury policies. The Group has a sufficient level
of cash and banking facilities for the conduct of its trade in the
normal course of business.

The management of the Group closely reviews trade receivable
balances and any overdue balances on an ongoing basis and
only trade with creditworthy parties. The management of the
Group closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements to manage
liquidity risk.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBENWR DN

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss amounted to HK$8.8 million (2019: HK$8.6
million), property, plant and equipment amounted to HK$21.7
million (2019: HK$24.6 million) and bank deposits amounted
to HK$6.1 million (2019: HK$6.2 million) have been charged as
security for bank borrowings of the Group.

As at 31 December 2020, no property, plant and equipment was
held under finance leases (2019: HK$0.2 million).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The total number of employees were approximately 1,500 as at
31 December 2020 (2019: approximately 1,700). The Group’s
employee benefit expenses mainly included salaries, overtime
payment and discretionary bonus, share options, other staff
benefits and contributions to retirement schemes. For FY2020,
the Group’s total employee benefit expenses (including Directors’
emoluments) amounted to HK$161.5 million (2019: HK$182.7
million).

Remuneration is determined with reference to the qualification,
experience and work performance, whereas the payment of
discretionary bonus is generally subject to work performance,
the financial performance of the Group in that particular year and
general market conditions.

The Group operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible Directors and employees of the Group, who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations. As at 31 December 2020,
the Group did not have any outstanding share options granted
under the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and
adopted in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules by
written resolutions of the then Shareholder on 27 October 2017.
A summary of the Share Option Scheme and the movement
of the share options granted was set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risks of non-compliance with
such requirements. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable enquiries,
the Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in
Hong Kong and the applicable PRC labour laws and regulations
in all material respects during FY2020.

The Group also complies with the requirements under the Listing
Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571
of the laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”) for the disclosure of
information and corporate governance in all material respects.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment
from its business activities. The Group continually seeks to
identify and manage environmental impacts attributable to its
operational activities in order to minimise these impacts if
possible.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises employees as one of the valuable assets
of the Group. The Group strictly complies with the labour laws
and regulations in Hong Kong and other jurisdictions applicable
to the Group and regularly reviews the existing staff benefits for
improvement.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBENWR DN

The Group provides good quality services to customers and
maintains a good relationship with them. The Group is able to
establish trust and long-standing business relationship with its
major customers.

The Group also maintains effective communication and develops
long term and stable relationships with suppliers. During the year
ended 31 December 2020, there was no material dispute nor
disagreement between the Group and its suppliers.

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

The following sets out a comparison of the business strategies
as stated in the Prospectus with the Group’s actual business
progress for FY2020 and up to the date of this annual report:
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Business strategies as stated in the
Prospectus

BIRE R A A T R R

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBEARR DN

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEXFRAMNERXEBER

Continue to expand the customer base in the
European market and explore new markets in the
PRC, the US and other Asian countries

FEBRBNTMESEPEARETRE  XB &
Hi MBEIR AR ™ S

Manufacture products of higher value and/or with
higher profit contribution per the resources

BERTEBERS R,/ LM BERESHNER

With the multiple waves of COVID-19 pandemic
throughout FY2020, regular sales and marketing
activities of the Group were nearly brought to a halt.
Even so, the Group stayed connected with customers
by way of digital and virtual channels to maintain
business growth. During the reporting period, the Group
had re-structured the European team and engaged
independent consultants of diversified technical
expertise and geographical locations to capture
potential customers and markets. Regardless of the
challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic and global
economic turmoil, the Group will continue to put more
resources on sales and marketing activities to explore
new business opportunities.

ST TEMBEERENBIRCOVID-19& B S AL B 5
ERMERLBEDE TS RERSE - BEM - ARE 20
BENBREMEENESREHE  LRAKEEE 2
Ko RN AEESEBNEN  YRESEAR 0
TRBMELMBRIGRLEOB BN - ABREE o2
BE RIS - BECOVID-19B B RS BIBER S 2 .

RERE  AEBDKEERBEZERNEEREHE
B - ARMETEE -

Whilst a number of project developments and product
launches were put on hold due to the multiple waves
of COVID-19 outbreak, the sales, marketing, and
technical executives of the Group kept close contact
with customers and business partners to offer various
supports, including but not limited to production
schedules, product shipment, technical support, etc.
The Group’s sales in North America have been hit by
extended US-China trade tensions. Despite the tough
economic environment, business opportunities still
arise. The COVID-19 pandemic has redefined customer
experience and the demands for medical and healthcare
products, automation and self-service solutions, and
smart charging applications are increasing. The Group
will continue to invest in the development of these
products to capture market trends.

BEBREERACOVID-19ZBEESHE THEREREME
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FERBENAEZEEMUBIETISBE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBENWR DN

Business strategies as stated in the
Prospectus

BB E R A B T R RE

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

HEXFHRAMNEREXLER

Continue to expand the operations in automatic test
equipment (“ATE”) business segment

EEEAEPCRARE (ABLRURE]) %15

Strengthen the sales and marketing efforts in the
industrial electronic manufacturing services sector

MEHTREFRERBRAMNBEERNEHNE

38 TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | 3% T

Customers’ demands on ATEs are diminishing caused by
weak business sentiment. To fully utilise its resources,
the Group re-assigned its ATEs talents to other project
development, product launches, system enhancement,
etc. to strengthen its competitive edge in the power
electronics industry.

EFPHESERARENTRAEMARERMFERD
REASHAEER  AEEEHOREBBCRARZEA
THETHMEARE EnZEMRREAGRTS  AGRE
RENEFITENHRFEY -

The Group reorganised the European team and appointed
new independent consultants equipped with various
expertise in power electronics during FY2020. Not only
do the consultants strengthen and diversify the technical
capability of the Group to serve customers in different
aspects, but also broaden the Group’s sales network
worldwide. The European team and consultants work
closely with other existing marketing teams of the Group
to take part in business development activities and offer
comprehensive service supports to customers.
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Business strategies as stated in the
Prospectus

BIRER AR T R R

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBEARR DN

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

HEXRXFRAMNERXEBER

Further enhance production efficiency and expand
production capacity

E—FREEENE RIBAERE

Continue to recruit talents and professionals

BERBEEATREEAL

The development of the new production base alongside
the existing production complex in Nansha District,
Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC was
behind schedule mainly due to the prolonged epidemic.
While travel restrictions and social distancing measures
imposed by governments around the world are still in
force, the setup at the production facility in Thailand
is ready and is undergoing the trial run stage during
early 2021. The Group’s production facility in Ireland
has commenced operation to cater for sample orders
and certain new projects. The development of these
new production facilities provide the Group with a high
degree of flexibility to serve customers worldwide and
to accommodate mass production on high value and

heavy-duty product series once the global economy 3
rebounds from the COVID-19 pandemic. N %
URFBEREEMNTELIBRAEEERE NEZHHEE §%
HPBEETER TENENEBREERENR B S 2
ERIRE BT BN TR R EBENAE oI
W FEEERBANRELEBRE  LER-T—— ¢
FYEARTRER - AEBREERBNEERBD LHRA 2

WAEE - JENEATERETHIEE - MEZSHAE
ERESASENEEFMREE2KRER - WAIERIRK
ERCOVID-19Z BEER R ETREERENER R
IRt EAEE -

Talent is the key to success for research and development.
The Group strives to transform the strategic talent
centre (“STC”) in the Guangzhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC as the innovation and development
hub to recruit and nurture a pool of talents to conduct
various innovative and technological projects, like
remote working, warehouse digitalisation cyber security,
and so on. As at 31 December 2020, there were nine
employees working at the STC providing a different
kind of value-added services to the Group, such as
software development and upgrades, product and
system innovation, etc. The management of the Group
will continue to recruit talents of necessary level and
number at this STC for providing various supports to
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBENWR DN

USE OF PROCEEDS

On 25 October 2019, the Board resolved to change the use
of the remaining unutilised net proceeds from the Listing (the
“Reallocation”). For details of the Reallocation, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 25 October 2019
(the “Reallocation Announcement”). The following table sets
forth the status of use of net proceeds from the Listing as at
31 December 2020 and the expected timeline of the use of the
unutilised proceeds:

FriERIRAE

R-ZZ-NF+A-THB EFEEHRE
HBRTARBAZ LMAGRBEFEIAE ([E
okl  BREHMOEFE  F2HARXF
HEHA—Z-—NEF+AZTHANAMH ([EH
SEWAM]) o TRINE ETAERBFER =
TEFT_A=T—HNERABARAYA
PSR ARG FEHR A X

Expected
timeline of
full utilisation
of the balance
The actual Incurred as at
The actual net proceeds up to 31 December
net proceeds subsequent 31 December Balance as at 2020
prior to the to the 2020 31 December R-BZ5f
Reallocation Reallocation Bz 2020 tT=A=t-H
Business strategies as REH 2 EA The REHZEHE —B-FF H-B-FE Eo3 i
set out in the Prospectus EMFE Reallocation BBFAS t=A=+t-B tZA=t-H SRmES
RRERFBHXBRE HEFH ENOR REFHE EEA &8 RER
HK$’ million ~ HKS’ million ~ HK$’ million ~ HK$’ million  HK$’ million
BEET BEET FEET BEET FEET
Development of new production base 7738 = 778 (29.4) 48.4 end of 2023
BEMEESMH ZEIZER
Upgrading of existing production facilities 4.5 = 4.5 (4.3) 0.2 end of 2021
RARBEER ZEZ-ER
Establishment of offices in Dublin, Ireland and

Paris, France 1.3 (8.3) 3.0 (3.0) - N/A
EERRBORRAEERE YR SR A
Establishment of the STC in Guangzhou City,

Guangdong Province, the PRC 1.3 (5.0) 6.3 4.9) 1.4 end of 2022
EREERERINTRIERAL R “E-CER%
Working capital and other general corporate

purposes 5.1 = 5.1 5.1) = N/A
EERERHM-REERE TR
Business developments and operations in Europe - 13.3 13.3 (6.0) 7.3 end of 2022
ERMETEBRERRZE “ECCER

110.0 - 110.0 (52.7) 57.3
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The unutilised net proceeds have been deposited in interest
bearing bank accounts with licensed banks in Hong Kong. The
Board closely monitors the use of net proceeds with reference
to those disclosed in the Prospectus and the Reallocation
Announcement. Due to the uncertain economic and market
conditions, driven by the outbreak of COVID-19 and worsening
US-China relations, the Group’s plans for the development of
new production base in the PRC and business developments
and operations in Europe have been deferred. The remaining
portion of the net proceeds are expected to be utilised up to the
financial year ending 31 December 2023. The expected timeline
of full utilisation is based on the Directors’ best estimation barring
unforeseen circumstances, and would be subject to change
based on the future development of market conditions.

RESPONSE TO COVID-19

COVID-19 has spread across the globe since early 2020 and
governments around the world have been at the frontline of
managing the COVID-19 health crisis. With worldwide lockdowns
and strong containment measures, the Group experienced
a temporary disruption of production outputs and product
delivery in the first quarter of 2021 which had adversely affected
the financial performance for FY2020. Regardless of these
difficult times, staff members of the Group remain committed to
supporting customers, suppliers, and business partners while
staying healthy and safe.

Immediately after the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group put
in place various measures to reduce the risk of COVID-19
transmission in the workplace, including but not limited to the
implementation of remote and/or flexible work arrangements,
intensified cleaning and disinfection, provision of personal
protective equipment, etc. In the production base in the PRC,
the Group formed a steering committee to navigate the COVID-19
prevention and control measures. The committee took a number
of measures to comply with disease prevention and control
requirements imposed by the Chinese government and facilitate
the resumption of production following the spread of COVID-19,
such as implementation of health declaration measures in the
workplace, promotion of personal and environmental hygiene,
mandatory body temperature checking for every visitor and
employee, and so on.

Although the health crisis of COVID-19 is still ongoing, the
management of the Group would like to express gratitude to
their colleagues for their hard work, great support, resilience
to adversity and their dedication to the Group’s customer amid
these challenging times.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBENWR DN

OUTLOOK

The global economic turmoil brought by the multiple waves of
COVID-19 outbreak has been devastating. The impacts caused
by the pandemic have not only affected individuals, but also
businesses, societies, and the world as a whole. It is difficult to
estimate when the pandemic will end and global economy will
recover despite the COVID-19 vaccines have been launched for
widespread injection.

In the past few decades, the Group has faced and overcome
many challenges, turning crises into opportunities, and thereby
has developed its solid foundation in the power electronics
industry. The only constant in life is change. The increased
popularity of personal and public health awareness, remote/
flexible work arrangements, and new energy vehicles have
accelerated global demands on medical and healthcare products,
automation and self-service equipment, and smart charging
solutions. The Group will leverage its technical expertise and
capability to explore business opportunities of such demands.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company’s corporate governance code is based on the
principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company
is committed to ensuring a quality board and transparency and
accountability to Shareholders.

The Company complied with all code provisions in the CG Code
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Board has reserved for its decision and consideration
in relation to (i) formulating the strategic objectives of the
Group; (ii) considering and deciding the Group’s significant
operational and financial matters, including but not limited
to substantial mergers and acquisitions and disposals; (iii)
overseeing the Group’s corporate governance practices; (iv)
ensuring effective risk management and internal control systems
in place; (v) directing and monitoring senior management in
pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives; and (vi) determining
the remuneration packages of all Directors and the Group’s
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments for loss or termination of their office
or appointment. Implementation and execution of Board policies
and strategies and the daily administrative matters are delegated
to the respective Board committees and the management team
of the Company.

AN\ e s o
TRERME

ARBZ EEERTRTIZ LT R A&+
rEvReE ATl ([REXERTA 2RA
RN e ARRBNBRSEENES S MEH
B YERRREER -

ARFARBE-E-BF+-A=t—ALF
EEBTHRACEEATAZ TS -

EZeREUTEERHEREREE - ()HlE
AEENRBERR (BB IMREAEEDN
ERZENRVBEE  BRETRREKRAH
Tl R EEE : (BERASENCEER
AR (VBRRREBRERE SRR ABPEE
B (WEERERERREEBERAEENRK
AR RVIBE2RBEZERAEESNERE
BOHMEE  BREYNE  RRSENK
BANKIBBAEENBE EFSHERK
REEABTHEBNETRRTRBEES
SLZEGRARRIEEEEKAS -

-

o
o
el |
e
&

]

o 0

IS %

o)
) \
=Z ,
|
‘I
z

SY3IATOHIYVHS N0 OL

FONVNYIA0D F1vH0d400

SINIWILVLIS TVIONVNIL

Annual Report 2020 €3 4.3



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERER®RE

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings in a
year and additional meetings will be held or resolutions in writing
signed by all Directors in lieu of a meeting will be arranged as and
when required. If a substantial shareholder of the Company or a
Director has a conflict of interest in a transaction which the Board
determines to be material, it will be considered and dealt with by
the Board at a duly convened Board meeting. Comprehensive
information on matters to be discussed at the Board meeting
will be supplied to the Directors in a timely manner to facilitate
discussion and decision making.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

At the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. The name and office of each of the members of the
Board and the Board committees of the Company are as follows:

EXZgEFRLEANREREZTEEHS I
REBEERFRTRIEZIAERBESTRENS
HRZRABEBTER - WEFERR/AQA
MEBRRAEEN AR ZPHREKF =@
R AEARZIEREABRNEZEER
HEFGERNERE - AKEERREERH
BREZSEABANEEZIZEEN - B
A SRS o

EEg A

RAFHREY EEZER=-BRTESTR=4F
BUYFRTESEAK - ARAEFENERZE
ek B cua MBIT -

Board members Office

EEgHEB B4z

Lai Yiu Wah Chairman and Executive Director

B TREERATES

Tai Leung Lam Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director and Director of Manufacturing
R TR  WTEEREELER

Joseph Mac Carthy
Joseph Mac Carthy
Georges René Gener*
Georges René Gener*

HITEERHERRMEE

WITEZERENEELRE

Executive Director and Head of Sales and Technical

Executive Director and Chairman of European Operations

Fung Chun Chung

Independent Non-executive Director

ototes BIULIEMITES
Cheung Kin Wing Independent Non-executive Director
SRR BUEMITES
Wong Raymond Fook Lam  Independent Non-executive Director
=RER BN IEMITESF

*

Resigned with effect from 15 February 2020
B-Z-TH- A+HAA®RET

41/ TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | 2 T ¥ EF£@MAR AT



AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Cheung Kin Wing (Chairman)
Fung Chun Chung
Wong Raymond Fook Lam

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Chairman)

Lai Yiu Wah

Fung Chun Chung

Cheung Kin Wing

NOMINATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Fung Chun Chung (Chairman)
Lai Yiu Wah
Wong Raymond Fook Lam

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Lai Yiu Wah (Chairman)
Cheung Kin Wing

Fung Chun Chung

Wong Raymond Fook Lam

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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All of the existing Executive Directors have signed a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years,
commencing from 10 February 2017 (subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service
contract). The said service contracts have been renewed for
a term of three years commencing from 1 February 2020. Mr.
Georges René Gener has signed a service contract with the
Company for a term of no more than three years commencing
on 2 November 2018 and expiring at the conclusion of an annual
general meeting (“AGM”) to be held in the third year following the
year of his appointment. Mr. Gener resigned from his positions
with effect from 15 February 2020.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three
years, commencing from 1 February 2017 (subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letter of
appointment). The said letters of appointment have been renewed
for a term of three years commencing from 1 February 2020.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”).

The Board composition is regularly reviewed to ensure that it has a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements
of the business of the Group. A balanced composition of
Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors is
maintained to ensure independence and effective management.
The Company has satisfied the relevant provision of the Listing
Rules in having at least one of the Independent Non-executive
Directors with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. There is
no relationship among the members of the Board.

The appointment of Directors is recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee and
approved by the Board based on a formal written procedure
and policy for the appointment of new Directors. When selecting
potential candidates for the Directors, their skills, experience,
expertise, devotion of time and non-conflicts of interests are the
key factors.

The daily operation and management of the business of the
Group, among other matters, the implementation of strategies,
are delegated to the Executive Directors and senior management.
They report periodically to the Board on their work and business
decisions.
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All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters
proposed for inclusion in the agenda for regular meetings.
The chairman of the Board has delegated the responsibility for
drawing up the agenda for each Board meeting to the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”).

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the chairman of
the Board seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues arising at the Board meetings and have received
adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.

Notices of at least 14 days are given to the Directors for regular
meetings, while the Board papers are sent to the Directors not
less than three days before the intended date of a Board or Board
committee meeting. With respect to other meetings, the Directors
are given as much notice as is reasonable and practicable in the
circumstances. The Directors can attend meetings in person or
through other means of electronic communication in accordance
with the Articles. The Company Secretary ensures that the
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are complied
with. Minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the Board
committees are kept by the Company Secretary and are available
for inspection at any time on reasonable notice by any Directors.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever they
deem necessary. The Directors will be updated with legal and
regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the Directors in
the discharge of their duties from time to time.

Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors or members of
the relevant Board committees for comment within a reasonable
time after each meeting.

Any material transaction, which involves a conflict of interests
between a substantial shareholder or a Director and the
Company, will be considered and dealt with by the Board
at a duly convened Board meeting with the presence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors. Directors are abstained
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.
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The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.

RESPONSIBILITIES

In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors act in
good faith, with due diligence and care, and in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders. Their responsibilities
include (i) regular board meetings focusing on business strategy,
operational issues and financial performance; (i) monitoring
the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of internal and
external reporting; (i) monitoring and managing potential conflicts
of interest of management, board members and shareholders,
including misuse of corporate assets and abuse in connected
transaction; and (iv) ensuring processes are in place to
maintain the overall integrity of the Company, including financial
statements, relationships with suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders, and compliance with all laws and ethics.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors’ responsibilities for the consolidated financial
statements are set out on page 160 of this annual report.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development
of the Company and also to enhance the quality of performance
of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises six
Directors. Three of the Directors are Independent Non-executive
Directors and are independent of the management, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management process.
The Board is also characterised by significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of professional background and skills.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, nine Board meetings
were held to review and approve, among other things, (i) the
financial results for the year ended 31 December 2019; (ii) the
interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2020; (iii)
business progress, operation updates, and quarterly results; (iv)
publication of profit warning and alert announcements. The Board
also held a Board meeting on 25 March 2021 to approve the
annual results of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2020. One AGM was held during the year ended 31 December
2020.
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Details of the Directors’ attendance records in Board meetings and
general meetings during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set
out below:

Name of Directors

ESHR

HE—ZT-_TF+_A=+-BLFE EZ
REE SR RRRAS &30 F RS
LN

No. of Board
meetings attended/
eligible to attend
HE S RERUEE
E=ggli¥

No. of general
meetings attended/
eligible to attend
HE BERLEE
BREAESBRE

Executive Directors
HITEE

Lai Yiu Wah

R

Tai Leung Lam

R A

Joseph Mac Carthy
Joseph Mac Carthy
Georges René Gener*
Georges René Gener*

Independent non-executive Directors
BULIHTEF

Fung Chun Chung

G

Cheung Kin Wing

SRR

Wong Raymond Fook Lam

B

* Resigned with effect from 15 February 2020
AT -THE - A+HE®RET

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has established four committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and Risk Management Committee. Specific responsibilities of each
committee are described below. All committees have defined terms
of reference which are no less exacting than those set out in the
CG Code.

9/9 1/1

9/9 1/1

9/9 1/1

1/9 N/A i

9/9 1/1

9/9 1/1

9/9 1/1

ETERE
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SemARBEN TXFil - TEZREEHF]
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JASTRIFTEE -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 27 October 2017 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph C3 and paragraph D3 of the CG
Code. The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr. Wong
Raymond Fook Lam. The chairman of the Audit Committee is
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are not
limited to, the following: () making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and removal of the external auditor;
(i) reviewing the financial statements of the Group and monitoring
the integrity of such financial statements; and (i) overseeing the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures and
the Group’s internal audit function.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, three Audit Committee
meetings were held, during which the Audit Committee reviewed
and discussed (i) the independence and objectivity of independent
auditor and its engagement; (ii) the audited financial statement
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019; (iii) the
internal control and risk management report of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2019; (iv) the unaudited interim
financial statement of the Group for the six months ended 30
June 2020; and (v) the re-appointment of the independent
auditor of the Group. An Audit Committee meeting was also held
on 25 March 2021 with all the members present to review and
consider, inter alia, the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the re-appointment
of independent auditor of the Group. There was no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection and
appointment of the external auditor.
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Attendance at meetings of the Audit Committee during the year B ZEgg€ZNEEZ T -_TF+_-_A=+
ended 31 December 2020 is as follows: —H JJ:iEE’JtHT‘%EﬁZZDT :

No. of

meetings attended/

Name of Directors eligible to attend

HE S EER

BEEHR HESBRE

Cheung Kin Wing 3/3
ERELS

Fung Chun Chung 3/3
R

Wong Raymond Fook Lam 3/3
EE

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ENEBeLENARATINEBE S —S£+

ended 31 December 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee considered that the relevant
financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the
applicable accounting principles and requirements of the Stock
Exchange and disclosures have been fully made.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B1 of the CG
Code on 27 October 2017. As at 31 December 2020 and date
of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
four members, namely, Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam, Mr. Lai
Yiu Wah, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr. Cheung Kin Wing. The
chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Wong Raymond
Fook Lam.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but
are not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the policy and structure for the remuneration of all the
Directors and senior management; (ii) making recommendations
to the Board on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy; (iii) determining
the specific remuneration packages of all Directors and senior
management; and (iv) reviewing and approving the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, two Remuneration
Committee meetings were held to (i) review the remuneration
of Directors and senior management; and (ii) consider the new
service contracts and letters of appointment for Directors.
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Attendance at meetings of the Remuneration Committee during
the year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows:

Name of Directors

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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FMEEgERNEE_S_SF+ A=+
—HIEFEMHELENT

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HE S AEK
EEpnE HESERE
Wong Raymond Fook Lam 2/2
HIBRR
Lai Yiu Wah 2/2
Fung Chun Chung 2/2
T
Cheung Kin Wing 2/2
SRIELR

Details of the directors’ remuneration and five highest paid
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the remuneration of
the senior management is listed below by band:

BE_Z_ZHF+_A=+—-BHUHFE EF
FORSESHEMALOFE  EREAH
AR EEQ -

BE_Z_ZF+_A=+—HILFE 5k
EEEFHIRBERIOT

Number of

individuals

AE

HK$ nil to HK$1,000,000 1
Z L% 1,000,000/ 7T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 4

1,000,001 7T % 1,600,000/ 7T

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with paragraph A5 of the CG Code on 27
October 2017. As at 31 December 2020 and date of this annual
report, the Nomination Committee comprises three members,
namely Mr. Lai Yiu Wah, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr. Wong
Raymond Fook Lam. The chairman of the Nomination Committee
is Mr. Fung Chun Chung.
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The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include, but
are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the structure, size
and composition of the Board; (ii) assessing the independence
of the Independent Non-executive Directors; and (iii) making
recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, one Nomination
Committee meeting was held to (i) review the structure, size,
diversity and composition of the Board are appropriate; (ii) assess
the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors; and
(i) recommend the re-election of Directors.

Attendance at meeting of the Nomination Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows:

Name of Directors

REZESHNTERERTE (BTRRY) LTE
H (VR EESRE  BERARK  ()FHEB
SNIFMITEENB M MV ETRETE
TESRESHIAENESSELEBES

REBEE_T-_TF+_A=+—BLEFER "
REZBEET - REeFARNEFEINHR
B BRE ZTARERRTBEE (i)
BIUFATESHBUM  M)ZREEES -

REZEEEFNEE_T_TF+_A=+
—HIEFENHFLENT

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HE S EERK
EEnA HESBAH
Fung Chun Chung 11
IS
Lai Yiu Wah 11
pdr
Wong Raymond Fook Lam 1/1
R R

The Nomination Committee has reviewed annually the Board
composition by considering the benefits of all aspects of diversity,
including but not limited to those described under the heading of
Board Diversity Policy in this annual report. The Board Diversity
Policy shall be reviewed by the Nomination Committee, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

RAZBEEEBERZ TS EHMNES -
BFRIEFENAN  BREETRRAFR
E=Z@ZU(cBERBETMLE - EFEEZ L
BERBRREEZE RN (RTBER) - LER
HBR -
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The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of factors
in making nominations, including but not limited to the following:

Skills, Experience and Professional Expertise

The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge,
experience and professional expertise which are relevant
to the operations of the Group.

Diversity

Candidates should be considered on merit and against
objective criteria, with due regard to the diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company.

Commitment

The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time to
attend the board meetings and participate in induction,
training and other board associated activities. In particular,
if the proposed candidate will be nominated as an
Independent Non-Executive Director and will be holding
his/her seventh (or more) listed company directorship, the
Nomination Committee should consider the reason given
by the candidate for being able to devote sufficient time to
the Board and committee meetings.

Standing

The candidate must satisfy the Board and the Stock
Exchange that he/she has the character, experience
and integrity, and is able to demonstrate a standard of
competence commensurate with the relevant position as a
director of the Company.

Independence

The candidate to be nominated as an Independent Non-
Executive Director must satisfy the independence criteria
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Where applicable,
the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications and
experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he
or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise for
filling the office of an Independent Non-Executive Director.
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee was established on 27 October
2017 to review and monitor the risk management system and
oversee the hedge activities of the Group. As at 31 December
2020 and date of this annual report, the Risk Management
Committee comprises four members, namely Mr. Lai Yiu Wah, Mr.
Cheung Kin Wing, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr. Wong Raymond
Fook Lam. The chairman of the Risk Management Committee is
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah.

The primary functions of the Risk Management Committee
include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the
risk management system of the Group and ensure that the
management has performed its duties to establish an effective
risk management system; (i) formulating risk policies and
standards; (iii) reviewing the material risk exposures of the
Group; (iv) reviewing annually the changes in nature and extent
of significant risks; (v) reviewing annually the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of risk management systems
and the work of the Group’s internal audit function; (vi) reviewing
the Directors’ decisions on entering into hedge arrangements; (vii)
reviewing the effectiveness of the hedge policy; and (viii) providing
recommendations to the Board on improving the hedge policy,
where appropriate and if necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, one Risk Management
Committee meeting was held to review the risk management
system of the Group and the Directors’ decision on entering into
foreign currency hedging arrangements and the effectiveness of
the Group’s hedging policy.

Name of Directors

EREEEES
RREEZEEN _T—tFtA-TEEX
Vo NEERERRAREERBRAUMEEBAR

.iT/‘:F/E@ F—g—g¢+—ﬂl+*5&
$¢F£¥&%E,ﬁﬂ REREREZEGBENANK
C ENERMREES A REBERSE A BEPELE

&E%ﬁ%‘ﬁi cEBREEZEENTERRE
ST o

REBEZEEMEIZREEE (BETRR) K
T%Eﬁ-()ﬁ HAEENRRERERS - WiE
REEECBITHEBEARLARNER EIE
& (D)HIET R B ER AR ZE ¢ (i) 5T AN E
A mEZRER : (vVEFRFEKRRERAE
E&T%f“k VEFRITEERBIFELERE
BMEBRGEAEBENBEZBE T ENESE

NEER: (VRN ESHET L E R HEATERR
T (ViR TP BER A MM R(INEREE
ERATNMEGZENRIRSEARERRESSR
B EE -

RBE_Z_FTF+_A=t—HLFER"
RREREZE@RT RS URILEE
M E RS E R R E SR ML INE SR PR
YRR TE PA R AN SR B SR BRI B 3 -

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HE BERK
EEpE HESBRE
Lai Yiu Wah 1/1
Cheung Kin Wing 1/1
SRIE R
Fung Chun Chung 1/1
S
Wong Raymond Fook Lam 11
=E®
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of
conduct governing Directors’ securities transactions. All Directors
have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that
they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code and there were no events of non-compliance during
the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this
annual report.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. All
newly appointed Director will receive training from the legal adviser
of the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed
company in Hong Kong. The Directors are continually updated
with business and market changes, and legal and regulatory
developments to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities
through various Board meetings, resolutions, memoranda, Board
papers, and updates on corporate governance practices and
director’s responsibilities under the Listing Rules, applicable laws
and other relevant statutory requirements. The Company has
arranged the legal adviser to provide a training to all Directors on
continuous professional development for directors.
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Up to date of this annual report, the current Board members have
participated in the following training programs:

BEEAFRAY REBFEHEETL2MAT

BEFIERIE

Types of training
1% 318 5B

Reading materials

Attending training updating on
organised by legal new rules and
Name of Directors adviser regulations
i B A R R R HEARFTRAR
EEpnA T HER I BB 2 EH#
Executive Directors
HITEE
Lai Yiu Wah v v
R
Tai Leung Lam v v
R
Joseph Mac Carthy v v
Joseph Mac Carthy
Georges René Gener* N/A i N/A i F
Georges René Gener~
Independent non-executive Directors
BUHNTEF
Fung Chun Chung v v
IS
Cheung Kin Wing v v
R
Wong Raymond Fook Lam v v
=R
* Resigned with effect from 15 February 2020
B-Z-F - A+RAEEHE
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE EEREABERR
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Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities
have been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the
Group from their risk exposure arising from the business of the
Group and, as at the date of this annual report, the Directors and
officers of the Company are indemnified under a directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance against any liability incurred by them
in discharge of their duties while holding office as the Directors
and officers of the Company. The Directors and officers of the
Company shall not be indemnified where there is any fraud,
breach of duty or breach of trust proven against them.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is to ensure a good information flow
within the Board and between the Board and senior management
of the Company, to provide advice to the Board in relation to
the Directors’ obligations under the Listing Rules and applicable
laws and regulations and to assist the Board in implementing
the corporate governance practices. Ms. Wan Mei Wa Ruby,
the Company Secretary, had attended not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2020.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Risk Management Committee and Audit Committee assist
the Board in leading the management and overseeing their
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems.

Principles of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The principal aim of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems is to manage and mitigate business risks, with
a view to enhancing the value of shareholders’ investments and
safeguarding assets.
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Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to
keep track of and document identified risks, the assessment and
evaluation of risks, the development and continuous updating of
responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of internal control
procedures to ensure their effectiveness. A risk matrix is also
adopted to determine risk ratings after evaluation of the risk by
the likelihood and the impact of the risk event. The risk ratings
reflect the level of management’s attention and risk treatment
effort required.

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant
Risk

All divisions/departments conducted internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business
of the Group and various aspects including key operational
and financial processes, regulatory compliance and information
security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm
that control policies are properly complied with by each division/
department. The management assessed the likelihood of risk
occurrence, provide treatment plans, and monitor the risk
management progress, and reported to the Board on all findings
and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board, the Risk
Management Committee, and Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Internal Audit Function

The Board, through the Risk Management Committee and
Audit Committee, conducted an annual review of design,
implementation, and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, which covered all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls. Such annual review was done with a view to ensuring
that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
control and financial reporting functions are adequate. In this
respect, the Risk Management Committee and Audit Committee
communicated any material issues to the Board.

The Group’s internal audit team is responsible for performing
an independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
The internal audit team examined key issues in relation to the
accounting practices and all material controls and the results
of the independent review and assessment were reported to
the Risk Management Committee, Audit Committee, and the
Board. Moreover, improvements in internal control and risk
management measures to enhance the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and to mitigate risks of the
Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the internal audit
findings and recommendations, as well as the comments of the
Risk Management Committee and Audit Committee, the Board
considered the internal control and risk management systems
are adequate and effective.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with the requirements under the Listing
Rules and SFO to disclose inside information to the public as
soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls
within any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public.
The Group is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcements are not false or misleading as to a material fact,
or false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in
view of disclosure of inside information in a balanced, adequate
and effective way. The procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information are as follows:
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° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules, the
Guideline on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission and its own policy;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed events or
matters on fair disclosure by non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

° the Group has established procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs so that only
the Executive Directors, Company Secretary and other
person duly authorised by the Board are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Company has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as
the Auditor of the Group. For the year ended 31 December
2020, PricewaterhouseCoopers charged HK$1.68 million
for audit services. Non-audit services provided to the Group
mainly represented interim review and taxation services
provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers and its affiliates was
HK$0.56 million in aggregate. The reporting responsibilities of
PricewaterhouseCoopers are set out in pages 161 to 163 of this
annual report.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditor during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with its
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable the shareholders and investors to make the
best investment decisions.

The disclosure of the Group’s information in a reasonable and
timely manner by the Board is to facilitate the shareholders
as well as the investors to have a better understanding of the
business performance, operations and strategies of the Group.
The Company’s website at www.trio-ieg.com allows the potential
and existing investors as well as the public to get access to
and acquire the Company’s up-to-date corporate and financial
information.

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone hotline, email address and postal address, in
order to enable them to make any query that they may have with
respect to the Company.

They can also send their enquiries to the Board through the
above means. The contact details of the Company are set out in
page 64 of this annual report and the Company’s website.

The Board welcomes views of the shareholders and encourages
them to attend general meetings to raise any concerns that they
may have with the Board or the management directly. Board
members and appropriate senior staff of the Group are available
at the meetings to answer any questions raised by shareholders.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE GENERAL MEETING

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors,
for shareholders’ consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant
to article 68(c) of the Articles, the Directors may, whenever they
think fit, convene a general meeting, and general meetings shall
also be convened on such requisition, or in default, may be
convened by such requisitionists, as provided by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, the laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”). If any time there are not within Hong
Kong sufficient Directors capable of acting to form a quorum,
any Director or any two or more members of the Company
representing at least 10% of the total voting rights of all members
having a right to vote at general meetings, may convene a general
meeting in the same manner as nearly as possible, as that in
which meetings may be convened by the Directors.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company or put
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. The contact
details are as follows:

Board of Directors
Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited
Address: Block J, 5/F, Phase Il, Kaiser Estate,
51 Man Yue Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Telephone hotline: 2765 8787
Email address: rubywan@trio-ieg.com

To put forward proposals at an AGM or a general meeting, the
shareholders shall submit a written notice of those proposals with
detailed contact information to the Board/Company Secretary at
the Company’s registered office.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to include the
proposed resolution in the agenda for the general meeting.
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Moreover, the notice period concerning the notice to be given to
all the shareholders for consideration of the proposals submitted
by the shareholders concerned varies as follows pursuant to
article 70 of the Articles and subject to section 578 of the
Companies Ordinance.

(@) for an AGM, it shall be called by notice in writing of at least
twenty-one clear days (or such longer period as may be
required by the Listing Rules); and

(b)  for a general meeting other than an AGM, it shall be called
by notice in writing of least fourteen clear days (or such
longer period as may be required by the Listing Rules),

shall be given in the manner mentioned in the Articles to all
members, to the Directors and to the Auditors.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the Company’s
registered office and provide their full names, contact details
and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change on the articles of association of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2020. An up-to-date version
of the articles of association of the Company is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

The Board is pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding and the activities of its
principal subsidiaries are shown on pages 229 to 230 of this
annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 164
to 167 of this annual report.

An interim dividend of HK0.8 cent (2019: HKO.8 cent) per ordinary
share totalling HK$8,000,000 was paid to the shareholders on
22 October 2020.

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK1.2 cents per
ordinary share of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2020 (2019: HKO0.8 cent) to the Shareholders. The proposed final
dividend, subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM
to be held on Monday, 24 May 2021, is expected to be paid on
Monday, 5 July 2021 to all Shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday, 16
June 2021.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM to
be held on Monday, 24 May 2021, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 17 May 2021 to Monday,
24 May 2021, both days inclusive, during which no transfer of
Shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 14 May 2021.

In order to ascertain the entitlement to the final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
11 June 2021 to Wednesday, 16 June 2021, both days inclusive.
In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday,
10 June 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during
the year ended 31 December 2020, the key factors affecting
its results and financial position, and the information on the
compliance with laws and regulations, environmental policy and
relationships with stakeholders are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
Furthermore, a fair review of, and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, since the end of the year ended
31 December 2020, no important event affecting the Group has
occurred.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The recent outbreak of COVID-19 has caused adverse
impact on the Group’s sales, raw materials supply and
production.

The crisis brought by COVID-19 has created unprecedented
uncertainties to the global economy in 2020. In particular for
the EMS industry, the deceleration in manufacturing of core raw
materials is causing disruption to the entire supply chain and the
product delivery schedules among the electronic manufacturers.
In the first quarter of 2020, the Group’s production schedules in
the PRC were largely affected by the extended Lunar New Year
holidays and transport disruptions.

The Group’s existing customers stay prudent on project
developments and slow down their orders. Potential customers
are also vigilant on new projects and new orders. If the virus
outbreak is not under control in the near future, it is yet
unpredictable the extent of the impact on the Group’s business
in the medium and long term.

The five largest customers accounted for more than 60.0%
of the total revenue. Any loss of the major customers or any
request for price reduction may materially and adversely
affect our business performance and financial condition.

Since (i) the Group does not enter into long-term sale and
purchase agreements with the customers and does not have
long-term purchase commitment from them; and (ii) the Group
is not their exclusive supplier, there is no assurance that the
five largest customers will continue to purchase the products at
current levels or at all in the future. If the prices of the products
are not as competitive as those set by the competitors for
comparable products or if the quality of the products does
not meet the customers’ expectations or requirements, the
customers may reduce their purchase volume or may not make
purchases from the Group. If any of the five largest customers
significantly reduces its purchase volume or ceases to place
purchase orders with the Group, and the Group is unable
to identify new customers, the business performance, results
of operations and financial condition may be materially and
adversely affected.
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In addition, there is no assurance that the major customers will
not negotiate for a reduction in the price of the products in the
future. In order to maintain business relationships with them, the
Group may have to offer a more competitive price to them. If
the Group is unable to reduce the production cost accordingly
in order to maintain the profit margins, the profitability, results
of operations and financial condition may be materially and
adversely affected.

Fluctuations in the prices of raw materials may affect the
cost of sales and adversely affect our business operations
and profitability.

The major raw materials include integrated circuits, metal parts,
plastic parts, printed circuit board components, capacitors,
connectors, transistors, cables and cores. The prices of the
raw materials generally follow their respective price trends in the
market and vary with industry conditions and market supply and
demand.

Since the Group does not enter into long-term supply contracts
with the suppliers, there is no assurance that the suppliers will
not significantly increase the prices of raw materials in the future,
in particular when the market prices of or the market demand
for such raw materials increase. There is also no assurance that
the Group will be able to pass the increase in the costs of raw
materials to the customers in a timely manner or at all to avoid
adverse impacts on the profitability. If, in the event of material
fluctuations in raw material prices, the customers do not agree
to a price adjustment or the Group cannot pass the increase in
the cost of raw materials to them in a timely manner or at all, the
profitability, financial condition and results of operations may be
materially and adversely affected.

Any slowdown of the industrial electronics industry may
materially and adversely affect our results of operations,
financial condition and business prospects.

As an EMS provider specialising in the manufacturing and sales
of customised industrial electronic components and products,
our business performance depends, to a large extent, on the
performance and condition of the industrial electronics industry.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEgRE

o MAREIBREP AR T ERBEER
ERETER [SBEFBERSNEBFHRE X
SEREZRARFREEABF HHNER © i
REEEEREMBEEERAE - LAERFE
T AIAKENEFED  KEXERMBEN
MAREEXBNBEBATFEE -

EHRERRDAEUHERTENTERY
EBEERBFENERTAEE -

EEEMHOERREE  SBE 2B
# MREERTN BEXE EEE S

CERRED « BRI REEE— RS A
B EIEES - TR AR TS
R -

HRASEYERGERILRARESL
WAEEREHREDHRTIEAERS RV HE
% BRIREEERMBENTEXRTSHER LT
B o MR B N 52 B RE B B A IR A R AR R
EETEPIEES2BETEP LY
BNBENERTNEE - WMRMHERHRE
KE®  BEFARBERAMABRLAKER
BEER KRB RA LREE T EPHARA
ERcBETER  AAXAKENANED ¥
BRAREEREREXBNEANNTE -

ITXEFTENEAREIEHREENEE
e UBRAREBNRERENTFTE -

ERBEMRERHEEN IXETFTTHRESD
METHRERBHEER  AEENEHRRR
RIZE EBURR TEEFITENRR MR

Annual Report 2020 €3 Q9

FONVNYIA0D F1vH0d400




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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The industrial electronics industry may experience slowdown or
downturn due to market or industry conditions, global economic
environment or other factors beyond control. Any decrease in the
demand for industrial electronics equipment such as renewable
energy facilities, telecommunications equipment, commercial
freight equipment, medical and healthcare devices, and security
systems may reduce the demand for our OEM products. In
such circumstances, the sales may decline and the results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be
materially and adversely affected.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks.

The major functional currency is US$, while some of the business
transactions and the cost of sales are mainly denominated HK$,
RMB, THB, and EUR. The Group is exposed to foreign currency
risks as a result of sales and purchases that are denominated
in a currency other than US$. Any significant changes in the
exchange rate between US$ and other currencies may result in
substantial loss for the Group and the financial condition and
results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

Failure to retain the services of key personnel may
adversely affect the results of operations.

The success to date has largely been attributable to the
contributions, commitment and experience of the management
team and key employees, in particular their familiarity with the
business operations and their experience and expertise in the
industrial EMS industry. Some of our Executive Directors have
more than 30 years of experience in the electronics industry.
In particular, Mr. Tai Leung Lam and Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy,
the Executive Directors, have more than 45 and 20 years of
experience in the electronics industry, respectively. The continued
success is dependent on the ability to retain the services of
members of the senior management and key employees who
possess the necessary experience and expertise in the industrial
EMS industry. If there is any significant or material change to
the composition of the key management team, the Group may
not be able to recruit experienced or qualified personnel in a
timely manner or at all, and may need to incur additional costs
and resources in the recruitment and training of the new staff
members. In addition, if the Group loses the key management
personnel or employees to the competitors, the competitiveness,
business performance, results of operations as well as business
prospects may be materially and adversely affected.
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There is no assurance that the business strategies and
future plans will be successfully implemented.

The successful implementation of the business strategies and
future plans will depend on various factors, including but not
limited to the ability to (i) retain the major customers; (ii) enhance
the production efficiency; (iii) retain the existing workforce and
recruit new staff members at a rate that is consistent with
the business growth; (iv) raise additional funds to support the
business expansion; and (v) explore new business opportunities.
There is no assurance that the Group will be able to successfully
implement the business strategies or future plans. Even if the
business strategies or future plans are implemented, there is no
assurance that they will increase the market share or enhance
the market position. The results of operations and financial
position may be materially and adversely affected if the business
strategies or future plans are not successfully implemented.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 260 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details (including the principal activities) of the Company’s
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to HK$10,000 (2019:
HK$53,000).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s distributable
reserves available for distribution is HK$29,487,000 (2019:
HK$16,550,000).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing shareholders unless otherwise required by
the Stock Exchange.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to date of
this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

BTES

BERBERE

BB AEREN  ARILETHEFBRH
BEBEENRTE - BRARRARLHIFR
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g Z<
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RRARMANFEREEAFREAR ZEEZRY
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Lai Yiu Wah (Chairman of the Board)
ReE (EFGER)

Tai Leung Lam (Chief Executive Officer)
B R (FTEAREL)

Joseph Mac Carthy

Joseph Mac Carthy

Georges René Gener

Georges René Gener

Independent non-executive Directors
BAFHTES

(resigned with effect from 15 February 2020)
(BZZ-TF_A+HBREEITE)

Fung Chun Chung

ST

Cheung Kin Wing

SRR

Wong Raymond Fook Lam

AR

The Company had received the resignation letter from Mr.
Georges René Gener confirming that he had no disagreement
with the Board and there was nothing relating to the affairs of
the Company which needed to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders of Company.

Pursuant to article 120(a) of the Articles, subject to article
120(e), at each AGM, one-third of the Directors (excluding those
Director(s) who are not subject to the rotation requirement under
the Articles) or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three
the number which is nearest to and is at least one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.
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Pursuant to article 120(e) of the Articles, any Director who holds
the position as an Executive Director shall not be subject to the
retirement-rotation requirement of the Article.

Pursuant to A.4.2 of the CG Code, all directors (no matter
executive or independent non-executive directors) including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy
and Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam will retire pursuant to article
120(a) of the Articles. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election as Directors at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of Directors who have served on the boards of the
subsidiaries of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this annual report are set out below:

Lai Yiu Wah

Tai Leung Lam
Joseph Mac Carthy
John Anthony Tiernan
Lai Sek Piu

Lo Ka Kei Jun

David Mac Carthy
Georges René Gener*

*

Resigned as a director of subsidiary with effect from 24 February 2020.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual written confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules as at
the date of this annual report and considers all the Independent
Non-executive Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 14 to 23 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Three Executive Directors have each signed a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing
from 10 February 2017 (subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service agreement).
The said service contracts have been renewed for a term of three
years commencing from 1 February 2020. Mr. Georges René
Gener has signed a service contract with the Company for a term
of not more than three years commencing on 2 November 2018
and expiring at the conclusion of an AGM to be held in the third
year following the year of his appointment. Mr. Gener resigned
from his positions with effect with 15 February 2020.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three
years, commencing from 1 February 2017 (subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letter of
appointment). The said letters of appointment have been renewed
for a term of three years commencing from 1 February 2020.

None of the Directors proposed for election at the forthcoming
AGM has entered into any service contract or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group which is not determinable by
any member of the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.
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TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company, or
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director or a connected entity of a director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year, nor was there
any transaction, arrangements or contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries
by a controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
any of its subsidiaries for the year. There was also no contract of
significance between the Company or one of the subsidiaries and
the controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
or its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors on a named basis
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 9
to the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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REMUNERATION POLICY

Under the remuneration policy of the Company, the Remuneration
Committee will consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities and
performance of the Directors and senior management, as the
case may be, in assessing the amount of remuneration payable
to the Directors and members of the senior management.
The Remuneration Committee will periodically review the
compensation levels of the key executives. Based on the
performance and the executives’ respective contribution to the
Group, the Remuneration Committee may, within the aggregate
remuneration amount having been approved in a Shareholders’
meeting, make recommendations to our Board as to salary
increases or payment of discretionary bonuses.

The Group’s employee benefit expenses mainly included salaries,
overtime payment and discretionary bonus, share options, other
staff benefits and contributions to retirement schemes.

Remuneration is determined with reference to the qualification,
experience and work performance, whereas the payment of
discretionary bonus is generally subject to work performance,
the financial performance of the Group in that particular year and
general market conditions.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities
have been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the
Group from their risk exposure arising from conducting the
business of the Group.

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the provisions of the
Companies Ordinance, the Directors shall be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against any liability, loss or
expenditure incurred by him in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, which relate to anything done or omitted
to be done or alleged to have been done or omitted to be done
by him as a Director.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EERITETHAERAEATREM
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN H#tiEBzE2R#H - HERORE
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND #HENEZRAAE

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of RZTZTF+_A=+—H BBERAAA %
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the T EITHAERAQATXEBE EZE (FER - 2
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its &% & B & & FI EXVER) B9 - HRE I s 5
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the EH#ZETEB()ELENBIFESLHSED ‘Iﬁi
SFO) (i) as recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant  Z53521&3 E 7817 B R ZIKFT il Z a0 e s & %
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred %2 : ()R 5 - W47 B B &%+ Fr S 12 E <P B §

to therein; or (i) as required to be notified to the Company ZBEIE AN T MBS ATEFERS MORB N T ¢
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Model Code contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

.
Percentage of -
C
shareholding in g o
Number of the Company’s -
m- 0
Shares held issued share =
Name of Directors Nature of interest in Long Position Total capital (Note 2) A (5
BRAR 2
FEHREmN ERITRAZ
ESpE ERMtE RHEE e BREB DL (HE2)
Lai Yiu Wah Interest in controlled 725,000,000 750,000,000 75.00%
(“Mr. Lai") corporations (Note 1)
R R B R (BEzE1) §
(IREE]) 3
Beneficial owner 25,000,000 B E
e AL e MM
EalEBA m 8
BK 5
By
Tai Leung Lam Interest in controlled 725,000,000 725,000,000 72.50% §
(“Mr. Tai”) corporations (Note 1) 2
B R REREB NS (BEzE1)
([E%XE])
Joseph Mac Carthy Beneficiary of 725,000,000 725,000,000 72.50%
(“Mr. Mac Carthy”) a trust (Note 1) =
Joseph Mac Carthy ERZmA (ME1) =
([Mac Carthy %4 |) g2
e
L
o
P
@
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEgRE

Notes:

(1) These Shares are held by Trio Industrial Electronics Holding Limited (“Trio
Holding”). Trio Holding was owned as to 32.5%, 32.5%, 17.5% and 17.5%
by Nawk Investment Inc. (“Nawk Investment”), LLT Investment Inc. (“LLT
Investment”), Proactive Investment Inc. (“Proactive Investment”) and
Grand Energy Investment Limited (“Grand Energy”), respectively. Nawk
Investment, LLT Investment and Proactive Investment were directly and
wholly owned by Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley (“Mr. Kwan”), Mr. Tai and Mr.
Lai, respectively. Grand Energy was directly and wholly owned by King Fung
Nominees Limited (“King Fung Nominees”) on trust for Mr. Mac Carthy.
Because of their interests in Trio Holding, Mr. Kwan, Mr. Tai, Mr. Lai and
Mr. Mac Carthy, Nawk Investment, LLT Investment, Proactive Investment,
Grand Energy and King Fung Nominees are regarded as the controlling
shareholders and together be entitled to exercise and control 72.5% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2020.

2) The approximate percentages were calculated based on 1,000,000,000
shares in issue as at 31 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors nor chief executive of the Company has registered an
interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (ii) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or any other
Associated Corporations” above, at no time during the year were
there any rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director
or the chief executive of the Company or any of their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

Bt

(1) ZERNBBETITEETFERAERAA ([ E
BRI A B2 ZER ANawk Investment Inc.
([Nawk Investment])  LLT Investment Inc.
([LLT Investment]) * Proactive Investment Inc.
([Proactive Investment|) }Grand Energy Investment
Limited ([ Grand Energy |) 5 5I#H32.5% * 32.5% *
17.5% 5 17.5% ° Nawk Investment » LLT Investment
M Proactive Investment? Bl i B 12 % 5% &£ (B8 %
) BEAERRELEEEDEHRA © Grand Energy
King Fung Nominees Limited ([King Fung
Nominees|) A {5 7t £ & /BMac Carthy%t 4 B #
LhE2EHE BRBELE  BLE - BEkE KMac
Carthy’t 4 » Nawk Investment * LLT Investment
Proactive Investment * Grand EnergyXKing Fung
NomineesR B 1ER 2 #a - RZT_TF+=-A=
T—H - BREGEEIEERRR - B—RBFETER
EHIARR BB BITIRAAT72.5% °
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY SPECIFIED
UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2020,
the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had or were deemed or taken to have an interest
or short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
£ £

FTERRRAQDTRG - HEARG R
BEIFIADAHEMH B EE
ZIEERSEHHNERRAR

REZEMM RZTE_TF+_A=+—H8H"
THAL (LFEEFKARRETETHAR) R
ARBH RO HEBABROPREEIERALE
ERA BN RIERE 7 R BB IRPIE336FAE T
FEHNELMANERIORE

Section 336 of the SFO:

Percentage of
shareholding in
the Company’s

Number of issued share

Shares held in capital

Name of shareholders Nature of interests Long Position (Note 3)

RN

BETREZ

REBDL

BRREH REmE FR¥EiF R R0 BB (B =£3)

Mr. Kwan Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
Bk A REEEE R (FfF3E)

Grand Energy Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
Grand Energy RSB MR (BF&ET)

Trio Holding Beneficial owner 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
g Sy EnEAA (BF&E1)

Nawk Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
Nawk Investment REDEB MR (FzE1)

LLT Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
LLT Investment REABRER (FzE1)

Proactive Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
Proactive Investment REZIE LB (FEET)

King Fung Nominees Trustee; interest in a controlled 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%

corporation

King Fung Nominees FEEA  RZIEEBER R (Bff5E1)

RUAN David Ching Chi Interest of controlled corporation 92,324,000 (Note 2) 9.23%
RUAN David Ching Chi REEE R (PHEE2)

RAYS Capital Partners Investment manager 92,324,000 (Note 2) 9.23%

Limited
RAYS Capital Partners WEKIE (fzE2)
Limited
Asian Equity Special Beneficial owner 87,516,000 8.75%

Opportunities Portfolio
Master Fund Limited
Asian Equity Special
Opportunities Portfolio
Master Fund Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEgRE

Notes:

(1) These shares are held by Trio Holding. Trio Holding was owned as to
32.5%, 32.5%, 17.5% and 17.5% by Nawk Investment, LLT Investment,
Proactive Investment and Grand Energy, respectively. Nawk Investment, LLT
Investment and Proactive Investment were directly and wholly owned by Mr.
Kwan, Mr. Tai and Mr. Lai, respectively. Grand Energy was directly and wholly
owned by King Fung Nominees on trust for Mr. Mac Carthy. Because of their
interests in Trio Holding, Mr. Kwan, Mr. Tai, Mr. Lai and Mr. Mac Carthy, Nawk
Investment, LLT Investment, Proactive Investment, Grand Energy and King
Fung Nominees are regarded as the controlling shareholders and together be
entitled to exercise and control 72.5% of the issued share of the Company
as at 31 December 2020.

(2) Accordingly to the information available on the website of the Stock
Exchange, Asian Equity Special Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund Limited
is owned as to 100% by RAYS Capital Partners Limited, which in turn is
owned as to 45.6% by Mr. Ruan David Ching Chi.

(3) The approximate percentages were calculated based on 1,000,000,000
shares in issue as at 31 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons who had any interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would be recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the interests disclosed above in respect of the
substantial shareholders, as at 31 December 2020, no other
person is individually or collectively entitled to exercise or control
the exercise of 5% or more of the voting power at the general
meetings of the Company and are able, as a practicable manner,
to direct or influence the management of the Company.

Bt

(1) ZERMBREEREE - HEERBHNawk
Investment * LLT Investment * Proactive Investment
KGrand Energy? 5l # H32.5% - 32.5% * 17.5%
$17.5% ° Nawk Investment * LLT Investment}
Proactive Investments Bl f B8 %o 4~ B LA R R
% & H # 2 & # A ° Grand EnergyEKing Fung
Nominees A {Z 5B AMac Carthy e £ EE R EE
A - BRBASTAE - BSthE - B4 KMac Carthyst
4~ Nawk Investment * LLT Investment * Proactive
Investment ~ Grand Energy &King Fung Nomineesﬁ’\
BEEkoEs RZE-_ZEF+-A=+—H"
SR B RARE - B —BAERITEREHAR
BEITRNDEI72.5% °

2 RIBEB XA EMAER - Asian Equity
Special Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund Limited

MRAYS Capital Partners Limited##&100% » &%
fRuan David Ching Chist 4 & 45.6% °

B MBS DIBE-T-_TF+-_A=1+—A0K
1,000,000,000/% B B TR (A 5T H ©

BREXFIEEEN R-T_TF+- ﬂ +
—H - EFUTABEMEMBALTRAR

17 248 B A 1 qﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁwﬂﬁ*ﬁf\ﬁﬁimﬁﬁﬂﬁf
P15 3361678 T 17 B #) B A0 A A (R ) HE 2 =

o o
BRRRAZHES 2R
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales for the year ended 31 December 2020
generated from the Group’s major customers is as follows:

21.3%
66.6%

— The largest customer
— Five largest customers

The percentage of suppliers for the year ended 31 December
2020 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers is as follows:

4.9%
18.3%

— The largest supplier
— Five largest suppliers

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) nor any shareholder (which to the knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or its five largest suppliers for the year ended
31 December 2020.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code. Having been made a specific enquiry by
the Company, all Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard of dealings and code of conduct
regarding securities transactions throughout the year ended 31
December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date
of this annual report, none of the Directors nor the controlling
shareholders nor substantial shareholders (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Company or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) were considered to
have any interests in a business which competed or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group and/or caused, or was likely to cause any other conflicts
of interest with the Group.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEgRE

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company confirms that the deed of non-competition of each
of Trio Holding, Nawk Investment, LLT Investment, Proactive
Investment, King Fung Nominees, Grand Energy, Mr. Kwan, Mr.
Tai, Mr. Lai and Mr. Mac Carthy (collectively, the “Controlling
Shareholders”), details of which were set out in the Prospectus,
has been fully complied with and enforced since the Listing Date
and up to 31 December 2020. The Controlling Shareholders
have provided a written confirmation (the “Confirmation”) to
the Company on 25 March 2021 confirming that they have duly
complied with the non-competition covenants and undertakings
in the Deed of Non-competition (the “Undertakings”) for the
year ended 31 December 2020. Upon receiving the Confirmation,
the Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company had
reviewed the same as part of the annual review process. In
determining whether the Controlling Shareholders had fully
complied with the Undertakings for the year ended 31 December
2020, the Independent Non-executive Directors noted that (a) the
Controlling Shareholders declared that they had fully complied
with the Undertakings for the year ended 31 December 2020; and
(b) no new competing business was reported by the Controlling
Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2020.

In view of the above, the Independent Non-executive Directors
confirmed that they have reviewed the compliance with the terms
of the Non-competition by the Controlling Shareholders and
the enforcement of the Undertakings given by the Controlling
Shareholders and are satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders
have complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-competition
during the relevant period up to 31 December 2020. The Board
also confirms that there are no other matters in relation to the
aforesaid undertaking which should be brought to the attention
of the Shareholders and the potential investors of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and
adopted in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules by
written resolutions of the then shareholder on 27 October 2017. A
summary of the Share Option Scheme and the movement of the
share options granted was set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

4t
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in
the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-
linked agreement that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or (i) requires the Company enter into any agreement that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares, was entered
into by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2020
or subsisted at the end of the reporting period.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company will normally pay
dividend twice a year. The Board may declare special dividends
in addition to such dividends as it considers appropriate. The
dividend payout ratio will vary from year to year. There is no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period. In determining/recommending the frequency,
amount and form of any dividend in any financial year/period, the
Board shall consider the following factors:

- the actual and expected financial results of the Group;

- economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group;

- the Group’s business strategies, including future cash
commitments and investment needs to sustain the

long-term growth aspect of the business;

- the current and future operations, liquidity position and
capital requirements of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEgRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an Audit Committee on 27 October
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraph C3 and paragraph D3 of
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include,
but are not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and removal of the external
auditor; (ii) reviewing the financial statements of our Group and
monitoring the integrity of such financial statements; and (iii)
overseeing the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures. The Audit Committee comprises three members,
namely Mr. Cheung Kin Wing, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr.
Wong Raymond Fook Lam. The chairman of the Audit Committee
is Mr. Cheung Kin Wing, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules. The audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation of such
results complied with the applicable accounting standards, the
Listing Rules and legal requirements, and adequate disclosures
have been made.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report. None of these related party transactions
constituted a connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules during the reporting period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From the information publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capitals are held by the public at all times
throughout the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the
date of this annual report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company is committed to implementing good corporate
governance practices. Information on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 43 to 65 of this annual
report.

THE FORTHCOMING AGM

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held at Room 4-5,
United Conference Centre, 10/F., United Centre, 95 Queensway,
Admiralty, Hong Kong on Monday, 24 May 2021 at 2:30 p.m.
and the notice convening such meeting will be published and
despatched to the Shareholders in the manner as required by
the Listing Rules in due course.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant events affecting the Group after the year
ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual
report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. The Board has taken the Audit Committee’s
recommendation that a resolution for their re-appointment as
independent auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

There is no change of independent auditor for the past three

years.

On behalf of the Board

Lai Yiu Wah

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 25 March 2021
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
ARFEERERS

ABOUT THIS SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the “Company”
or “Trio”), and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”,
“we” or “our”) is pleased to publish its Sustainability Report
(the “Report”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.
This Report outlines the Group’s commitment, approach
and achievements in four key areas: the environment, the
employees, the value chain and the community.

Reporting Approach

Reporting Period

This Report provides an overview of the Group’s
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) performance
during the reporting period of 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2020.

Reporting Scope

The scope of this Report includes all areas of the Group’s
business operations that have ESG significance to the
Group and its stakeholders.

This Report therefore covers the Group’s overall ESG
performance for one of the business operations, a
production plant in Guangzhou, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) (the “Nansha Plant”). The Group’s
headquarters in Hong Kong, production plants in Thailand
and lIreland, and offices in Germany and Ireland are
excluded from the scope since they have no significant
environmental and social impacts generated during the
Reporting Period.

The Group conducted an extensive stakeholder engagement
and materiality assessment exercise to define the material
topics for inclusion in this Report. The outcome is detailed
in the Materiality Assessment.
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Reporting Standards

This Report is prepared in accordance with the GRI
Standards issued by Global Sustainability Standards Board,
GSSB: Core option, as well as the requirements stipulated
in the ESG Reporting Guide, set out in Appendix 27 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
To further align with international sustainability principles,
the Report also makes reference to five principles of the
United Nations Global Compact (“UNGC”).

Information and Feedback
For more information about our businesses, please refer
to the Group’s official website https://www.trio-ieg.com.

The Group welcomes feedback on its Report and other
sustainability-related matters. Please give your suggestions
or share your views with us at ad_hjbin@triopy.com.

About Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited
Founded in 1983, Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited
and its subsidiaries is an industrial electronics manufacturing
services (“EMS”) provider specialising in the manufacturing
and sales of customised industrial electronic components
and products mainly sold to customers located over 20
countries and regions around the world.

As an original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) of industrial
electronic components and products, we provide our
customers with a comprehensive scope of services, from
procurement of raw materials, manufacturing to product
delivery. We also provide technical advice and engineering
solutions to our customers during product design and
development stage. Our OEM products are manufactured
according to the specifications provided by our customers
and are either incorporated into their products or sold as
stand-alone products under their own brands.
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Performance Review and Highlights
Economic

Performance

Environment
Z A

Community
#HE

People

Value Chain

EE®

BAREERBE

Revenue: HK$701.7 million YA = 7{81708E T
Attributable operating profit: HK$44.1 million
JERIS & =T - 4F4108%8 T

Profit attributable to shareholders: HK$28.9 million
MR BRI T - 2F 8908 B T

Certified to ISO 14001 Environmental Management System
IBISO 14001 RIFEE L X RF

Received the Caring Company Award & [ R ERE | 48
Created 35 local job opportunities &lli& T 351 % ith 3t ik &

Total number of employees: 1,487 persons

BB 1,487A

Total training hours: 10,811 hours 2 FIBFE: 10,811/ \FF
Average training hours per employee: 7.31 hours
EEFHZINRE: 7.31/ N\

Total occupational health and safety training hours: 2,482
hours #8583 {2 FR B 22 2 55 3l )N : 2,482/N

Awarded “Guangzhou Harmonious Labour Relationship
Enterprise A Level” 587 [ &N i F17& 25 B 1R (b ALK
Certified to ISO 45001 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System #3iBISO 45001 B @ FHE LT 2 E1HEE

EZIE
R n/le‘,\ 1)

Achieved an average customer satisfaction score of 86 from
customers & Fim B E FHEFD: 8659

Certified to ISO 9001 Quality Management System i@ #&1SO
QOIEEEERRRE

Certified to Industry 4.0 “1i Maturity Level Recognition”
BT RA0 i KREER | R
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Sustainability at Trio

Message from the Chairman

In 2020, global markets encountered unprecedented
challenges from the coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”)
causing the downturn in economic and business activities.
In times like this, corporate sustainability becomes more
important than ever for corporates to adapt to the new
normal and to sustain and thrive.

| would like to present to our stakeholders our Group’s
ongoing commitment, approach and achievements in
four key ESG areas mainly in our PRC operation: the
environment, the employees, the value chain and the
community.

The Group has given priority to environmental protection
principles since the establishment of our production base in
Guangzhou, the PRC to ensure that our waste management
and exhaust emissions comply with regulatory requirements.
Beyond compliance, we aim to continually improve the
environmental performance of our operations and have
established management procedures and constantly review
the effectiveness of management systems to minimise
impacts on the environment. The Group has also paid
attention to climate change issues as well as energy and
water resource management.

The health and safety of our employees also remain the
Group’s top priority. We have always been committed to
complying with relevant occupational health and safety
(“OHS”) regulations and facilitating employee participation
to improve upon OHS goals. To this end, the Group has
comprehensive OHS systems, policies and safety protocols
in place to manage relevant issues at the PRC operation.
During the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has set up an
emergency response team and implemented precautionary
measures for the prevention and control of the virus. We
have also cared for the development of our staff and
provided a wide spectrum of training programmes to equip
them with new tangible and intangible knowledge and skills.
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It has always been our Group’s mission to provide
quality products and services of the highest value to our
customers and stakeholders. During the reporting period,
we continued to pursue operational and manufacturing
excellence within our production value chain through the
adoption of advanced technologies and processes and
responsible supply chain management. We have a long
history of maintaining long term and stable relationships
with our customers and suppliers.

Last but not the least, our Group is committed to be a
responsible corporate citizen and takes the initiative to
support local activities, care for the underprivileged and
improve the relationships with nearby communities through
employee volunteering and employment supports.

At Trio, we regard technologies and talents as the
cornerstones of our sustainable development. Going
forward, we will continue to develop our people and
establish a system to facilitate business process integration
and advance towards a higher maturity level in Industry 4.0.
We will also maintain constant communications with our
shareholders, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders
to stay ahead of times and strive for long term sustainability.

Lai Yiu Wah
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 March 2021

AEENEDER/TLMFNERRRKE
EOEmMRE - RREHA - ZMES
RASEERM KRR - TR RERH
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ITHPXFEMEE - RESLRE > Wk
ZHEABAA B R RE

EHE  BAGRRMEAS BRKERR
MED - REBE  RAIBEERE AL
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OUR SUSTAINABILITY APPROACH

Corporate Governance

Maintaining high standards of corporate governance is
vital to the Group’s continued success. As the highest
governance body, the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) directs the overall strategy and development
of the Group’s operations, and oversees business ethics
and corporate integrity.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems
safeguard proper identification, management and mitigation
of risks. Policies and procedures are established to
effectuate a consistent approach to spot and address risks
in business processes. The Risk Management Committee
supports the Board in overseeing and maintaining effective
risk management and internal control systems. Risk
management responsibility rests at all levels within the
Group, from the Board down to heads of business and
supporting units and general staff. Sustainability-related
risks identified through the risk control procedure are strictly
managed and mitigated through the Group’s policies and
mechanisms.

For details of our corporate governance structure and
practices, please refer to the “Corporate Governance
Report” Section of our Annual Report 2020.

Anti-Corruption and Whistleblowing Policies

The Group has zero tolerance for bribery, fraud and
corruption. The Group’s ethical standards are well
documented and communicated through the Code of
Conduct and Business Ethics, which requires all business
activities to be operated with high level of integrity. The
Internal Control Procedure and Whistleblowing Policy aim
to ensure the Group is free of corruption throughout
its businesses. These policies are covered in new
employee orientation and the Employee Handbook. No
employee should accept or request any improper benefits
including gifts, securities, valuables and high-expenditure
entertainment activities from business partners, suppliers
and merchants, etc.
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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To ensure proper internal control over the procurement
process, the Group has implemented segregation of
duties according to procurement phases to prevent
conflict of interest, fraud or corruption in each stage of the
procurement cycle. The Group provides anti-corruption
training for all new hires to strengthen ethical awareness
among employees. During the reporting period, the Group
invited the Hong Kong Independent Commission Against
Corruption (“ICAC”) to provide a seminar on business ethics
for our employees in Hong Kong.

Regardless of seniority and employment nature, all
employees are required to fully comply with the Code of
Conduct and related policies formulated in accordance
with the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the PRC and
the Anti-money Laundering Law of the PRC. The Group
holds management review meetings each year to discuss
and review the Group’s strategies and policies in fighting
corruption. During the reporting period, the Group complied
with applicable laws and regulations on prohibiting
corruption and bribery. There was no concluded legal case
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or
its employees.

Whistleblowing System

A whistleblowing system is established for employees and
other relevant parties to report misconduct cases. Every
reported case will be handled with confidentiality and
followed through in accordance with the Whistleblowing
Policy and related procedures. The Audit Committee is
charged with the responsibility of monitoring and reviewing
the effectiveness of the Whistleblowing Policy.

All violations of the Group’s Code of Conduct and Business
Ethics will be addressed and could lead to termination of
the business relationship or employment. Employees and
business partners can actively report grievances to the
Group through the following channels:

Ms. Wan Mei Wa Ruby

Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
Tel: +852 2765 8787

Email: rubywan@trio-ieg.com

Mr. Cheung Kin Wing

Chairman of the Audit Committee

Tel: +852 9126 0624

Email: edwin@trimpf.com

RTHRBEREETZSOANRMEE - &
SECESKBERERBE DR - UH
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Additional information on the Group’s corporate governance,
internal control and risk management can be found in the
Corporate Governance Report section of the Group’s
Annual Report 2020.

Sustainability Governance

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s
sustainability strategy and reporting. Committed to
integrating sustainability into the businesses, the Board
leads and provides directions to the management of the
Group (the “Management”) to develop sustainability
policies and strategies, promote effective implementation
and to keep track of sustainability progress. The Board,
together with the Management of different committees,
reviews sustainability affairs regularly and institutes
appropriate measures in order to enhance the sustainability
performance of the Group. Division heads of the Nansha
Plant hold periodic meetings to discuss significant matters
related to the plant and review management approaches of
a suite of sustainability issues. In particular, the Group has
engaged an independent consultant to provide input and
counsel on sustainability-related issues.

ZEMS  BEXE

Dedicated marketing and \

regional sales support

BEES  BHER o
%,
Engage in products @S /gf Strategles

of higher value and .

contributions \
BT - (LR /A

Further enhance capability, L

efficiency and capacity

£

T
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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We strongly believe that the human factor is the core  FfFIFETAl REBEENZLE N - KIh#
propeller of our business expansion. Our success formula ¥ &REANERBESHRE
in maintaining the best possible people portfolio is:

People are our core foundation

DUN - F:

7\

Development
BR

Management Systems EEEY D

The Group carries out regular audits at the Nansha Plant REBHED THETERSE - UWZE
to verify compliance with our codes and standards. HESTFERMOABAEZLE - @) TR
Management systems of varying aspects of operations are AETERELEERR -

developed at the Nansha Plant.
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The Nansha Plant has obtained certifications to the MY IHMEESATERERRE
following management systems:
=| | certificationsZ &
.9. (@]
(@]
D
Environment ° ISO 14001 Environmental Management System <
BRI o 1SO 14001 BEERE R o
...................................................................................................................................... Eﬂ %
Workplace Safety ° ISO 45001 Occupational Health and Safety Management System e
IEEHRES o ISO 45001 B RENL 2 ER RS =
...................................................................................................................................... 3
Scope | Quality Assurance ° ISO 9001 Quality Management System -
o BERE e ISOQ001EEEEER
Production Technology e Certificate of Industry 4.0 Maturity — level 1i maturity
A ER o THEAOKAERAZFE —1IRKAE
...................................................................................................................................... 4
(@]
Information Security ° ISO/IEC 27001 Information Security Management System o
ik s ISO/IEC 27001 &K &2 BB R %0
r\{ m
Supporting the United Nations Sustainable XEBEETREAREERE 5 O
Development Goals E
The Group fully supports the implementation of the 17 HREAEE BEN2015F98 BBM17 .
Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”) that were BHAFERREBE ([SDG]) © MFEE IR
adopted by United Nations Member States in September REITE) - B KR2030F BB E B @ 1R
2015 as a universal call to action to end poverty, protect IR BRI A AZBMFEEL - K
the planet and ensure that all people enjoy peace and EER2NXHERZEAR -

prosperity by 2030.

HEED
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The Group has identified five goals that are most relevant
to our business and sustainability strategy. Over the long
term, we are exploring ways to enhance our sustainability
approaches in order to be better aligned with and contribute
to the United Nations’ goals. The five specific goals are
presented below.

“gy SUSTAINABLE ™ "%
1 '/ DEVELOPMENT \J %u® ALS

S

EEEY T A FARRMA0 LS RTHER
RERBAAMNE IR - RERE - RME
BHRRREF TRHEBROTE - UEA
SOBENEIE  ELER - AALBAIE
T

Corresponding Issues

GoalsB Description#i#it HENZEE
GOOD HEALTH SDG 3 Ensure healthy lives and promote  Value Chain; People;
ANDWEEESEING Good Health and well-being Social Partioipation
Well-being BREROEF W REFR BlEE: A Hg2H
w EEZESE
QUALITY SDG 4 Ensure inclusive and quality Development and
EDUCATION ) ) o
Quality Education education and promote lifelong Training
1 BEHE learning R RIE
' ' BREEEEHE REKGEE
DECENT WORK AND SDG 8 Promote inclusive and sustainable Manufacturing
ECONOMIC GROWTH
Decent Work and economic growth, employment Excellence; People
/J Economic Growth and decent work SR A
‘Il BEIEREEER RELTERAFENCELR -
PENBEIE
11SUSTA'NAB'-E°'T'ES SDG 11 Make cities and communities Environment
AND COMMUNITIES i
Sustainable Cities inclusive and sustainable RIE
and Communities BEEERAREER M AR
74 éﬁ TREREAD RME
n
1225?";%’::;‘;:—& SDG 12 Ensure sustainable consumption  Responsible Supply Chain
AND PRODUCTION Responsible and production patterns Management; Environment
Consumption BRAHENEEREESR BEMENMHEREER R
m and Production

BEENHBRAE
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Stakeholder Engagement BhESH
The Group values input and feedback of its stakeholders REE+HERIFNENERARE - &
as they bring potential impacts to the Group’s business. HEERER  REXBHETEE  #F
A wide variety of stakeholders are engaged on a regular i EEELENENBASHABFNHNE
basis to share their views regarding the Group’s operations B ATHRENENTRKRBE - §RF
N o)
and performances, which helps the Group to understand MEMER B EERREEERE - o
the needs and expectations of its stakeholders. Feedback §
from our stakeholders will be acknowledged and addressed Lg ém
accordingly. =z
.
Our key stakeholders and communication channels are as BMMEERHERERRBNT : =
follows: z
Stakeholder Group {7 48 3l Communication Channels&&E:RiE
Employees e New employee orientation #11& 8 A B3I
&S e  Strategic Talent Centre E(H A H0s -
3
JQD e Training sessions 573872 =
N O
rQ||r01| e Employee engagement activities & E 2 2% ) @
e Employee satisfaction surveys B Ejm=EE AL =
m
e WeChat Work % 8{& =
e  Staff message box B T 5 BUE %
Customers e Customer satisfaction surveys B mEE A&
BF e Monthly performance ratings & A 4& T 4%
Goﬁo Oa e Regular meetings il & o
%
o
2
gﬁi -
i)
Shareholders and Investors e Annual General Meeting EEKRERE A S ]g}: <)
N m
BRI EE e Annual and Interim Reports € [ i BisR & ij
O% e Press Releases, Announcements and Circulars ¥f# §
i i ASRBH
e Investor meetings & E &

e Company website A B4k

o E-mails & &f

UG

SINIWILVLIS TVIONVNIL
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Stakeholder Groupi¥ {3 & 48 3l Communication Channelsi& &R &

Suppliers e Tendering processes B1Z2F

HAIEE e Site visits and audits EithE &R M E:t

Jah N

ol {g e Monthly assessments & 3 & 5T

q|i|— e Meetings &%

. E-mails &

Government and Regulators e Meetings &%

BT R BB i e Media 582

Business Partners e  Conferences &%

[GESE40 e Business events E¥EEH

O O

lHl

Local Communities e Local recruitments & i 3458

HHALRE e \Volunteering opportunities % T {Ei <

o e Quarterly meetings with village committees E2ff & &

Lk ILEL BITEE R
Through ongoing dialogues and stakeholder engagement ERERSSHN - BRERNDEREHE
exercise throughout the reporting period, the Group has NFBES - AEBUWREHGE N RER
received feedback and suggestions from stakeholders that B HBMOUREZEEIETEZ - T
are invaluable to our sustainable development journey. HILHFZHMNERREENZE UK
Below are issues of concern that many of our stakeholders SEmEE -

deem important and responses from the Group.
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Our Responses

R AFR e fE

Areas of Stakeholder

Concerns Expectation

BiEEE BHENHE

Employee ° Pay rise

Benefits piliE=n

EEREF e Improvement in food

<&

Environmental e
Performance

o=l

RIGER

&

quality and menu
choices provided in
staff canteen
WEBEIRENRY
BENXEEE

Environmental
mitigation measures
B IRIE R B IR i
Waste segregation
REM %8

Upon review of benefits package, the Group provided an
allowance of RMB500-1,000 to each frontline worker in the
Nansha Plant. The Group also distributed RMB150,000 in
employee benefits to improve meal options offered at the staff
canteen. More information can be found in the Caring for Our
People section in this Report.

BEEERAFSEE  AKEREL IHRBLAIRIAREA
R#¥500-1,0007THY 28 - EE IR T ARK150,000T1EE
I8EAN UNEETIRENAEERE - HEF2HAREN [#
BEHRMOET]HH -

The Group attaches great importance to environmental
protection and has adopted a series of measures to minimise
adverse impacts from our operational activities. For instance,
the Group has installed activated carbon absorption devices
at production plant for removal of VOCs. At the Nansha
Plant, all general wastes bins are replaced by recycling bins
to promote recycling and to collect recyclables. The Nansha
Plant has also obtained ISO 14001 environmental certification.
More information on our initiatives to mitigate environmental
impacts can be found in the Environmental Management
section in this Report.

AEBREERRRERE  WEORR—RIEBASERIE
ERBTRNINEE - flin - AEBEAETIRLE TIE ML
U2 B LA EBRVOC « FEFY TR - FT A & i iy A8 #B45 [E U
FEEA - A BRI g U R AT I Y) - ) TR ES T
ISO 14001FRITRE - AARMIBRBRRZEEENFE &
SHRBREN [RRER ]| FH -

Annual Report 2020 &8 9QQ

SY3IATOHIYVHS N0 OL

Q)

NI 31VH0dH0<

VINHO

NOILY

FONVNYIA0D F1vH0d400

SINIWILVLIS TVIONVNIL



SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
ARERRERE

Materiality Assessment

The materiality assessment process is crucial to the
decision-making process of the Group and its sustainability
reporting. It helps to identify and prioritise the issues that
matter most to its stakeholders.

EE L
EBUFERFERBRLES HER
ERREHREBRP A AHB
R E RABEBOBE - WATESE
R -

Identifying ESG Topics

Stakeholder engagement
exercise conducted through
questionnaires for key
groups of stakeholders
(including employees,
customers and suppliers)

B AIESGERE

BBARTIEROERE (2
EEE FEFRHER) &
THEASE  BRFNEN

Ranking ESG Topics
Results collected from the
stakeholder engagement
exercises were analysed to
develop a prioritised list of
material topics

ESGEEHF
DITHRF D BB AEB R U
EMERMER  UIHE
X EMBELIERF

Validating the Results
The Group reviewed
and validated the scope,
topic boundaries and
completeness of the
prioritised material topics

BREAR
SEERIHIABLERE
BIENHEE TEERN
TR

2R

During the reporting period, the Group specifically engaged
both internal and external stakeholders to gain insights
into ESG material topics and challenges of the Group’s
operation. In the materiality assessment, stakeholders were
asked to rate a list of 32 topics in terms of their relevance
and importance to the Group’s business development and
sustainability, as well as to the wider community.

EREHA - NEE R RITERA RSN
FROENER M TRARRE 14g
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Materiality Matrix
BEEMEREE
Materiality of Different Topics from Stakeholder Engagement
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Internal Assessment on Importance to Business o
HER BB B
Economic and Corporate Governance &ER 1D TEER Labour Management % L&
Economic Performance #&ERE Employment [E{#
Market Presence T8 2 A 51 Occupational Health and Safety B¥RENZE
Procurement Practices £ % 55 Staff Development and Training 2 T 3$& 125
Supplier Management i & & & 38 Diversity and Equal Opportunity % t{t R Eke

Compliance A8
Stakeholder Engagement #{p#& 262
Anti-corruption &5
Anti-competitive Behaviour
Environment B
n Energy Management gER%E 18
Water Resource Management 7K& /R &1
Emissions  HEH#D
Effluent and Waste Management 7k K B4 12
Material Consumption #1& E#E
Biodiversity W%t
Climate Change Responses FIE&E 1L 4%

16 Green Product Research and Development
REEMRE

REFTH

Human Rights A%

21 Anti-discrimination  [RIZ1R
Freedom of Association and Collective Bargaining

ErEmAnEREAH

&1 Child and Forced Labour Z T Fl3&i8 458
Product Responsibility E@RE{F
Product Quality EREE

Il Marketing and Labelling 1154 #4 B2 4
Customer Health and Safety BFEREEZ 2

07 Customer Satisfaction and Responsibility
EFmEERERE

Consumer Privacy and Interest Protection
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Information Security &% %
Intellectual Property Rights Al #
Social Participation #* &2
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Materiality Matrix (High Materiality)
EEMEEE (EEMS)
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LOWER

HIGHER

BIK

Taking into consideration the Board’s comments, a total of
13 material topics were identified across the three key areas
of economic, environmental and social performance. Similar
to last year’s findings, Product Quality, Occupational Health
and Safety, Customer Satisfaction and Responsibility,
as well as Intellectual Property Rights, were deemed as
material topics by the stakeholders. The consolidated list
of material topics and their corresponding boundaries are
presented in the table below.
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AHEERBRE
The Top 13 Material Topics of the Group and Their EEIBKREZETEREREEHE
Boundaries
Category Material Topics Impact Boundaries' Relevant Chapter
yEaR in the Report
Shareholders NGO o
Employees Customers Suppliers & Investors  partners %
FRRES 2
£5l EQTE &8 EF 1R RRRREE AFBHF  HENERER »
Economic and Economic Performance / / / Corporate Governance; e i
Corporate Governance &R Key Performance 2
BERAAER Summary =
AR -
HRETRE
Anti-conuption  RE)S / / / Anti-Corruption and
Whistleblowing B
Policies -
R&SRERHR *
=
Environment Environmental Compliance / / / / / Environment = E
B3 BEAR 35 =
m
B
Social Product Qualty / / Value Chain
e nEE {Blas
Childl and Forced Labour / / People A
ETR%E4Y
Customer Satisfaction and / v / Value Chain 3 ;
Responsibility {EfEE 2
BEREERAR 2
Occupational Health and Safety v / People A Qf&i
BERREL2 B2
Customer Health and Safety v/ / / Value Chain =
BPREER2 s z
Intellectual Property Rights / / / Value Chain m
HBERE Bl
Information Security / Value Chain
Biz: {ElEsE
Anti-discrimination REE v / / People A N
Employment E(& / People A z
Socioeconomic Compliance v/ / / / / Qur Sustainability B §
HEEEAR Approach 30
BRNTRERER e
! Boundaries represent the areas of the Group’s businesses which directly or indirectly have an effect on the material topics, and are %

determined based on stakeholder feedback and knowledge of the businesses and management review.
BAKKRTEEXBTEESHEREERIENEE - YREHNENRE - AEBNTRURERENERREE -

Annual Report 2020 €3 103



SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
ARERRERE

VALUE CHAIN

Operational excellence is a core component in achieving
business performance and pivotal to our pursuit of a
sustainable business. To achieve so, the Group continuously
manages its manufacturing processes through the adoption
of advanced technologies, minimising operational risks and
ensuring that the Group provides quality products of the
highest value to its customers and stakeholders.

Industry 4.0 Certification

Trio Engineering Company Limited, the principal subsidiary
of the Company, achieved the Industry 4.0 level 1i Maturity
accreditation in 2019. The certification testifies the Group’s
capability in real time information generation including
business operations, production and logistics.

Manufacturing Excellence

The Group continues to pursue manufacturing excellence
within its production value chain to improve industrial
processes and maintain its leading position in the EMS
industry. With the application of industrial automation,
digitalisation, real-time process monitoring and other related
technologies, Industry 4.0 has helped the Group achieve
an optimised, efficient workplace with higher productivity
and enhanced competitiveness. In the near future, the
Group will establish a system to facilitate business process
integration and advance towards a higher maturity stage
level in Industry 4.0.

In addition, the Group joins industry associations to keep
abreast of the latest market changes and trends. For
instance, the Nansha Plant has remained an active member
of the IPC Association Connecting Electronics Industries.
The Group will continue to invest in smart manufacturing
capabilities to enhance overall production efficiency.

Customer Satisfaction and Responsibility

The Group is committed to meeting customer needs and
delivering products and services that exceed customer
expectations. To this end, the Group protects the rights
and well-being of the customers with quality assurance
and recall processes, and handles all complaints and
investigations in a prompt and efficient manner.
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Listening to Our Customers

The Group regularly gauges customer satisfaction with our
products and services through surveys and performance
ratings. Based on the results of customer satisfaction
surveys, the Nansha Plant achieved an average customer
satisfaction score of 86 from our customers. The Group
convenes regular meetings to review insights and develop
action plans to better address the issues identified across
the Group.

Handling of Customer Complaints

The Group has established clear protocols and operational
procedures for dealing with customer issues. A resolution
system is in place to address complaints across the
operating units, including a dedicated person from
respective divisions to handle issues within a reasonable
timeframe.

Our marketing team adopts an eight-step methodology
(“8D Method”) in the handling of customer complaints,
which includes detailed investigation and documentation for
each case. The Group received 19 complaints during the
reporting period; all complaints were closed and resolved
through the 8D Method, prompt corrective actions and
preventive measures were implemented accordingly. There
was no product recalled due to safety and health reasons
and no material non-compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group in relation to
product health and safety recorded during the reporting
period.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
ARERRBRE

REEFHER

AEEEHRBAE MAMRKTEER
FPHEMEMMBBMEE - REZP
MEERAENER  mY IHMENTP
MEETHTDR86H - AEBEFEHA R
B AEREBLIERTAHE - AR
HERRBEASERERNEE -

BEEFERF

SEERIAENRT RRIERFREEE
BEFREE ° BlE T HREGIREIE X EE
BEPIMEE - BRSERMFIER—LE
BABEAENKMAEEME -

BT ESE HEERA T 8D EARRA
(I18DFE]) RREEFP &R EHBEHE
AARE REEEREF -  EREHA
SERKIORKF - MARFHIER
8D AR I A - HUERERELT AHIETT
BLIEREE - REHA - REERREM
BERANALRER  WLAREERER
ERWITR HAKREEMERENZEE
HBEATE -

NI 31vH40dd00

NOILVINHO

SY3ATOHIYVHS INO OL

FONVNYIA0D F1vH0d400

SINIWILVLIS TVIONVNIL

Annual Report 2020 €3 105



SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
ARERRERE

Product Quality and Safety

The Group sets high standards for product quality and
reliability, and manufactures products which meet a range
of international standards (e.g., ISO 9001, ISO 13485
and IATF 16949). The Group’s quality control system
covers the entire production process, from the selection of
suppliers, procurement of raw materials, production, quality
and reliability assurance, to maintenance of machineries
and equipment. The following table sets out the major
certifications in respect of our products:

EREEREZSE

Eﬁ@uugiﬁj |$Fﬁﬁ@%uT_LT
BAREIRLE - FTRUERMEMmE /T — R
BIFRAZZE (/51201SO 9001 + I1ISO 134857
IATF 16949) SENEEEFIRFRE

RELEBRE  CREHER  RYAER
BEE- Efgﬂ]"] E IR A E MR
B OXBREZE - TRIIB TR

1FﬁFDDH’]EEKWu\mL 5

| Certification2 %

ISO 13485 Quality Management System for °
Medical Devices

° IATF 16949 Quality Management System for °
Automotive Industry

° UL1446 Electrical Insulation Systems .
° UL Certification for PCB Assembly °
o TUV Certified Manufacturing Facility .
° UL Traceability Requirement for Printed o
oo Sirouit Board Assemblies (Category ZPVI2)
° CCC Product Safety Certification °
o UL High Technology Equipment .

Subassemblies (Category VZQC2)

During different stages of production, the quality control
team undertakes quality assurance inspections on incoming
materials, intermediate products and finished products to
assess their compliance with relevant quality standards as
well as the environmental and safety requirements specified
by our customers. Quality and safety of our products are
controlled through a series of rigorous performance and
quality tests, including laboratory tests, RoHS Directive
spectrum inspections, automatic optical inspections,
burn-in tests, and unit under tests. If the product is found
defective, the team will perform further testing to identify
the defective parts for replacement.

ISO 134858 BERME =2 EIEER

TUVRFE A 238 T R

ENRIEE B& tR 4B {4 B UL AT 38 30 14 2 sk (a5
ZPVI2)

ULARHEER 4R 1 (BBIVZQC2)
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In order to enhance production efficiency and achieve
better product quality, the Group has developed T-MICS, a
manufacturing execution system, which has been applied
throughout the entire production process in the Nansha
Plant since 2009. The system collects real time data and
monitors the achievement of performance targets closely
in relation to production and quality assurance. As one
of the modules of T-MICS, the UL traceability record
system allows the Group to, through the use of QR codes,
efficiently retrieve production data and accurately trace our
raw materials and products to their origins.

Intellectual Property Rights

As a primary holder of numerous patents, the Group is
actively engaged in protecting the novel technologies and
intellectual property (“IP”) used in its operations. The IP
Rights Policy aims to manage and protect the handling
of proprietary information and IP rights in pursuant to
the Enterprise Intellectual Property Management (GB/T
29490-2013), the Patent Law of the PRC, the Trademark
Law of the PRC and the Copyright Law of the PRC.

Our designated IP Team continues to manage the registration
of IP rights, and works closely with the administration
and procurement team to monitor IP protection among
suppliers. Suppliers are required to observe IPs regulations
and act in accordance with the Supplier Code of Conduct
developed by the Group. Any unauthorised use of our IP
rights may give rise to legal liability. During the reporting
period, no case of IP infringement had been identified.

The Group has consistently made registrations of IP
rights for new inventions since the early stages of its
establishment. In 2020, the Group successfully granted
a total of two new patents. As of 31 December 2020, the
Group had obtained a total of 11 issued patents.
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Information Security and Data Privacy

The Group places strong emphasis on information security
and spares no effort in preventing leaks of classified
information and customer data. To this end, the Group
has in place an Information Asset Control Policy to ensure
adequate safeguards for customer and business data as
well as compliance with data protection legislation and
relevant industry-leading standards.

The Group began implementing the ISO 27001 Information
Security Management System in 2018 to ensure effective
enforcement of relevant policies and procedures as well
as better protection of client information and corporate
IP. The IT Department and a dedicated information
security team oversee the quality and consistency of
technology risk management and cybersecurity of the
Group. Relevant control procedures are established to
mitigate security threats and vulnerabilities identified
during the risk assessment processes. To maintain
stable network connection, the Group has developed a
contingency plan and back-up servers in case of network
instability and failures. In terms of technology, the Group
has established internet firewalls, anti-virus systems and
internet authorisation systems to safeguard cybersecurity.

The Group provides basic information security training for all
new hires as part of the orientation process, and conducts
regular refresher training for current staff to strengthen
information security awareness among employees. All
access to customer data is subject to appropriate approvals
and granted on a need-to-know basis, with recertification to
confirm it remains correct. The Group requires all employees
to abide by the Code of Conduct which fully complies
with applicable data protection legislation and industry
guidelines and prohibits them from disclosing customer
information to unauthorised parties.

There was no loss of customer data and privacy identified
or non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group in relation to customer data
protection and privacy was recorded during the reporting
period.
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Advertising and Labelling

The Group has no specific policy in relation to advertising
and labelling of products and services as advertising and
labelling of products and services were considered as
immaterial to the Group’s operation. There was no material
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group regarding advertising
and labelling recorded during the reporting period.

Responsible Supply Chain Management

As one of the leading electronics manufacturers in the
industry, the Group aims to promote a responsible supply
chain and develop stable and long-term relationships with
our suppliers.

All our suppliers are required to comply with relevant laws
and regulations and follow our requirements on business
ethics, ethical conduct, human rights, environmental and
safety compliance as set out in the Supplier Code of
Conduct. As part of the Group’s supply chain management
strategy, we have incorporated the enterprise resource
plan (“ERP”) system, the supplier relationship management
(“SRM”) system and the self-developed T-MICS system to
strengthen unified management of suppliers. Internally, the
Group has strictly formulated and implemented policies
such as the Procurement Procedure and the Guideline on
Supplier Selection and Evaluation.

The Group carefully selects suppliers according to their
overall performance over selection criteria including product
specifications, product compliance, production capacity
and compliance with quality standards (e.g., 1ISO 9001
and |IATF 16949). The Group also encourages suppliers
to develop towards international standards, such as the
SAB8000 social accountability standard, ISO 14001 and ISO
45001 management systems. For specific materials (e.g.,
batteries and packing materials), suppliers are required to
exercise controls over hazardous substances and submit
relevant compliance information in accordance with the EU
RoHS and REACH regulations and customer requirements.
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The Group conducts factory audits and periodic
assessments for suppliers on their quality-related criteria
as well as environmental and social performance. Audit or
post-audit improvement results must meet the requirements
of the Group before suppliers can be included in our list of
qualified suppliers. In cases where suppliers violate laws
and regulations, fail to meet tender requirements, commit
misconduct, or fail to achieve satisfactory results during the
contract period, the Group will downgrade or delist them
from the tender list. During the reporting period, all existing
suppliers passed the on-site supplier audits and became
qualified suppliers.

During the reporting period, the Group had built collaborative
relationships with 691 suppliers in total, the details of which
are as follows:
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The vast majority of our suppliers are from Hong Kong
and the PRC, which accounted for over 77% of our total
suppliers. Other geographical regions include suppliers (less
than 1% each) in Spain, Thailand, Italy, Denmark, Japan,
Malaysia, Belgium, Israel, Canada, India, the Netherlands,
the Philippines, Austria, Ireland and Sweden.
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PEOPLE

The Group aims to create a people-oriented working
environment that is free of discrimination and harassment,
at the same time embraces diversity and prioritises wellness
and safety. We are dedicated to investing in our people and
providing fair opportunities and ample support for them to
thrive as a high-performing team.

Caring for Our People

The Group adheres to principles of legality, fairness,
impartiality, equality, honesty and credibility. The Group
complies with the Labour Law of the PRC, Labour Contract
Law of the PRC and other regulations related to work and
labour practices in enhancing the human resources policies
and protecting the legitimate rights and interests of its
employees.

In recognition of the Group’s efforts in proactively promoting
a harmonious and connected workforce, the Nansha Plant
was awarded “Guangzhou Harmonious Labour Relationship
Enterprise A Level” (A#%) by Guangzhou Municipal Human
Resources and Social Security Bureau, Guangzhou
Federation of Trade Unions, Entrepreneurs Association and
Guangzhou Federation of Industry and Commerce during
the reporting period.

The Group’s ethical standards and expectations for its
employees are clearly set out in the Code of Conduct and
other relevant policies stipulated in the Staff Handbook,
including the principles of human rights, anti-bribery and
conflict of interests, anti-discrimination and proper ways
for the handling of confidential information. Employment
contract clearly stipulates the terms of employment,
wages, benefits and termination clauses. For instance, any
employee who leaves the Group is required to provide a
written notice of termination to the Group.
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Employees are encouraged to engage in two-way
communication with their supervisors and managers
through channels including emails, intranet and hotlines.
A confidential grievance mechanism is in place where
employees can express concerns relating to any unwanted
behaviour or harassment and to report work-related hazards
and hazardous situations without any fear of reprisals.

A number of units are in place to support the Group in
managing different aspects of employment and labour
topics. The Human Resources Unit reinforces and refines
the Group’s human resources policies. The Training
Committee develops annual training plans pertaining to
training needs and employees’ feedback. The Health and
Safety Unit in the Nansha Plant is responsible for monitoring
health and safety performance and mitigating any potential
risks in the daily operations.

The Group respects the rights of employees to join labour
unions, and constantly convenes meetings with the labour
union to discuss issues relating to employee rights and
obligations. No material non-compliance in relation to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods and other benefits and welfare
was recorded during the reporting period.
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Creating an Inclusive Workplace

The Group is committed to creating an inclusive working
environment, which ensures that the employees are treated
equally and justly, and their views are heard and valued.
The Group’s approach to equal opportunity and respective
anti-discrimination practices are clearly outlined in the
Code of Conduct, which states that differential treatment
and harassment is unacceptable, and will therefore not be
tolerated in the workplace. Respective human resources
policies are in place to assure the fairness in respect of
recruitment, employment, job advancement, training and
development, performance assessment and rewards for
both applicants and employees.

At Trio, employees are not discriminated against or deprived
of opportunities on grounds of race, nationality, religion,
physical condition, disability, gender, pregnancy, sexual
orientation, political status, age or any other discrimination
prohibited by applicable laws and regulations. As a
responsible employer, the Group follows the principle of
pay equity and regularly reviews the market information to
set up the competitive pay levels.

The Group holds management review meetings each year
to discuss and review human resources policies; it also
requires relevant units to implement timely improvements
to ensure the rights and benefits of employees. Employees
who are found engaging in discriminatory behaviours
would be subject to disciplinary actions. No material
non-compliance in relation to relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group regarding equal
opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination was recorded
during the reporting period.
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Total Workforce

The Group had a total number of 1,487 employees in the
PRC as of 31 December 2020 (2019: 1,612 employees),
all of which were permanent full-time employees. The total

workforce by gender, age group, and employee grade, are
shown below.

Gender distribution

3:1bani

61%

39%

HMLE h

H 20205128310 A& B #E+
H 51,487% & B (20194 : 1,612% &
8) AR EHES - TEHERRMHE
Al FHRARBETHRAEDNELEE S -

Age group distribution
FiRED M

4% .

28% 68%
Male Female Under 30 Over 50
® 2 o pegid ® 30T o 0-20 ® 5044
Employee grade distribution
EBERD M
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3%
96%

Senior Management

Middle Management

ERERE ® i enE

P Frontline and Other Staff
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New Hires and Turnover

In 2020, the Group hired 385 new employees, the average
monthly recruitment rate was 1.01%. Meanwhile, a total of
512 employees left the Group in the reporting period. The
average monthly turnover rate was 2.34%?2, representing
a reduction of 1.5 percentage points compared with that
of 2019. The reduced staff turnover partially resulted from
the decrease in workforce mobility and uncertain business
conditions due to COVID-19. To acquire and retain the
best talents, the Group continues to review employees’
remuneration packages as well as design and implement
people-oriented policies.

Strategic Talent Centre (“STC”)

Established in 2017, the STC has served as a platform to
recruit and attract talents and professionals in specialised
fields, including engineers, IT technicians, procurement
specialists, accountants and internal auditors. There were
9 employees working at the STC as at 31 December 2020
to engage in software development and enhancement.
As part of the Group’s on-going business strategies, the
Management of the Group will continue to recruit talents
of necessary level and number at the STC for providing
various value-added supports to the Group.

Competitive Remuneration and Benefits Package
The Group provides competitive remuneration and benefits
to employees. The remuneration is reviewed annually
to reflect employees’ performance and contribution as
well as market trends. In addition to basic wages and
overtime pays, the Group provided a one-off allowance to
frontline workers in the Nansha Plant during the reporting
period. The Group cares about the wellness of employees,
and strives to provide a decent working condition and
competitive benefits. These include statutory holidays,
paid annual leaves, social insurance coverage, medical
coverage, marriage leave, paternity leave, lactation break,
and meal allowance offered by the Group. Workers at the
Nansha Plant are entitled to a seniority bonus based on
their length of services.
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Employee Relations

The Group strives to foster a strong sense of belonging
of its staff and ensure that every voice is heard through
transparent communication channels. To this end, the
Group has established employee complaint mailboxes,
message box, hotlines and social media platforms to collect
employee opinions, suggestions, and complaints which
are handled by dedicated personnel promptly. The Group
will continue to keep an open dialogue with its employees
through various channels such as meetings, surveys, and
other platforms. Adequacy of communication is examined
through random sampling surveys and interviews. During
the reporting period, the sampling or interview rate
conducted by the Nansha Plant was 88%.

Amidst COVID-19, the Group prioritised the well-being of
our people and cancelled cultural and recreational activities.
The PRC operation made use of WeChat Work, a widely
used social media platform to communicate the latest
information regarding COVID-19, employee newsletter,
industry knowledge and other useful information to the staff
to maintain positive and healthy employee relations.

Employee Health and Safety

The health and safety of our employees remain the Group’s
top priority. The Group has always been committed to
complying with relevant OHS regulations and facilitating
employee participation to improve upon OHS goals. To this
end, the Group has comprehensive OHS systems, policies
and safety protocols in place to manage relevant issues at
the PRC operation.
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The Health and Safety Committee has oversight of
OHS-related policies, operational controls and performance
and is responsible for the effective implementation of the
ISO 45001 management system within the Nansha Plant.
Safety audits, internal and third-party risk assessments, and
incident investigations are conducted for the operational
processes in the Nansha Plant to identify and eliminate
existing and potential hazards. During the reporting period,
all inspection results adhered to applicable regulations and
standards. No material non-compliance in relation to laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
regarding occupational health and safety was recorded. In
2020, the Group conducted safety audits and discovered
three hidden hazards. All issues were improved within
scheduled periods, achieving an improvement rate of 100%.
The Committee proactively addresses existing risks through
the hierarchy of controls, a systematic system focusing
on eliminating high-risk tasks and improving engineering
controls.

The Committee holds management review meetings each
year to discuss and review health and safety performance as
well as set targets for the next reporting period. There were
no significant changes on the management approaches in
relation to OHS during the reporting period.

Safety protocols have been developed for all production
processes and safeguard the safe storage, labelling,
usage and disposal of hazardous chemicals. The Group
offers several channels through which employees can
submit ideas, OHS concerns or complaints to their
supervisors or managers directly. Workers may remove
themselves from work situations that they believe are
unsafe. Aside from periodic occupational health checks,
workers in occupational hazards positions undergo pre-
and post-employment medical examinations. Fire drills
and chemical spill drills are carried out on a periodic basis
to evaluate the effectiveness of evacuation and clean-up
procedures. Personal protective equipment is distributed to
frontline workers for safety protection pursuant to the Law
of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases and the Production Safety Law of the PRC. During
the reporting period, the Group allocated over RMB60,000
for occupational safety to protect the health and safety of
employees at the Nansha Plant.
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The Group organises general trainings, safety orientation
trainings, specific operation trainings and other relevant
trainings for employees of different levels of seniority
and roles based on legal requirements, standards and
specific risks. During the reporting period, 98.7% of the
staff attended a total of 2,482 hours of health and safety
training sessions, which covered topics such as the safe
handling of hazardous materials, fire safety, industrial safety,
general safety management, first-aid skills, and the safety
management system.

During the reporting period, the Group specifically appointed
qualified persons to carry out inspections and maintenance
for the lightning protection system, fire service installations
and equipment, pressure vessels and escalators at the
Nansha Plant. The Group also hosted fire safety and basic
safety trainings for employees working in the oil immersion
area to enhance their safety awareness.

The Group gives special attention to fire hazards in the
workplace. An on-site fire station is set up at the Nansha
Plant for providing prompt supports in case of fire accidents.
Fire safety is ensured through periodic fire drills, fire safety
training and continuous maintenance of fire installations and
equipment. Four fire drills were held during the reporting
period; all employees evacuated safely and swiftly.

With the Group’s continued focus on workplace safety
through extensive training, hazard identification and risk
assessment, the PRC operation had a low recordable
work-related injury rate of 1.42 accidents per 1,000,000
hours worked during the reporting period. Most of the
work-related injuries were machinery-related injuries and
injuries relating to manual handling. No fatalities of the
Group’s employees have been recorded in the last three
reporting years. The Group conducts incident investigation
and root cause analysis according to the requirements of
local regulations and ISO 45001 management system.
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Food Health and Safety

The Group has its own regulations and traceability system
in place to ensure that food served in the staff canteen is
of high quality and is safe to eat. The regulation provides
guiding principles and stringent standards for staff canteen
operation and management in the areas of quality and
cleanliness. It only purchases food materials that are
fresh, clean and in compliance with all applicable national
standards and regulations. Food samples are kept 48
hours every day for record and testing where necessary.
There were no complaints regarding food quality during the
reporting period.

Our Responses to COVID-19

In view of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has set up
an emergency response team that swiftly responded to the
prevention and control of the virus. The team mobilised
resources from all sides to search and purchase essential
materials including surgical masks, hand sanitisers and
medical gloves for staff at work.

To contain the spread of COVID-19 in the community
and better protect the staff, the Group implemented
precautionary measures that were in line with the national
and local government’s virus control guidelines, which
included,

° adopting flexible and/or remote working arrangements
amongst office-based staff;

° sanitising its facilities more frequently and regularly;

o enforcing social distancing by setting up partitions on
shared tables at staff canteen;

o requiring self-quarantine for staff who have travelled
overseas recently; and

° requiring all staff and guests to wear masks within the
workplace.

The Group closely monitored health conditions of staff and
guests. With the strict implementation of infection control
measures, the Nansha Plant resumed normal operation
soon after the Lunar New Year.
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Development and Training

Employee development is vital to the sustainable growth
of the Group. The Group provides employees with a
wide spectrum of training opportunities to deepen their
professional knowledge in the workplace and equip them
with new skills and industry knowledge that can advance
their careers and support the Group’s operational needs.

Our Training Committee, led by the Board, senior executives
and technical staff, oversees staff training and development
at the PRC operation. The Human Resource and Training
Control Procedure and other supporting policies are
established for the effective implementation of training
strategies.

Depending on individual needs, team-specific goals and
employee feedback, the Committee designs and organises
internal training for staff covering a wide range of topics and
skills, including strategic thinking skills and software-specific
training. Senior executives are sponsored by educational
subsidies to attend external courses in relation to project
management. Apart from classroom training, the Group also
delivers training programmes through e-learning platform.

The Group develops its employees through diversified
learning and development programmes, which include,

a.  Training for new employees — To introduce the Group’s
ethical standards, cultures, rules and regulations,
safety and product-related knowledge on the first day
of employment;

b.  Pre-job training — To familiarise new recruits or transferred
employees with new roles and associated duties;

(o} On-the-job training — To maintain employees’ professional
competencies and to ensure that they keep abreast of
the latest changes and developments in policies, market
and industry; and

d. Professional training — To ensure that employees performing
specific functions obtain the necessary licences.
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During the reporting period, the Group hosted a total of 169 WERRKN  AEERABESEI 71695
internal training sessions for employees. The chart below AEEIIRIE - TRETSSEEIIRED

provides the percentages of training carried out: Bkt
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Eliminating Child and Forced Labours

Child and forced labours are strictly prohibited in the
workplace. Concept relating to prevention of child and
forced labours has been integrated into the Group’s
recruitment principles and processes, which underpins the
Group’s commitment in eliminating human rights violation
within the Group and from supply chains.

Pursuant to the Labour Law of the PRC, the Human
Resources Department verifies the credentials of candidates
and conducts background checks to ensure that each
employee hired by the Group meets the minimum age
requirement.

The Group prohibits unauthorised overtime work. The
employment contract clearly sets out the hours of work
and terms and conditions of employment relating to
overtime work, including the pre-agreed overtime pay rate
for working hours beyond the standard working hours.
Employees working overtime must get prior approval from
line managers.

The Group reviews the human rights policies and procedures
on a regular basis to ensure that it conducts business in
a way that reflects its commitment to supporting and
respecting internationally proclaimed human rights. The
Group complies with applicable laws, regulations and
customer requirements in relation to the prevention of
child and forced labours. There were no non-compliance
incidents regarding child and forced labour within the Group
or our suppliers during the reporting period.
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ENVIRONMENT

The Group has given priority to environmental protection
principles since establishment and simultaneously operates
environmental treatment facilities to ensure that our
wastewater, exhaust emissions, and waste materials comply
with national regulatory requirements.

Environmental Management

The Group is in strict compliance with the national standards
and regulations relating to environmental protection,
including but not limited to:

° Emission Limits of Air Pollutants (DB44/27-2001) of
Guangdong Province;

° Emission Standard of Cooking Fume (GB 18483-2001);

° Discharge Limits of Water Pollutants (DB44/26-2001)
of Guangdong Province;

o Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste

° Standard for fugitive emission of volatile organic
compounds (GB37822-2019); and

° Environmental Protection Tax Law of the PRC.

Beyond compliance, the Group aims to continually improve
the environmental performance of its operations. The Group
has established management procedures and implemented
ISO 14001 management system in daily operations, and
constantly reviews the effectiveness of management
systems to minimise our impacts on the environment.
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Whenever significant environmental impacts are identified
or predicted through assessments and audits, the Group
will implement mitigation measures to reduce environmental
consequences on the natural environment. In terms of
air and wastewater control, the Group has obtained all
necessary discharge permits; and installed electrostatic
precipitators, carbon adsorption systems, grease trap
and wastewater treatment facility. Additionally, the Group
has engaged an environmental engineering company
and continuously employed advanced technologies
for wastewater monitoring and treatment. A dedicated
technician has stationed at the Nansha Plant to monitor
treated effluent quality, ensure discharge compliance and
to and maintenance for the wastewater treatment facility.
When choosing energy-consuming or water-consuming
equipment, the Group places preferences to energy efficient
and water-saving equipment according to its management
policy on energy and resources use. There was no major
non-compliance relating to air and greenhouse gas
(*GHG”) emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. The
Group will continue to explore all possibilities to advance
its environmental management so as to pursue better
environmental performance and minimise environmental
impacts caused by its business operation.
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Emission

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

During the reporting period, the Group’s business activities
contributed to the GHG emission of 4,869.5 tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO,eq.”), mainly carbon
dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide and hydrofluorocarbons.
The overall intensity of the GHG emissions for the Group
was 0.21 tCO,eq./m? with reference to the total floor area of
the Group’s business operations, representing a decrease
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B

BEREHER

WEHAN AEBNEKETHEZRE
REHNE 54,8695 —A1LIRE =
(ItCO,eql) - FER —&(LHx - Fht
—&ZANEREY - HERER
¥BBENREERLE  RMNAERE
BHEMZE RN _Sbixgs T
K B2019F /A T #923% ©

of approximately 23% compared with that of 2019.

Emission Emission Total
Scope of GHG Emissions Sources (in tCO,eq.) Emission(%)
Bk HHRE
REREHRER HERRR (WS thESR) (%)
Scope 1 Direct Emission
HE1 B EHER
Combustion of fuel for stationary source Natural gas 81.1 6%
e E (BER) RAR
Combustion of fuel for mobile sources Petrol 15.9
BREHREE ORB)R) i
Diesel 8.1
S
Refrigerants &4 H 198.0
Scope 2 Energy Indirect Emission
(@)
SRS 258 R I R BE AR $
o
Purchased electricity BBEE 4489.5 92% ]%
>
Scope 3 Other Indirect Emission 5
BRE 3 ft B #E R BK i i
Electricity used for freshwater processing FRR/KEIEHIE 35.3 2% §
(@]
Electricity used for sewage processing FR/5/KEIEMNE 16.7 "
Business air travel EEHRITHIZ 0.5
Paper disposal EE KR 24.4
Group Total £EAE 4,869.5 100%

Note 1: Emission factors were made by reference to Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules and their referred documentation as set out by the
Stock Exchange, unless stated otherwise.

Note 2: Emission factor of 0.80 tCO,/MWh was used for purchased
electricity in Guangdong Province of the PRC.

Note 3: Emission factors of 0.424 kgCO,eq./m*® and 0.2 kgCO,eq./m?
were used for calculating the electricity used for freshwater and

sewage processing respectively.

i1 BRRBFBIN - FREABSRE A EHRA
Figr =+ REEE XM MRS -

i2: EFBRAEBEREFEEENUERBEHK
ZE0.80M — A fLHk KRR E o

i3 RARRKRISKEENE DD BIAES ER
MEAE0.424F R —GfLiE R L HKRK0.2
FROGULIRER LHKRAHE -
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Air Emissions

The Group-owned, fossil-fuelled vehicles were used for daily
business operations and natural gas was consumed for
staff canteen operation, which contributed to the emissions
of nitrogen oxides (“NO,”), sulphur oxides (*S0O, ") and
respiratory suspended particles (“RSP”).

ZRBEHK
ARBEEXBNEEAECAMHESR -
URBTREMEZRARAR  BHA
g1 (INO D) ~ W& t? ([sO, 1) &
AIRABZR T ([RSP]) HOBERK

Air emissions (non-GHG) from stationary and mobile combustion

BENBBRBEELENZRIER GERERE)

Fuel source Usage NO, (in kg) RSP (in kg) SO _(in kg)
CILSON

agw BEH T mEey
BREL SRR Jizk=s (Fx=) (F=) (Fm=)
Natural gas RAR, For staff canteen operation 6.10 N/A 0.02

ARETIREZE TEA

Petrol and diesel [ K4 For vehicles FAEE & 29.89 0.71 0.14
Total #E2 35.99 0.71 0.16

Note:  Emission factors for calculations on environmental parameters
throughout the report were made reference to Appendix 27 of the
Main Board Listing Rules and their referred documentation as set
out by Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, unless stated

otherwise.

Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group endeavours to identify sources of high energy
consumption, material consumption and environmental
pollution in its plant and implement measures for
improvement, ensuring compliance with the Cleaner
Production Promotion Law of the PRC.

Waste gas generated in the course of the Group’s business
activities mainly include exhaust discharged during the
combustion of fuels, volatile organic compounds (“VOCs”)
discharged during the use of solvent-based paint by the
plant and oily fume emitted during the cooking processes
in the staff canteen operation.

i BREEHRAN  AREEXPARGFERER
BOFRARBI2REBBERGREEMBER R
Al CEMR _ETTAR B BT 8727 R B 38 5E A T
B o

Tl B 4 B
AEBRBERTHASER  SWEHE
FBEBRFESEANRE  TRRKERE
it MERT AP BB REERER)
FRRE °

EEEXBEETELNERTIZEEM
BB ER - TRERAHE 2
P EREAEICEY (TVOCs]) bAK
ETREIRRMBRT HHIRAVHLE -
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The Group proactively adopts different air pollution control
measures, including installation of activated carbon
absorption devices for treatment of VOCs and adoption of
electrostatic precipitators for removal of exhaust fume. In
order to meet the latest requirements of VOCs regulations,
the Group has conducted routine maintenance of VOCs
treatment facilities and replaced activated carbon more
frequently for higher removal efficiency of VOCs.

Apart from the stringent control on VOCs emission, the
Group also keeps track of employees’ business air travels
and avoids travelling by air whenever possible to reduce
GHG emissions. The use of online conferencing tools, such
as Zoom, Microsoft Teams, and WeChat are encouraged
for meetings with colleagues, customers, suppliers, and
business partners to reduce travelling. GHG emissions
associated from business travels had been significantly
dropped by 58% when compared with the last reporting
period.

Climate Change

To respond to climate change impacts, the Group has
identified the key risks and opportunities that climate
change has brought to its business operations, and
developed relevant strategies to minimise climate risks in
its operations. Climate risks include disruption of production
as well as damage to production base, raw materials
and products caused by extreme weather, flooding and
typhoons, etc. To better cope with extreme weather
events, the Group has put in place the Management Rules
for Severe Weather Preparedness and Response, and
purchased property liability insurance for its properties. To
reduce carbon emissions, the Group has actively adopted
different approaches, including initiatives to reduce waste,
conserve energy and water, and enhance environmental
awareness.

In contrast, the renewable energy programmes and policies
in the PRC and Europe have brought business opportunities
to the Group. The rapid evolution of the electric-vehicle
market and changes in consumer preference enable the
Group to develop towards low-carbon products. Particularly,
the Group has been providing smart charging solutions
through its self-developed brand “DELTRIX” in Europe.
The Group has also expanded its production capacity and
upgraded existing production facilities to prepare for future
opportunities.
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Waste Management

During the reporting period, the Group generated a total of
8.5 tonnes of hazardous waste during various production
activities, contributing to an intensity of 0.37 kg/m?,
a substantial increase of 106% compared with the
last reporting period. Organic solvent waste, organic
solvent-containing waste and others were the major
constituents which made up about 81% of the total amount
of hazardous waste. The figure below shows the breakdown
of hazardous waste generated and the treatment methods.

BEYER

WEHRR - AEEESBEETH P EE
A T8OMEBEREREY - HEWE R0.37T
ROFEFK L E—SREHAREBENT
106% ° B IR BEY) &5 78 #OA 7 1) RE
MIREM  REBEEEEWBRENST1% -
TEEREEEENN D BMEBIRTTE -

Hazardous Waste generated in FY2020

2020 IR FEELENEEREY
Waste
Type of Hazardous Wastes Generated (%) Hazardous Waste Treatment Method

BEBRRMER EEBER(%)

BEBRRNEETLE

Others (i.e., metal containers for thinner
and paint; cloths and activated carbon)
Hit (AIBRERBANERNEBAR
n EOE1ER)

Organic solvent waste &
organic solvent-containing waste

BRRBEBENE S AERAENED

Qil/water or hydrocarbon/
water mixtures or emulsion

W OKEIREEA Y KRR MHIR

Mineral oil waste & mineral oil-containing waste

TR EEY) S SR E BE )

Mercury-containing waste

BREN

Organic resin waste

AR

Grand total
25t

52%

29%

12%

5%

1%

1%

100%

Returned to suppliers for proper washing
and reuse; incineration
ZOHERETESENEANMER b

Physical and chemical treatment
BArERIE

Physical and chemical treatment
it

Physical and chemical treatment/reuse
after washing

BilhgE ErkER

Chemical treatment

(=15

Incineration %1k,
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The Group generated a total of 65.9 tonnes (2.88 kg/m?)
of non-hazardous waste during the reporting period.
Food waste, generated from the staff canteen operation,
continued to be the largest component of domestic waste
and was transferred to designated recycling and treatment
facilities for further processing. Other recyclable materials
(including waste packaging and raw materials) were either
sent to recyclers or suppliers.

Waste Reduction and Initiatives

The Group aims to prevent generation of hazardous
waste through adoption of advanced technologies and to
minimise non-hazardous waste generation (mainly paper
and food waste) at source whenever possible. The Group
has waste management policy to regulate the collection,
storage, disposal and treatment of different types of
wastes. Hazardous wastes with appropriate labelling are
temporarily stored on-site and transferred to licensed
collectors for further handling. During the reporting period,
the Group generated 0.1 tonne of oil-containing cloths, a
50% reduction compared with the last reporting period.

The Nansha Plant actively promotes source separation of
domestic waste and has been listed as a demonstration unit
for waste sorting in Dongchong Town, Nansha District. To
support the local government’s waste management plan,
the Nansha Plant replaced all rubbish bins with waste
separation bins and set up designated waste collection
points at the plant during the reporting period. The Nansha
Plant organised various activities jointly with trade union
and government authority to raise employees’ awareness
on waste recycling and source separation.
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Reducing Paper Waste

The Group tracks paper usage and distributes paper
according to the monthly paper consumption of different
divisions/departments. During the reporting period, a total
of 5.09 tonnes of paper had been used for the Group’s daily
office operation for the printing of documents, contracts,
order forms, technical drawings and meeting notes, which
had been reduced by 13% compared with the last reporting
period. To develop towards a paperless office, the Group
continues to promote electronic administrative procedures
as well as the use of telecommunication. The Group also
reduces paper consumption by:

o using recycled paper;

o adopting double-sided printing; and

° maintaining printers, copiers, and fax machines to
avoid wastage of paper due to poor printing quality.

Recycling bins are placed at office areas to advocate
paper recycling. Office waste paper involving confidential
information was shredded and disposed of. Waste paper
packaging materials were collected by licensed recyclers
for recycling.

Reducing Waste from Canteen

In the canteen operation, the Group has fully phased out the
use of disposable tableware. Food purchase is managed
through the self-developed ordering system. Employees
must order their meals through the digital ordering system,
enabling the Group to more accurately estimate food
portion needs and reduce food waste at source. Employees
can also order smaller portions according to their needs
to avoid food wastage. The Group had not separately
recorded the total amount of food waste generated or
reduced, therefore results achieved from reducing canteen
waste were not available.
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Energy Management

Total Energy Consumption

The total energy consumption of the Group was 6,058
MWh during the reporting period (2019: 7,452 MWh). The
administration department keeps track of the Group’s
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REREE

HBEERUHE

HEHA - AEBE M ARREIRE 56,058
KRB (2019%F : 7,452 K B ) » TTEEB
FIg IR MR B ARETROBFE - WRBETRBFE

energy consumption and will notify related divisions/ EEE - BeBAMAEIN - ARNE %
departments if there is unusual increase in energy AR RRNBERKIRO02.1%) - KN&EE §
consumption. As electricity remained the largest energy SR EEEE BRI BitS BRI e :ﬁ
source (92.1%), the Group closely monitors its electricity TRREEN - R THEE - mZ
consumption and implements various efficient energy use : %
initiatives as described in the below sections. =

(@]

=z

Sources of Energy Consumption (kWh, %)
BERURFE (TR %)

393,534 o)
6.5% =
Natural gas W o
8 >
‘j'r' By
= m
52,732 ® T
0.9% o
5,582,506 o i
92.1% =, -
Electricity

E 29,598

0.5%

Diesel
Lo o
(@]
3
(@)
=
gﬁi -
o)
Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives BILRER M EE Dg}; S
. , N - m
The administration department, the electrical and FTECERFT - #E B A A K% 1% BB P9 175 0 8t =
mechanical technicians and the logistics department have PEBE BEHREWMREL I mE CJZ:
S

been working together to avoid wastage of fuel due to
malfunctioned or deteriorated equipment, generators
and vehicles. Pipeline infrared laser detection is used for

BORFDRE o BN BALINCRAE
B LADDRR - MEHA - RARE B
BELEHBREERE -

detection of pipeline leakage. There have been no quality
issues or leakages identified in the natural gas pipelines and
equipment during the reporting period.

G
SINIWILVLS TVIONVNIL
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The production areas are fitted with energy efficient
LED lighting system which uses less energy than that
of traditional. To conserve more energy resources, the
Group has controlled lightings and temperature of air
conditioners, and used evaporative coolers rather than air
conditioners in the staff canteen. At the Nansha Plant, an
electricity monitoring system was installed to track real-time
electricity consumption and to identify abnormal electricity
consumption patterns at the earliest stage. Monthly energy
data is reviewed and analysed regularly to further explore
the possibility of energy savings. Compared with the last
reporting period, the annual electricity consumption reduced
by 20%, resulting in a drop in electricity consumption
intensity from 304 kWh/m? to 244 kWh/m?2.

Water Resource Management

Total Water Consumption

Freshwater consumed for daily business operations is
supplied by municipal freshwater supplier. Water is mainly
used for domestic use and the daily operation of staff
canteen. During the reporting period, the Group’s total
water consumption was 83,290 m?, contributing to a water
consumption intensity of 3.64 m%m?2 (2019: 4.10 m%m?2).
The Group did not encounter any issues in sourcing water
that is fit for the purpose of its daily operation.

Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

Although the Group’s business operations are not water
intensive, we aim to continuously improve our water
management practice and foster water conservation
awareness among our employees. The Group has
assigned key personnel to conduct regular inspections and
maintenance of the water supply network in a bid to reduce
water wastage whenever possible. Water sub-meters are
installed at different production units which allow for more
effective monitoring of water usage and thereby facilitate
the assessment of water use patterns. Compared with
the last reporting period, the annual water consumption
reduced by 11%, resulting in a drop in water consumption
intensity from 4.10 m%/m? to 3.64 m3/m?2.

AEREBRZETHESBRARSERN
LEDRRER R %t - MABEIRERE - BEIEE
ZegelR  SEEERARERALE &
BTREMFARELASMIETA - B
DI BETENERKEE  UBEHRE
REERE  TEREBRBRETNE N ER
B - ERE EotTE AgeRENE - %
MiE—PHRFTETREMAIIT AR o B F—3f
LHEE  FEEFENHEHERD T20%
EEREREMRIATEE FHABRE
QA4TRBE /K o

KEFREE

HRKE

B % ¥ 5B (55 A R A K B T BUA K &
AR FEERNBEAREIREN
AEEE - REHAN - EFENLAKE
£88,2903 7 K © FEIKEE BB3.643L /5
K7 K (20194 : 41032 5 K/ F
FK) - EREAEMNATEERKAA
RABEEAIRRE -

B RKMEREE
BEAKBENEBEELERERK A
KM EENERNERER - W& E
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Wastewater Management

Wastewater is treated on-site until it meets discharge
standards, after which it enters the municipal wastewater
treatment system for further treatment and disinfection. The
management of the on-site wastewater treatment facility
is outsourced to a professional environmental engineering
company. The engineering company is responsible for the
routine inspection, maintenance and stable operation of the
wastewater treatment facility. During the reporting period,
the treated effluent met the permitted discharge limits as
set out in the statutory effluent discharge standard.

Packaging Material

With our customers’ agreement, the Group adopts
eco-friendly packaging materials, which include carton
boxes and wooden boxes that are made of recycled
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materials. During the reporting period, the Group consumed ENBEME - BEAR - KRME - & S
a total of 564 tonnes of packaging materials for product FEEE BHABNBR - BREEEA ;é
packaging, which comprises paper, wooden crates, 0.02W8 /F 7K » th E—{E=REHIA0.03 ié
cushioning sponge, plastic blisters and plastic bags. The Mg, FHAKTBET18% ° 52
consumption intensity was 0.02 tonnes/m?, a 18% decline S ;
compared with the last reporting period’s figure of 0.03 E
tonnes/m?2. .
The chart below shows the breakdown of packaging TEERRBEEMSENREMEER
materials used, by material. BR4H o

Annual Packaging Materials Consumption, by Material (%)

FEZSEERMBERE (%)

HEED
JONVNYIN0D ILvH0dH00

tonnes A

G
SINIWILVLS TVIONVNIL
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SOCIAL PARTICIPATION

The Group is committed to be a responsible corporate
citizen and takes initiative to support local activities, care
for the underprivileged and improve the relationships with
nearby communities through employee volunteering and
employment supports. During the reporting period, Trio
Engineering Company Limited is awarded the Caring
Company Logo for the first time by the Hong Kong Council
of Social Service, recognising the Company’s contributions
in caring for the community.

Poverty Alleviation

In line with the government policies, the Group has
extended its efforts into poverty alleviation projects in
designated regions of the PRC. During the reporting period,
the Group purchased locally grown agricultural products
from the Guizhou province to help improve the living
conditions of the farmers in Guiding County.

Local Recruitment

The Group always pays attention to the employment
situation in which it operates in. During the reporting period,
the Nansha Plant created a total of 35 job opportunities for
the residents of Shiji Village.

oL
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APPENDICES 7. HI&%
Appendix | - Key Performance Summary Mitk— — BRENEE
Environmental Performance RIBEN
Environmental IRiE Unit E{z 2020
(@]
Air Pollutant Emissions %= 5 ¥ BE 2
o
Nitrogen Oxides & =(L¥(“NO,”) kgT = 35.99 .
Sulphur Oxides  Fr&(L#)(SO,”) kgT 5 0.16 m =
e}
Respiratory Suspended Particles kgF = 0.71 2
AR ABF KT (“RSP”) =
=z
GHG Emissions B ZEREHEHK
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) tCO2eq. 303.1
EEAEREHMN (#K1) Wi — S|tk £
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) tCO2¢eq. 4,489.5 N
MEREREN (HE2) MR iRE = o
N c
Other indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3) tCO2eq. 76.9 f o
N ! N i - o = T
Hith f 508 = REBHE AT (88053) WS tiEE 2>
= m
Total GHG Emissions tCOzeq. 4,869.5 5 O
BRERBEN WE—SE(LIRE & E
GHG emission intensity tCO2eq./m? 0.21 ’
BERBHMEE WS LiREE Tk
Waste EEY
Total hazardous waste generated t W 8.5 .
EEBEBEEYES 8
o
- intensity #=E kg/m? 0.37 J%
Fr/FIK G
mE
Total non-hazardous waste generated t WA 65.9 i3 i
EEEEEEYES z
=z
—intensity ZHE kg/m2 2.88 =)
Fr/FEHK
Energy Consumption BEEH#E
Electricity & kWh T LB 5,582,506
Natural gas RAR m? K 39,823 g
kWh T ELB% 393,534 8
o=
Petrol T L 2&F 5,951 59
M=
KWh TR 52,732 i
m
Diesel %53 L A 2,960 =
kWh TR 29,598
Total energy consumption #BEEREFE MWh 6,058
- energy intensity BEREE MWh/m? 0.26
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ARFERREE
Environmental IRiE Unit E{z 2020
Water Consumption 3£k
Total water consumption 4 FE7K m? K 83,290
- water intensity KEE m?/m? 3.64
Packaging Material Consumption & RHE%E
Paper #X kg T 396,809
Wood 7K kg T 100,567
Plastic 2B kg T& 44,427
Sponge §43 kg T 22,384
Total packaging material consumption t W 564
BEMEERAS
—intensity &E t/m? 0.02
WK
Notes: it
1. Emission factors were made reference to Appendix 27 to the Main 1. BREABRBIN  HRBHIL2BEER P R
Board Listing Rules and their referred documentation as set out by HIARARCER ETRAD 27 R EiE
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, unless stated otherwise. EXmimE -
2. Emission data in 2020 was calculated with updated emission factors 2 2020 F MHFM A B IR AR B MERIIGZE
available at the time of report preparation. FRIBERE -
3. Emission factor of 0.80 tCOz/MWh was used for purchased electricity 3. EPEAEEREMBEES HAES SRS
in Guangdong Province of the PRC. RE0.80ME—Ebhx K EEFRTHE -
4. Emission factors of 0.424 kgCOzeq./m® and 0.2 kgCOzeq./m? were 4. FRRKK KB E 5 BIAE A B BE

used for calculating the electricity used for freshwater and sewage
processing respectively.

MEH0.424F 7 —EfLikE® 7 75K K%0.2
FTR-SImEE, ST HKTE -
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Social Performance BEN
Total Workforce #%& /5 Unit EfI 2020
Group total BB no. of people  AZX 1,487
By employment contract' Z{EREH Male 2 FemaleZ -
Permanent & no. of people A%l 574 913 %
Temporary/Fixed term  E&EF /& E T EH] no. of people  AZI - - S %
Full-time 2B no. of people A% 574 913 % ?
Part-time  3H no. of people  AZI = = %
By geographical region ®ittE §
Mainland China /B K& no. of people  A(%) 1,487 (100.0%)
By gender %1%
Male 3 no. of people  AZ(%) 574 (38.6%)
Female 72 no. of people  AZi(%) 913 (61.4%) §
By age group ZERARI :‘ %
Below 30 no. of people A (%) 420 (28.2%) z D
30T O
30—50 no. of people A £i(%) 1,007 (67.7%) §
Over 50 no. of people  A(%) 60 (4.0%)
5004 +
By employee grade Z{EERK
Senior management SREEE no. of people  AE{(%) 18 (1.2%) 3
Middle management A B E no. of people  AZ(%) 49 (3.3%) %
Frontline staff and others R4z 8 T & E no. of people  A1(%) 1,420 (95.5%) =
New Hire and Employee Turnover Unit E{7 2020 New Hire? 2020 Turnover* %
FEIREERAE 2020518 T 20207 % % 2
Group total EEAE no. of people A% 385 511 §
Average monthly rate & A F#5=% % 1.01 1.75
By geographical region ZitE
Mainland China A B8 A BE no. of people A Zk(%) 385 (25.9%) 511 (34.4%)
By gender %M 7l ;
Male 5 no. of people  AZi(%) 200 (34.8%) 261 (45.5%) f
Female % no. of people A £i(%) 185 (20.3%) 250 (27.4%) g
By age group ZERARI 2
Below 30 no. of people  AZ(%) 250 (59.5%) 294 (70.7%) §
304
30— 50 no. of people  AZi(%) 135 (13.4%) 206 (20.5%)
Over 50 no. of people  A%(%) - 11 (18.3%)
5004+
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Parental Leave EBEZR Unit Efy 2020

Male % Female
Paternity leave entitlement FEER no. of people A% 574 913
Employees that took parental leave no. of people A 18 70
mELBMES
Employees that returned to work in no. of people  AZX 18 68
the reporting period after parental
leave ended
WEBAKE BRERL TEEMUNES
Employees that returned to work after no. of people A% 15 64
parental leave ended that were still
employed 12 months after their
return to work
WELBRERL e E
XE12EANES
Return to work rate 3% [ TYERIfI L & % 100.0 97.1
Retention rate B fFtt & % 46.9 91.4
Occupational Health and Safety Unit Efu 2020
BEegpEz2
Total man hours worked 42T {EF Hours /)N 4,218,502
Number of recordable work-related injuries® cases = 6
DR GOREE e =
Recordable work-related injury rate per 1,000,000 working hours 1.42
BN TEEML R 1,000,000 LB
Recordable work-related injury rate per 1,000 employees® 4.03
BESE SO NRCE (i §1,0004E8
Number of high-consequence cases 0
work-related injuries
BREIBENEE
High-consequence work-related injury rate’ per 1,000,000 working hours 0
BRETBEHLE 1,000,000 LB
Number of lost days® {8% B days H 22.8
Number of occupational diseases cases 0
B rBEROEE
Occupational disease rate per 1,000,000 working hours 0
BIBERLE 1,000,000 LB
Number of work-related fatalities cases 0
EIRTAH
Fatality rate  JLT-% per 1,000,000 working hours 0

1,000,000 LF
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AHERRBRE
Development and training Unit E{y 2020
BRI
Average training hours per employee EEEFHZIRE
Total training hours hours /N 10,811
BEY S
Average training hours hours /] 7.3 :%S
TE I E
By gender MRl :’ qij
Male £ hours/employee /I EE 5.8 §
Female X hours/employee /I, EE 8.2 2
By employee grade RESRR
Senior management &R EE B hours/employee /i, EE 2.2
Middle management HREEE hours/employee /)& BB 4.3 -
Frontline staff and others hours /¥ 7.4 §
MRS TREM 2o
Percentage of employees trained EEZ:IESL %
All employees % 99.4% E
FEESR 3
By gender %145l :
Male 5 % 98%
Female % % 100%
By employee grade Z{ESRA §
Senior management B ELE % 89% jc;é
Middle management FAEHE % 98% g
Frontline staff and others % 100% i
ARE T REM 5
&
S

SINIWILVLS TVIONVNIL
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New hire rate refers to total number of new hire in the specific group
per the total number of employees of the corresponding group.

Turnover rate refers to total number of employee turnover in the
specific group per the total number of employees of the corresponding
group.

The definition of employee turnover refers to employees who leave
the Group voluntarily or due to retirement, dismissal or other reasons.

Recordable work-related injury refers to work-related injury that
results in any of the following: death, days away from work, restricted
work or transfer to another job, medical treatment beyond first aid,
or loss of consciousness; or significant injury or ill health diagnosed
by a physician or other licensed healthcare professional.

Injury rate per 1,000 employees = Total number of injury x 1000/Total
workforce

High-consequence work-related injuries refer to work-related injury
that results in a fatality or in an injury from which the worker cannot,
does not, or is not expected to recover fully to pre-injury health status
within 6 months.

Lost days refer to sick leave due to all types of work-related injuries.

14() TRIOINDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED |2 T ¥ EF£@MAR A

Anti-discrimination % Unit Bz 2020
Number of incidents of discrimination no. of cases RE 0
IFRE R
Anti-corruption RE’S Unit E{y 2020
Concluded legal case regarding no. of cases R 0
corrupt practices
EEEZBERRARNS
Suppliers by Geographical Region Unit E{y 2020
R EE S HHERS F
Mainland China AP Bl A no. 2E (%) 323 (46.7%)
Hong Kong &7 no. #E (%) 214 (31.0%)
the United Kingdom % no. EE (%) 48 (7.0%)
Taiwan && no. EE (%) 24 (3.5%)
the United States < no. EE (%) 19 (2.7%)
Germany 1= no. 2E (%) 14 (2.0%)
Singapore  #T N3 no. 8 (%) 11 (1.6%)
France J%E no. £H (%) 7 (1.0%)
Korea % no. #E (%) 7 (1.0%)
Others  HiAth no. £H (%) 24 (3.5%)
Notes: &
1. The Group did not hire seasonal and part-time employees during the 1. MEHR ANEBREERSOMRERS
reporting period. T

¥R TR 2SR EARIMH B T A BB A
ERARINE THBE -

MR RN BRI B TR 5K ) 48 2R LASE
FEAERINE THBE -

BTRARER T B BB EIRIK - R {E
SEMREAMBFAANKENRT -

FIRLER A TR EMRER TH M E A T ER
—EER T - PRELETIBUR - RS TIER
HIS—HTE BRIZHRAIMBRLE
HREME KRB EHEMFEERRES

RO RBEBEIRETR

F1,000% 1 B W) 218 =% 15 F I 4 Hx
1000,/ 48 H

BETBERRERSRTIEERMEZET

FEHT AENRER AT - RERFERER
TR IRERIZBATEFKT

BATHERRERNSELBEMHRR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

.

pwc

To the Members of Trio Industrial Electronics Group
Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Trio Industrial Electronics
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 164 to 259, which comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHMEE

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the net
realisable value assessment of inventories.

Key Audit Matter
BREITSE

Net realisable value assessment of inventories

RENER

BB R EEBE A REG N (FER
RA) ((BABHEH ) BT © RIVER
SRR TAENRECEARE [RUDHE
SHE AU RR ARG EE] B HIEE 5
Wi -
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B ABRMANETERIRHEER -

Bt
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C WEBITTRAITHEMERBERMT -

FREETEH

RRETFHIRBEAMNEXZAE  RY
TG AN BHRERNEARAERNFTHE &
LERRAERMBEFEBSRAMBRRIRLA
EARETREN - HMITeHELFREMR
BBENER -

RAERFTIINEARBSFARANETR
BRI IR R {E RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EST MR EEAREETSE

Our procedures in relation to the net realisable value

assessment of inventories included:

Refer to notes 4(b) and 17 to the consolidated e
financial statements.

Understanding and evaluating of management’s
key internal controls in relation to inventory
costing and the net realisable value assessment
and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or

fraud;
FENATSRFETMG B FEN AR FET HETHEFEE -
BRI A BRI F40) %17 e THMEKIEEEEFBFERARGFIEREE
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Key Audit Matter
BREENER

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has inventories
of HK$133 million, which were stated at lower of cost
and net realisable value.

The determination of net realisable value required
judgement to be made by management on the
estimated selling price, estimated cost to completion
and other cost necessary to make the sale including
but not limited to marketing, selling and distribution
costs.

We focused on this area because of the significance
of the balances and the judgements and estimates
involved.

R-ZE-ZTF+_-_A=+—H EEENHFERI33E
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHMEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EST MR EEARETSEE

° Tested, on a sample basis, whether invoiced costs
for raw materials have been correctly recorded
and that the allocation of directly attributable costs
has been correctly calculated;

e Assessed the reasonableness of estimated selling
price determined by management by testing, on
a sample basis, the sales subsequent to the year
end. If subsequent sales were not available, we
compared the estimated selling price against the
most recent selling price prior to the year end and
assessed the impact of recent price trends for
these inventories;

° Assessed the reasonableness of (i) the estimated
costs to completion by comparing to the historical
costs to completion and (ii) other costs (including
marketing, selling and distribution) by comparing
to costs incurred in previous years.

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that the risk assessment of net realisable value
assessment of inventories remained appropriate
and the judgements and assumptions used by
management in determining the net realisable value of
inventories were supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHMEE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHMEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHMEE

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Kam Chin.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 March 2021

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZBMEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEtERER
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—Z-_EF+_-_A=+—HItFE
2020 2019
—ECEF —ET-NEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Kzt FET FHET
Revenue W zs 6 701,699 808,599
Cost of sales HEM AR 7 (519,212) (617,546)
Gross profit EF 182,487 191,053
Other income, net H U A JF 58 6 3,427 5,400
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHER 7 (13,098) (22,082)
Administrative expenses THRX 7 (121,948) (132,378)
Other operating expenses, net HEMas My $5 7 (6,723) (5,930)
Profit from operations LS H 44,145 36,063
Finance expenses, net S F 5 10 (6,450) (11,752)
Profit before income tax B P45 5 A1 A 37,695 24,311
Income tax expense FrigFim < 11 (8,814) (1,954)
Profit for the year F A E 28,881 22,357
Other comprehensive (expense)/income HEem (), WaE
Items that will not be reclassified AT SEH S EE
subsequently to profit or loss: HEmmEA -
Fair value (losses)/gains on revaluation of EE T REFHAFEE
land and building, net of tax (B18), /s (F0FiE) (1,650) 630
Currency translation differences PEH =58 772 (40)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FERNEMEE (X)), R
for the year, net of tax (30%i1&) (878) 590
Total comprehensive income for the year FRNEEWEBE 28,003 22,947
Earnings per share HRxAT
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) — EARREE CFN) 12 2.89 2.24

The notes on pages 168 to 259 are an integral part of these

financial statements.

B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BRI &

As at 31 December 2020 W-ZE-_EF+_-_A=+—H
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H 31v40d400

TAAD
IA09D

2020 2019
i —hEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Hiat F#ET FHET
Assets EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment YE - BB R 14 53,678 58,375
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 35 23,200 21,657
Financial assets at fair value BAFEF ABREED
through profit or loss TREE 15 13,854 8,621
Prepayment ﬁETTmA 19 1,864 1,897
Deferred tax assets L%RIE:%E 26 - 214
92,596 90,764
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 5E 17 132,931 145,095
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b e Uz 8 18 183,044 156,635
Prepayments and deposits FE RIE KR d 19 29,791 18,876
Restricted bank deposits R BRI TR 20 6,139 6,186
Bank and cash balances RITRIRS 8 20 99,216 97,679
451,121 424,471
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAFERFIR 21 129,788 118,507
Contract liabilities aHaE 5 3,453 2,964
Borrowings (BN 22 8,750 11,852
Lease liabilities — current HEBE - &Y 35 9,207 6,597
Finance lease payables BE SN RIR 23 - 43
Current income tax liabilities BNHAFTIS i & & 7,662 2,191
158,860 142,154
Netcurrentassets ~ *®H#EEFE 202,261 282,317
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERRBERS 384,857 373,081
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities — non-current HERE - IERD 35 16,105 16,492
Deferred tax liabilities BELEHIBAR 26 3,947 4,098
20,052 20,590
Net assets BEFE 364,805 352,491
Equity =
Share capital L 24 281,507 281,507
Reserves Gl 27 83,298 70,984
Total equity EREEE 364,805 352,491

The financial statements on pages 164 to 259 were approved
by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2021 and were signed

on its behalf

Lai Yiu Wah
RyEE

Director

EZE

The notes on pages 168 to 259 are an integral part of these

financial statements.
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Tai Leung Lam
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Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—Z-_EF+_-_A=+—HItFE

Currency Share
Share Other Statutory translation Revaluation ~ option Retained
Note  capital ~reserve  reserve reserve reserve  reserve  profits Total
Wit R EtRE  ERRE EifiG Efffie BRERE REEA At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FEr FiEr Fir FE7 Fér FEr FEr  TEn

Balance at 1 January 2020 R-Z-55-f-REk 281,507 (125,162) 13,231 (150) 20,724 7,039 155302 352,491
Revaluation deficit on land and bulding T REFEREH - - - - (1,831) - - (1,881
Tax effect of revaluation deficit Bt EUHGYE - - - - 181 - - 181
Realisation of revaluation deficit, EREMREY (NHK)

net of tax - - - - (691) - 804 113
Currency transaction differences EBR5ER - - - 2 - - - 2
Contributions by/{distribution to) FLARENES

owners of the company: (BARTEEAELH) -
Appropriation of statutory reserve EEEEER - - 1474 - - - (1474) -
Equity-settled share-based payment WEREERRHAER

transaction [Fe2% % - - - - - 198 - 198
Cancellation of share options hERE - - - - - (131 1,287 -
Profit for the year ERaf - - - - - - 28881 28,881
Dividends paid BARE 13 - - - - - - (16,000) (16,000)
Balance at 31 December 2020 R-Z-FE+-A=1-H

B 281,507 (125,162) 14,705 622 18,383 - 174750 364,805

Balance at 1 January 2019 RZZ-NE-A-R&H 281,507 (125,162) 6,077 (110) 20,786 3,698 165099 351,895
Revaluation surplus on land and buiding T REFERRE - - - - 699 - - 699
Tax effect of revaluation surplus EfRATRTE - - - - (69) - - (69)
Realisation of revaluation surplus, EREERS (NFHK)

net of tax - - - - (692) - 808 116
Currency transaction differences EURAEE - - - (40) - - - (40)
Contributions by/{distribution to) TLARENES

owners of the company: (RARTEEAELAIE) -
Appropriation of statutory reserve EEEEER - - 7154 - - - (7154) -
Equity-settled share-based payment WEREERRHAER

transaction (7825 % 8 = - = - 353 - 353
Forfeiture of share options R RE - - - - - (192) 192 -
Profit for the year ERE - - - - - - 0BT 237
Dividends paid EfHE 13 - L - - - - B000) (26,000
Balance at 31 December 2019 R=Z-NE+-A=1-H

e 281,507 (125,162) 13,231 (150) 20,724 7,089 155,302 362,491

The notes on pages 168 to 259 are an integral part of these #168E 2598 M it A A %R E T Al 5 F
financial statements. o e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEHRERER
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—Z-_ZTF+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2020 2019
—E-EF ZTNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
et FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETBRERE
Cash generated from/(used in) operations LSRG (FA) RS 30() 50,861 (10,882)
Finance costs BLE A A (7,324) (13,040)
Income tax paid EFER (2,986) (749)
Net cash generated from/(used in) KESEENATES (FR )
operating activities RE TR 40,551 _ (24,667)
Cash flows from investing activities RETEBRERE
Net decrease in restricted bank deposits ZBRFIERITIE BB A F 5 47 1,928
Interest income FLEWA 874 1,245
Investment income TERA 139 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BERRE (8,797) (19,302)
Purchase of key man insurance BEZERR = (1,944) -
Purchase of fund and BEES R FTRAKRE 5
listed equity investments (9,312) - %
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEWE - BERELE %
plant and equipment Fr5 3R = 304 ‘ -
Settlement on derivative financial instruments T4 4RI T B4EE - (2,245) ?
Proceeds from disposal of HE ETRAKRER
listed equity investments Fr8 3R 4,435 -
Net cash used in investing activities wELYMAReFE (12,614) (20,014)
Cash flows from financing activities METBRERE
Proceeds from borrowings (B P18 20R 30(b) 10,000 87,000 S
Repayments of borrowings RS 30(b) (12,259) (57.489)
Repayments of finance lease payables EiErEHEENMNFIE 30(b) (43) (823) > 5
Dividends paid B E (16,000) (26,000) ) 3
Principal elements of lease payments HENROASI D 30(b) (7,937) (5,355) * wjg
Net cash used in financing activities mETMAREFE 0 (26,239) (52,667) /;
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash ReRkReEFED -
equivalents #mnCRd) F5E 1,698 (97,348)
Effect of foreign currency rate change SNEE H IR E B B 680 (50)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BREE2 K
ReSED 96,838 194,236 .
Cash and cash equivalents at RT-—A=+—HAMES §
31 December REEZEY 99,216 96,838 ;
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents REeRESEEBYAIW %)
Time deposit up to three months BE=EAIUATHERER 20 50,000 85,000 Z1
Bank and cash balances RTINS HER 20 49,216 12,679 % .
Bank overdraft RITEX 22 = (841) v
99,216 96,838

The notes on pages 168 to 259 are an integral part of these £ 168E259A MM ARPBIHERMN TR 2 &l
financial statements. " e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B MR MR

2.1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong
and listed (the “Listing”) on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The principal place of business and registered office of the
Company is at Block J, 5/F., Phase Il, Kaiser Estate, 51
Man Yue Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of
electronic products. The immediate holding company of
the Company is Trio Industrial Electronics Holding Limited
(“Trio Holding”), a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$’000”), unless
otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of presentation
2.1.1 Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), and are in compliance with the
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”).

2.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEmRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of presentation (Continued) 21 ZE3E%E (&)
21.2RREE

TERETHREE (&)

2.1.2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of land and buildings and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the financial statements are disclosed in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

New and amended standards effective in 2020 which
are relevant to the Group’s operations

The Group has applied the following new standards
and amendments to standards which are effective for
the financial period beginning on or after 1 January

O
2020 and relevant to the Group: al %
|9}
(@]
2
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a Business ERUBHRELRNENE  EBHNTEE 5# o
S-HEN) m 3
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material EHROHENEIER EANTE g
N A AR \7
(Amendments) BB ERESR Z
CHES) m

Conceptual Framework for ~ Revised Conceptual —E- \ERBRE B v KB

Financial Reporting 2018 Framework for BAiER HE N

Financial Reporting
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Reform

The above new standards, amendments,
improvements and interpretation effective for the
financial period beginning on or after 1 January 2020
do not have a material impact to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

21

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of presentation (Continued)

2.1.2Basis of preparation (Continued)

New and amended standards effective after 2020 RZFE = FFE AL 81K EEF &
which are relevant to the Group’s operations and yet

to be adopted

The following are new standards and amendments
to standards relevant to the Group that have been
issued but are not effective for the accounting period
beginning 1 January 2020 and are yet to be adopted:
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&

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUT RSz &Rk

S BN

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

HKAS 16 (Amendments)

HKAS 37 (Amendments)
HKFRSs (Amendments)
Accounting Guideline 5 (Amendments)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments)

BRMBIMERREON, - BAGFHERFE30 -

BERBREENETS - BBYBREER

BAFREABBEREEUF6S (BTX)
BEMBRELERESR (BRI
BERETRAE 6% (BiTK)
BREGIERIBITR (BFTK)
BRMBRERER (BTX)

ERECE TN

AR
BERESST (2%

)
TE)
BRGEAE IR (BFIX)

BERBRELERE0RREEGHER
F283 (BF1E)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Property, plant and equipment: proceeds before
intended use

Onerous contracts - cost of fulfiling a contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 - 2020 Cycle

Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations

Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Sale or Contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture
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2.2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Change in accounting policy

The Group has elected to early adopt the HKFRS 16
(Amendments) Leases on COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions retrospectively from 1 January 2020. These
amendments provide lessees with practical relief during
the COVID-19 pandemic and are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the impact of
the relevant rent concession recognised as other income,
net of HK$573,000, with corresponding adjustment to the
lease liabilities. There is no impact on the opening balance
of equity at 1 January 2020.

The amendment provides a practical expedient
that allows a lessee to by-pass the need to evaluate
whether certain qualifying rent concessions occurring
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
are lease modifications and, instead, account for those
rent concessions as if they were not lease modifications.
Lessees adopting this election may account for qualifying
rent concessions in the same way as they would if they
were not lease modifications. The practical expedient
only applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and only if all of
the following conditions are met:

a) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

b)  any reduction in lease payments affects only payments

due on or before 30 June 2021; and

c) there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ITE&HHEHME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries 2.3 KIBAR
2.3.1 Consolidation 231865

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to
account for business combination. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interest issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any assets
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously held
interest measured is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.
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2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3.2 Separate financial statements

Investment in subsidiaries is accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The result of subsidiaries is
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investment in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from this investment
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiaries in the period the dividend is
declared or if the carrying amounts of the investment
in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amounts in the financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.4 Segment reporting

2.5

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Board of
Directors of the Company that makes strategy decisions

Foreign currency translation

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). United States
dollars (“US$”) is the functional currency of principal
operating subsidiaries of the Group. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which
is the functional and presentation currency of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(i) Transactions and balances in financial statements

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(iii) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(@) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the end of that reporting period;

(b)  income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the rate on the
dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.6 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

2 FESHEEBE (&)

2.5 SHEEBRE ()
(i) MBRROXZ K&
SNER BRR 5 E AR B AT
EMMBERMNRTERRERY
EEE - BEZERHRBRERE
KA ENEREERA
18 1M 2 A Y HMNE W as R BB R RS
EHEKERER

i

\Tz'ﬁ ﬁﬂlE S

(i) EEAF
EREZIERTRZMES
(B AP REEBRREERE
B) ZFBE R RIZI T TS
AERENEE

T

e

<GB ‘ung ]

2N

(@) BHERZFBRARAZE
ERBERZHREHR 2™
PER]E

b) FHl %WZH&Z?ZHzﬁi’JE
K E (FRIFULFIIERY
1%2%?&%5%@2@%%%2%%
FEZAENE EUEBER
T UXBEERXSBHMZE
RpE) R

© FEAUMELZE¥REEHE
REM 2 E KR -

2.6 BFHE
2 REH A TE MO R FE TR 48 B S AT KB -
AEEK ST E A MS RS - BB
RHEHFEIZE R FEERALR

17/ 4 TRIOINDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | 2 T ¥ EF£@MAR A



2.7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (except for land and building)
is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amounts or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amounts
of the replaced part is de-recognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Land and buildings comprise mainly offices. Land and
buildings are carried at revalued amount, being its fair
value at the date of the revaluation on the basis of periodic
valuations by external independent valuers less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
valuation is eliminated against the gross carrying amounts
of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued
amount of the asset. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does
not differ materially from that which would be determined
using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

Revaluation increases of land and buildings are recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income to
the extent that the increases reverse previous revaluation
decreases of the same asset. All other revaluation increases
are credited to the property revaluation reserve in the
shareholders’ equity. Revaluation decreases that offset
previously revaluation increase of the same asset are
charged against property revaluation reserve directly
in equity. All other decreases are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. On
the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued land and
building, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in
the property revaluation reserve is transferred directly to
retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE

2.7

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost or revalued amounts
less their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land and buildings 3.33%
Plant and machinery 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Leasehold improvements 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if necessary, at each reporting
date.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amounts of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.
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2.8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real
estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that are depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date; and

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE

2.8

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Lease payment to be made reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate of interest that a lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the lessee as a starting point, adjusted
to reflect changes in financing conditions since third
party financing was received;

o uses a build-up approach that starts with risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third party
financing; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between the principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the lease period
S0 as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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2.8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct cost incurred by the lessee; and

o restoration costs.

The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis. If the Group reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset’s useful life.

While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has
chosen not to do so for the right-to-use buildings held by
the Group.

Payment associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise small offices
and car parking spaces.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE

2.9

2.10

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Costs include cost of purchase (including taxes,
transport and handling) net of trade discounts received
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition, and are calculated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
is determined based on estimated selling price less all
estimated costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and
distribution.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets

(i)

(ii)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through profit or loss, and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will be recorded in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Recognition and de-recognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial asset are de-recognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
assets at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction cost that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement categories into
which the group classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in financial income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss
arising on de-recognition is recognised directly
in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and presented in other gain/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for
the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. When
the financial assets is de-recognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCI is reclassified from equity to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and
recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expense are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised
in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and presented net within other gains/
(losses) in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEHE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets (Continued) 211 REREMERMEE (&)
(iii) Measurement (Continued) (iii) & (&)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investment at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the de-recognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as other income when the
group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in “Other income, net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investment measured at
FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes
in fair value.

(iv) Impairment (iv)
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements for further details.
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2

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently re-measured at their fair value. The gain or
loss is recognised in “Other operating expenses, net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. In the consolidated statement of financial
position, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

2

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

REMBRRMEE

FTESTHERBE (&)

HEEEmMTA
EEEAEAHITEMNATEFECERIASE -
YEEERFREEEEXRAREREE
MEERER  SREERAGEERE
o WHESAAMBMARBELFE &
TE AT SRBARREMME -
E-—REBBETUANMAEBSIEFT
—BHREN BEERNIBER LT
SRFIBATT ©

fTEEmMIA
PTETARITEARNE BNSEAF
BRR ERRATEEHTE - Ba
RiFaEmEBRSERTH [ HMEEROF
B ARER -

RERAEEEY

RZERERERT  RELBRSEEY
BRFERE - RITEHRER - RMFRD
HER=ZEAURNZEHSERBIRE
ARRITEX - REFEPBRRKRF - ]
TEXNRBRETNERFIR

B2 RAEMENRE

B 5 REMBEMARIAEE R FETE -
I 7B AR R B BN BOX I # 1A ARG
B RIFREIRZFEBEMN - AERBERT
BT ER

NOILVINHO4NI 31vH0dH00

EHEGh I
SINIWILVLS TVIONVYNIS

SY3ATOHIEVHS dNO OL

AOYH F1VH0dH00

JFONVNY

Annual Report 2020 €3 185




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M BBRRME

2

2.16

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and
value added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it
is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the
entity; and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities.

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods directly to the customers
is recognised at the point that the control of the inventory
have passed to the customers, which is primarily upon
the acceptance of the products by the customers. The
customers have full discretion over the products, and there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers’
acceptance of the products. The Group collects cash or
bank acceptance notes from the customers before or
upon deliveries of products through banks. Cash or bank
acceptance notes collected from the customers before
product delivery is recognised as contract liabilities (note 5
to the consolidated financial statements).
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2

2.17

2.18

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in
the net fair value gains/(losses) on these assets, see note
6 to the consolidated financial statement below.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost and
financial assets at FVOCI calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as part of other income.

Interest income is presented as financial income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes, see note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements below. Any other interest income is
included in finance income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Employee benefits
(i) Pension obligations

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various
defined contribution plans organised by the relevant
governmental authorities. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior years. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they
are due.

The Group joined the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those qualifying employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance,
and who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEHE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued) 2.18 EE®EA (&)

(i) Pension obligations (Continued) (i)

The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
scheme, the assets of which are held in separate
trustee-administered funds. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contribution has been
paid. The Group’s contributions to the scheme are
recognised as employee benefit expenses when
they are due. When employees leave the scheme
prior to the full vesting of the employer’s voluntary
contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions
is used to reduce the contributions payable by the
Group.

The Group in the PRC participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by
relevant government authorities for its employees
in the PRC and contribute to these plans based on
certain percentage of the salaries of the employees
on a monthly basis, up to a maximum fixed monetary
amount, as stipulated by the relevant government
authorities. The government authorities undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations payable to
all existing and future retired employees under these
plans.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays
contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid.
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments are recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within twelve months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
period in which the associated services are rendered
by employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE

2

2.19

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered services in
exchange for shares or rights over shares of the Company.
The cost of such transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at
the date at which the entity and another party (including an
employee) agree to a share-based payment arrangement,
being when the entity and the counterparty have a
shared understanding of the terms and conditions of the
arrangement (“Grant Date”). The fair value of share options
granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost
with a corresponding increase in a reserve within equity.
The fair value is determined using the Binomial Option
Pricing Model, taking into account any market conditions
and non-vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at fair value
of the goods or services received, except where the fair
value cannot be reliably estimated, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. In all cases, the fair value is measured at the date
the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty renders
the services.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the vesting conditions are to be fulfilled,
ending on the date on which the entitlement of relevant
employees to the award is no longer conditional on the
satisfaction of any non-market vesting conditions (“Vesting
Date”). During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed.
Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to consolidated statement
of comprehensive income for the year of the review, with
a corresponding adjustment to the reserve within equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEmRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHHEEE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Share-based payment transactions (Continued) 219 LR AERNERRE (&)
Equity-settled transactions (Continued) BREERS (B)
When the share options are exercised, the amount TR RERRAERS - CRIEREBRERERER %
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be ZHEREBERE - WEREREEH 3
transferred to share capital. When the share options are BB R WSk A B i B BRI R &A1& - >
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at ZAERBRERBRERZSEEEES w Z
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share REAEF - : 2
option reserve will be transferred to retained earnings. 3
=
2.20 Taxation 2.20 HE
The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is MIEFM X B R RIRERIR o BIERER
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive EEEKERER  EEAHMEEEA
income, except to the extent that it relates to items S EENESER BB BERI - Rt
N v . J
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in BRAT  BIETSAREMEEBASE =
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other BRI o wS
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. %
2
T
() Current income tax (i) BIEAFTEH =
The current income tax charge is calculated on the MR ERIRERNEBEEEMT 3
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted DEARERBMBAZBERRIREH
at the end of reporting period in the countries where REBEMNEEGBM 2 RF ARG
the Group operates and generates taxable income. B - BEERERATBEMNEFR
Management periodically evaluates positions taken B ERE B E®RM KR MAR
in tax returns with respect to situations in which WAEAER N RETE AR 3
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It WS A 2 T RGR e B o 3
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis N E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ITES:HEME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Taxation (Continued) 2.20 1\ (&)

(ii) Deferred income tax (i)
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill,
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to
control the reversal of the temporary difference for
associates. Only when there is an agreement in place
that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal
of the temporary difference in the foreseeable future,
deferred tax liability in relation to taxable temporary
differences arising from the associate’s undistributed
profits is not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Taxation (Continued)

(ii) Deferred income tax (Continued)
Outside basis differences (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements only to the extent that it is probable
the temporary difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available against which
the temporary difference can be utilised.

(iii) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

2.21 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease
termination penalties and employee termination payments.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M BBRRME

2.21

2.22

2.23

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense within
“finance expenses, net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction cost) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facilities will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probably that some or all of the facilities will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.
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2

2.23

2.24

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowings and borrowing costs (Continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in which they are
incurred.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

3.1 Financial risk factors
(@) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Entities within the Group are exposed
to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to
HK$, Euro (“EUR”), Renminbi (“RMB”) and Thai
Baht ("THB"). Foreign exchange risk arises from
export sales, purchases, other future commercial
transactions, monetary assets and liabilities that
are denominated in a currency that is not the
entity’s functional currency.

Management has set up a policy to require
the group companies to manage their foreign
exchange risk against their functional currencies.
The group companies do not adopt formal
hedge accounting policy. It manages its
foreign currency risk by closely monitoring
the movement of foreign currency rates and
will consider to enter into foreign exchange
contracts to reduce the exposure should the
need arises.

As at 31 December 2020, if US$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5 percent against EUR with all
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2020 would have
been HK$1,000 (2019: HK$108,000) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
loss on translation of EUR denominated
trade and other payables, and cash and cash
equivalents.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, if the US$ had
weakened/strengthened by 5 percent against
RMB with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2020 would have been HK$1,440,000 (2019:
HK$4,783,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result
of foreign exchange differences on translation of
RMB denominated trade and other receivables,
deposits, trade and other payables, and cash
and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2020, if the US$ had
weakened/strengthened by 5 percent against
THB with all other variables held constant, post-
tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2020
would have been HK$274,000 (2019: nil) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
differences on translation of THB denominated
other receivables, deposits, other payables, and
cash and cash equivalents.

Under the Linked Exchange Rate System
in Hong Kong, HK$ is pegged to USS$,
management therefore considers that there is
no significant foreign exchange risk with respect
to the HKS.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
exposure to foreign exchange risk arising from
certain currency exposures such as Great British
Pound, Singapore dollar, etc. are not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 B¥EKBREE (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HRBEER (&)
TSER (&)

(@) Market risk (Continued) (a)
(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from
borrowings. Borrowing obtained at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
which is partially offset by cash held at variable
rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The
Group does not adopt any interest hedging
strategy.

Bank borrowings of the Group were arranged
on floating rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition.

As at 31 December 2020, if interest rates on
borrowings at variable rates had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2020 would have been
HK$7,000 (2019: HK$23,000) lower/higher as
a result of higher/lower net interest expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk are primarily attributable to
financial instruments, financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss, trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, time deposits and cash deposited
at banks and cash and cash equivalents. Management
has credit policy in place and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. In
this respect, management considers the credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents, cash
deposited at banks and time deposits are placed in
reputable financial institutions with sound credit ratings
assigned by international credit rating agencies.

For deposits and other receivables, management
makes periodic collective assessments as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability with no
significant credit risk identified.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk in relation
to financial assets that are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. The maximum exposure at the
end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of
these investments.

Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables has been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 120 days by due
date and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the relevant industry GDP
of the countries in which it sells its goods to be the
most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the
historical loss rates based on expected changes in
these factors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEEKBER (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HBRKBEZE (£)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERK (&)
Impairment allowance policies for trade ESEW B RERERR (1)
receivables (Continued)
On that basis, the loss allowance for trade receivables W EE R-_E-_ZTF+_-_H=
as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 was +—Br_BE-—NAF+_A=+—
determined as follows: BB ZREFIESEREE TN
T~

RZE_TF Expected Gross carrying Loss
At 31 December 2020 +=ZA=+—H loss rate amount allowance
EHEER IREA%E BREE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current BNEA —* 150,129 30
1-30 days 1230k =* 29,825 1
31-60 days 31£60X =* 1,657 -
61-90 days 61£90K =* 111 -
91-120 days 91-120K =¥ 823 -
Over 120 days 120K A £ 100.0% 1,805 1,805
Total “a=t 184,350 1,836
RNZZT—NF Expected  Gross carrying Loss
At 31 December 2019 +ZA=+—H loss rate amount allowance
TEHIE IR R RERs Eria s
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Current BNEA —* 126,821 -
0-30 days 0-30k = 22,291 -
31-60 days 31-60K% = 1,599 -
61-90 days 61-90K = 780 -
91-120 days 91-120K = 3,599 -
Over 120 days 120 KA 63.7% 2,085 1,329
Total Bt 157 4178 1,329

*

The Group considers the expected credit loss is insignificant

as these trade receivables have no recent history of default.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment allowance policies for trade

REMBRRMEE

BEBRER (£)
MBREREE (&)
(b) FERR (&)
EZ RSB BERERE ()

receivables (Continued) %
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as RZZEZZTF+_A=+—HKNE %
at 31 December 2020 reconcile to the opening loss 2 JE WS SR IE /) B R B 1R 1 B R 1) 2
allowances as follows: EIEBENERIAT =z
= O
B
2020 2019 =
—B=%F —E-NF =

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

As at 1 January nN—A—H 1,329 4,601
Exchange realignment B 5 3B (7) - ‘
Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance FRARLGEAEEREE =
recognised in consolidated statement of MR BERE " %
comprehensive income during the year #i/ CRd) 514 (1,023) <
py)
Receivable written off during the year FRE A A] Uk [ 84 e Uk 0B T
as uncollectible = (2,249) e
m
As at 31 December W+-_A=+—H 1,836 1,329 &

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make
contractual payments for a period greater than 90
days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented
as net impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line item.

During the year, the provision for impairment loss on
trade receivables was recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in relation to
impaired financial assets disclosed in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEKBRER (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HM¥ERBREZ (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) =ERK (&)

Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the customer bases are
widely dispersed despite that 21.2% (2019: 21.4%)
of the trade receivable were due from the Group’s
largest customer and 62.4% (2019: 64.8%) were due
from the five largest customers determined on the
same basis.

(c) Liquidity risk (c)
Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating
entities of the Group. Such forecasting takes into
consideration the Group’s debt financing plans,
covenant compliance and, if applicable external
regulatory or legal requirements — for example,
currency restrictions.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of sources
including orderly realisation of short-term financial
assets and receivables; and long-term financing
including long-term borrowings. The Group aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient
bank balances, committed credit lines available and
interest bearing borrowings which enable the Group
to continue its business for the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRERME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEEKBRER (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HERBEZE ()
() Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) FBELER (&)

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative TRAONMEREHAREZES AR A
and derivative financial liabilities into the applicable BTN AR B IEITE ROTE 8
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at TREBEISKERINMHEER - S
the end of reporting date to the contractual maturity i EeEARHRUBRRERE - » 2
date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual % z
undiscounted cash flows. e 577
Total S

contractual Within Within

Carrying undiscounted one year or two years to

amount cash flow  on demand five years

BRREE —FR WEE
BEE BeRELE FEER 1ER 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 5 %
FET FAT FAT FAT @
At 31 December 2020 RZE-EE+-A=1—-R %
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMENFE 2
(excluding sale deposits received)  (BUTHET 2B 118,074 118,074 118,074 - E
Contract liabilties AaE 3,453 3,453 3,453 = ”

Borrowings EEN 8,750 9,053 9,053 -

Lease liabilities HEAE 25,312 26,313 9,764 16,549

155,589 156,893 140,344 16,549
At 31 December 2019 RZB-hE+-A=+-H S
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENFE ;3:
(excluding sale deposits received)  (EUSEETE BN 109,043 109,043 109,043 - B3
Contract liabilities ANEE 2,964 2,964 2 964 . g
Borrowings 2 11,852 12,994 12,994 - ¥3
Finance lease payables BEREREIFE 43 43 43 S g
Lease liabilities HERE 23,089 24,368 7177 17,191 Q

146,991 149,412 132,221 17,191

EHEGh I
SINIWILVLS TVIONVYNIS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amounts of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt
is calculated as total borrowings (include bank borrowings
and finance lease payables) less cash and bank balances.
Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position, plus net debt,
where applicable.

The Group’s strategy was to maintain optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. The gearing ratios
as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

BEEREE (&)

EeEHE
AEBERENNE L REAE@LLE
IR AR TR S R B3R K A A
MERIE S RFZ - W RIDIBM TR
AR (R B AR A o

REFRLFBERRE - AREA AR
XN TFERROBESHE  ARRELE
K BITHBRIEEEEARDET °

AEBURRL R BEEEREREEM
RIZE— - BREXZFEHRABE
A8 o FEHZBER (BREITER
KB EHE RNFRIR) BIRE MRTTHER
AHE o MENRERAMBEMONRAR [
= | IFER (WEm) 78 -

REERKE AHFRIEBNERERFBIU
BRIEEARKAN MR _B_TFER-_T—H
F+-A=+—HHERLERNT :

2020 2019

—E-FF —T-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Borrowings (note 22) fEx (Mf5E22) 8,750 11,852
Finance lease payables (note 23) BEAERRIE (:E23) = 43
Less: Bank and cash balances (note 20) A SRIT RIS A5 (FifEE20) (99,216) (97,679)
Net cash FIHE (90,466) (85,784)
Total equity B (364,805) (352,491)
Total capital BE AR (455,271) (438,275)
Gearing ratio 1ERL & N/A i N/A 738 F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s assets and liabilities
carried at fair value as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 by
level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels
within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, all the Group’s assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are categorised into level
2.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument
is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level
3.

The following table presents the changes in the Group’s
assets and liabilities carried at fair value for the year ended
31 December 2020 and 2019.

REMBRRMEE

B 35 LB
ATESH
TREHEATFEL SEREHAEAS
BHER - SRARER-_F-FFR=
T-NF+ZA=T—BRAFEIEN
AERAR - 8B TR
i HAE AL FEL PR = R -

EE (&)

s MHREEXEBEERIREBRMHGN
HE (REHRB) (F1E) -

s KBRTFIBMERENOREIN  REE
HEENAERNEMBA AR
B#EZ (ApImER) kEZE (ARA
Bg) (B2E) -

s EBEEXABAUFKEBEAERMHH
EevE A (AIEABEREA)(£3
E) -

R-B_FFR_F-NF+A=1+—
B AEEMERATVEINRNEERE
BEBAR2E -

— EIJJ:iE*E%#% 2&3@2?&9’9@;?@ 0

WIHNAFRMS EXZNEHMTA (105
SMTETR) RAFEDNERMGETEE
E o ZEHETERECEAAIRERZA
BRmSEE YRERIEREREE

8 WHERIANATFERELES
BARS 2B TRE  AAMIARH
5 AE2/E °

Tﬁ%—lﬁ‘iuiZEEﬁ)\%ﬁﬁié‘Mﬂ}F
AEETSBERTE  ZTASRIIAS
3E -

TREIEBE-_F_TFR-_FT-NFT
—RA=1— Etif‘ﬁ% RAFHESIRR
MEERBENE

g

SY3ATOHIEVHS dNO OL

)H 31vH0dd00

VINHO4NI 31vH40d400

NOI LY

IAO
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERME

3

3.4

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

3 HBXRKBER (&)
3.3 2QAFEME (&)

Financial
assets at
Land and Derivative fair value
building financial through
at fair value instruments profit or loss Total
BAYE RAVE
FEMN & FFABRER
TREF SRMIA WEREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FET FET
For the year ended BE-_T-TE
31 December 2020 TZA=+—HILLEE
Opening balance Y 24,600 - 8,621 33,221
Gain recognised in KA 2ERER
consolidated statement TR e s
of comprehensive income - - 356 356
Loss recognised in other REM 2K
comprehensive income R EIR (1,831) - - (1,831)
Addition NE = - 9,312 9,312
Disposal HE - = (4,435) (4,435)
Depreciation nE (1,069) - - (1,069)
Closing balance HR&EH 21,700 - 13,854 35,554
For the year ended BEZZ-NF
31 December 2019 +-A=1+—HItEE
Opening balance ek 24,850 - 6,765 31,615
(Loss)/gain recognised in REFE2ERER
consolidated statement HERm (B18),/ W
of comprehensive income - (2,245) 177 (2,068)
Gains recognised in other REMZ2E RS
comprehensive income RS 699 - - 699
Addition NE - - 1,679 1,679
Depreciation e (949) - - (949)
Settlement b = 2,245 = 2,245
Closing balance HRERR 24,600 - 8,621 33,221

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, there were no financial assets
or financial liabilities which were subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting or similar agreements (2019: nil).

34 TREERSMAMBZES
RZZE_TF+-_A=+—H HESH
BEXTRAGBESTEE  RAARGI1EHR
TG FREERRUREMAR (=
T—NF:E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment
The Group has substantial investments in property,
plant and equipment. Judgement is required in the
area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has incurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, being
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal or
value-in-use, which is the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset in the business; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions used to
determine the level, if any, of impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test and as a
result affect the Group’s financial condition and results
of operations. If there is a significant adverse change
in the projected performance and resulting future
cash flow projections, it may be necessary to take an
impairment charge to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

REMBRRMEE

ERAEERHHENEER
fit R A

EI‘E

Er RABAREETTIE - WABEL
BEREMCAZ (BRHEEREREERS
BHARREFHTEL) BEE -

ETEEETRER
AEBEEARRELEF RRR - IENE
AHARTIMEER - ROSEABRERN
Rl FEENRBREHTEFRFREZE
EMBEZREEELERRBE G
CEGET U

(@) % - BWENRKBRENG

FEERERERYE - BFE &K
e EEERMEERE  EXRELH
- CHENME: ()VASHIRATEE
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R (B AR B R AN fE A E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 EAXAEEESHRENTES:

JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S st RAE (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions FTESEFTRRBR (&)
(Continued)

(b) Net realisable value of inventories (b) TFEWAERFEE

Net realisable value of inventories is estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
selling expenses. These estimates are based on the
current market condition and the historical experience
of selling products of similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer taste
and competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycle. Management reassesses these estimates at
the end of each statement of financial position date.

(c) Impairment of trade receivables (c)

The Group’s management estimates the provision
of impairment of trade receivables by assessing
their recoverability. Provisions are applied to trade
receivables where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be collectible and
require the use of estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact carrying value of trade receivables and
impairment charge in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

(d) Income taxes (d)

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical

accounting estimates and assumptions

(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised
when management considers it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
When the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the recognition
of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in
the period in which such estimate is changed.

Valuation of equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

The fair value of share options has been calculated
using the Binomial Option Pricing Model which
requires the input of highly subjective assumptions,
including the expected volatility of the share price.
Because changes in subjective assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimate, in the opinion
of the Directors, the existing model may not always
necessarily produce a reliable single measure of
the fair value of the share options. Details of the
assumptions used are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

REMBRRMEE

ERAEEESTHRENTESS
hat R (E)

EFRET AT RER (B)

(d)

(e)

FRi&® (&)
EEHEERRARKERT SN A
RS ZR AR AERE - &
EABHREERECDERNE TR
BEBLHABREH ZRHE
ABRIRREAGER - ZEEEH
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LEZEERRAAEBRMARAR
ZEE

BREATECR-_EXNERET
BRAGE ZEXAFTERAXEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERME

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 ERA&EEBES:IHENTIESH

JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S st RAE (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions FESHEFTREBR (B)
(Continued)

() Determination of the lease term () EEHAH

In determining the lease term, management considers
all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option or not
exercise a termination option. Extension options (or
periods after termination options) are only included
in the lease term if lease is reasonably certain to be
extended (or not terminated).

For lease of plants, office and warehouse, the
following factors are normally the most relevant:

- if there are significant penalties to terminate (or
not extend), the Group is typically reasonably
certain to extend (or not terminate).

- otherwise, the Group considers other factors
including historical lease durations and costs
and business disruption required to replace the
leased asset.

Most extension option in plants, office and warehouse
have been included in the lease liability because
majority of them are profitable and replacing in other
locations will cause business disruption.

As at 31 December 2020, no potential future cash
outflows have been included in the lease liability
because it is not reasonably certain that the lease will
be extended (or not terminated).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the information reviewed by the CODM. The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segment, has been
identified as the Board of Directors of the Company.

Operating segments are reported in the manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The
Group is subject to similar business risk, and resources
are allocated based on what is beneficial to the Group in
enhancing the value as a whole. The Board of Directors
considers the performance assessment of the Group should
be based on the profit before income tax of the Group as a
whole and regards the Group as a single operating segment
and reviews internal reporting accordingly. Therefore, the
Board of Directors considers there to be only one operating
segment under the requirements of HKFRS 8 “Operating
Segments”.

The Group provides manufacturing and sales of electronic
products, which are carried out internationally, through the
production complexes located in the PRC, Ireland, and
Thailand, during the year ended 31 December 2020 and
2019.

Segment assets and liabilities

No assets and liabilities are included in the Group’s segment
reporting that are submitted to and reviewed by the CODM
internally. Accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are
presented.

Information about major customers

External customers who contribute over 10% of total
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020 are as follows:

REMBRRMEE

7 EBE R
EEBCREIZLERRARHNER
BELEDH TBREEBRBRABRELN
RAEEE BEDEKEDHMHNERR
FHEERR -

REDHHERTALERERTETRLER
RANAE2H— - AEEEERLE
BREE  BERENEREAAEEERE
BEENWRANE - EFER/AEEN
FRHERERARBEEBIRATSH AR
MIEL - RAKERE KL DL ERE
ERARRSE - Bt - EFERA - RE
BAMBREERES ELDE] MR
T EREFE—EEESE -

REZEZZT-_ZFR-_ZT—-NF+ZA=
+—HIEFE  AEESBURTEH - F
BELMFENEERABREETEME
EREE (BEBRER) -

THEERER

RNEPER T EBL2ERKARHEFEERN
MAEESHBELEBRTANEERA
& Hit - B2 HMEERERE -

FEEFHNESR
HE-_ZT_THF+_A=+—HILFE -
RAEERWRBEREBI0%NINERP
LI

2020 2019
—E-FF —T-NF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Customer A BPA 149,376 259,562
Customer B ®FB 124,213 145,671
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the majority
of revenue were sold to customers in Europe (mainly the
United Kingdom (the “UK”), Switzerland, Ireland, Denmark
and Sweden), while the remaining revenue were sold to
customers in the United States of America (the “US”), the
PRC, Malaysia, and Australia.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at point in
time method.

In relation to non-current assets held by the Group (primarily
represented by property, plant and equipment as detailed
in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements), land
and buildings with carrying values as at 31 December 2020
of HK$21,700,000 (2019: HK$24,600,000), are located
in Hong Kong. Other property, plant and equipment are
primarily located in the PRC.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to
contracts with customers:

5

DEER (&)

wEEEER
REBEE-_ZT-_TF+-_A=+—HItF
B REHSWFFRABRMNES (ETEAH
B ((®E]) Wt EBEH - AE ki

M) HREKREXMNEBERE (TX
B B BRADRMNNES -

HE R mA KRR FAARER

RAEBAIEBNERDEE (XEAY
¥ BEKERE FBEANGEME®RE
Mz14) ms RZZEZTF+ A=+
—H - BRE{#EA21,700,0008 7T (& —
JLE 1 24,600,000/ 70) M) i REFY
URES - bW  MEREEEEN
RHEE o

BHNAERINKRE
AEBEHRNATEEFANERNE
& :

As at
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
+—ﬁ:+—E| +=—HA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT FET
Contract liabilities BHBE 3,453 2,964
(i) Significant change in contract liabilities (i) BHEBHNEKXREH
The Group receives payments from customers based NEFBRESNREOEELZHER

on billing schedule as established in contracts.
Payments are usually received in advance under the
contracts which are mainly from sales of goods.

EPWEM R - BERIEA KIEA
WENSRE - TERBHEER °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 Z2WER(E)
Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities EHNEBERIANKE (B)
(Continued)
(ii) Revenue recognised in relation to contract (i) REVEEEIHKE
liabilities =
pe)
The following table shows the amounts of the revenue TREMBE—_E-_TE+-_A= §
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2020 +—HIEEOBRRRLEEAYE » 2
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. BB SEE - ;7, z
¥ o
B
Year ended %
31 December 31 December S
2020 2019
BZE =
g e 22 —E-NF
+=ZA=+—H +=-H=+—8H
LFE ILFE =
HK$’000 HK$°000 i %
FHT FHTT @
Revenue recognised that was included st A —Z-Z&F— H—H %
in the contract liabilities balance at SHBEAERD ©
(w)
1 January 2020 BRI 5
Sales of goods HEE M 1,091 1,379 -

(iii) Unsatisfied contracts related to sales of goods

The Group select to choose a practical expedient and
omit disclosure of remaining performance obligations
as all related contracts have a duration of one year
or less.

(i) RHFEEREHENKRETEN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The government grants for the year ended 31 December 2019 mainly
represented subsidies received from the Chinese Government in relation to
the recognition of New and High Technology Enterprises (“NHTE”) by the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary in the PRC.

The government grants for the year ended 31 December 2020 mainly
represented the COVID-19 related subsidies received from the Chinese
Government and the HKSAR Government. During the reporting period,
the Group successfully applied for funding support from the Employment
Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the HKSAR
Government. The purpose of the funding is to provide financial support
to enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise be made
redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group is required not to make
redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding on
paying wages to the employees.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies relating to these
grants.

BEMBHRRM T
6 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME, NET 6 WamkHAMWBAFEE
2020 2019
—E_THF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Revenue W=
Sales of goods EmEE 701,699 808,599
Other income, net E g A F5R
Commission income e A 76 133
Investment income =EWA 139 =
Fair value gain on financial BRA T ER AEERS
assets at fair value through TREERNTE
profit or loss Wz 356 177
Government grants (note) BT e (FIE) 4,212 2,791
Loss on foreign exchange, net SNFE SR F 58 (2,961) (855)
Scrap material sales income WEEYIRSEE YA 539 2,014
COVID-19 related rent concessions EACOVID-19FB @ HY
HETR 573 =
Sundry income FIFUW A 493 1,140
3,427 5,400
Note: Kiat -

RBE_Z-NAF+-_A=+—HLFE BFE#H
TERMARATEREN B R RERA /I
2 ([EHEM R ]) AT B BT IERA RS o

REBEE-_T-_ZFE+-_F=+—BLEE  BF®HE
FEZENRBEBARESFEBTKERAHCOVID-19
RN - RREHE AEERNBEFREBER
BIFRE [HREES ] TREEFETHES
TR CHEYXEESENAERACEREMBIE -
LMREBHIEEEWEHNES - MBS ERERAEAE
EEETMAEBETERE  WIEES2HEHARN

BETHE -

B R BB AR A A (R AT S L SRR
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

» oo«

Expenses included “cost of sales”, “selling and distribution

” o«

expenses”, “administrative expenses”, and “other operating

expenses, net” are analysed as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE

7 BMESHINAX

gl ot

AxBRIEEXE] [HERIHE
BITABAX] RTEMEEHF

2020 2019 3
=t A = 2
HK$°000 HK$000
FETT FET Lo
Employee benefit expenses (including EERNEY (BIEEEH %
directors’ emoluments) (note 8) &) (f5E8) 161,538 182,672 S
Auditors’ remuneration 1% £ B 57 B
- Audit services — BETIRT 1,886 1,783
— Non-audit services — FEEET RS 367 407
Depreciation for property, plant and s
equipment (note 14) REEHTE (KEE14) 11,487 11,175 =
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENE (HFE35(i) =
(note 35(ii) 8,602 6784 .0
Amortisation of insurance expense 1R b6 5 S 5 33 31 =
Loss on derivative financial instruments TEERIAERE - 2,245 = ?
Obsolete inventories written off PRE T B M 1,997 1,325 "5
Operating lease payments LEHEERMR 170 476 &
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEME  BENMRE
plant and equipment B () 282 (252)
Bad debt written off SRR N 985 334
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss 28 5 e U I8 B E &5 18
on trade receivables (note 18(b)) B (Bm) (iE18(0)) 514 (1,023) S
Provision for impairment loss GFEREBBEE (WE17) gg
on inventories (note 17) 2,912 3,270 FH
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 8 EEEAFX (BIEESEME) é
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) %
2020 2019 -
—E-EF ZE—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Wages, salaries and allowances T#& - e MR 140,937 154,846 Al
Retirement benefit costs (note) BIRERB A (B sE) 20,403 24,293 ]Czj
Share-based payment (note 25) AR A ERE R (MH5E25) 198 3,533 % >
161,538 182,672 %ﬁ%
=
Note: Bt - é

AT (136 T 51 Y2 R KT PR LA AL oK R4
R -

No forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme is available to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERME

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EENEANE#EZR

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the section BB D R B FE383IK K TE R E EH B0
383 of the Companies Ordinance is as follows: T
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect  FRIEIAEEES (&EiH
of a person’s services as a director, RARHEK B AR ETR)
whether of the Company or its EfsER S
subsidiary undertaking:
Fees we 720 720
Basic salaries, allowances and EXHS  EBR
benefits in kind &R 13,269 15,320
Discretionary bonuses FIBIEAT 958
Termination benefits BB 1R FI 690 =
Employer’s contribution to a retirement RIREFIET S8 =4
benefit scheme 1,209 1,116
Share-based payment VARG BB R 140 2,483
16,986 19,639
(a) EEZERAKERN

(a) Directors’ retirement benefits
No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable
by any Directors in respect of their other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking during the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019: nil).

(b)

(b) Directors’ termination benefits

HK$690,000 was paid to Mr. Georges René Gener,
a former Director of the Company, as compensation
for the early termination of his appointment during the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: nil).
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T-NEF: &)



9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

Save at disclosed above, no other payment was
made to the former employer or Directors for making
available the services of them as a Director of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of Directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
Directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of Directors, controlled bodies corporate by
and connected entities with such Directors during the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: none).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: none).

9

REMBWMRMEE

ESNENRER (&)

(c)

(d)

(e)

HERUEEREMAE=ZSREM
ZRE

BRENHEEEIN REBEE-T=T
FE+-A=+-—RAILEE BHEH®
BRREZEEREMMEARRAE
ERLEAEEIRESI T EMAKIE
ZE-RF )

FHRUES HABESZHNE
EREEAFAENERRZIHEAZ
BN - EERRAMRZ Z2EH

REBEE-_ZE-_FF+-_A=+—H
IHFE BEEENES BEH
EEZEHMNZERHEESHENE
BAXEAZER BEERREA
RP(ZE—NF 8-

EENRS  REREAHNPZEKX
R
ARARBEIIIARARRAEENE
PEESMEREEREGMRTE
RFEEZE_EF+—A=+—
Bt FEETASEDATELEARRD
REBBEBZEARS  THEE
B(ZE—NF - H|) o

57

B
NOILYINHO4NI 3Lv40dH09

€353

>

¥ CHE)
SY3ATOHIYVHS N0 OL

UL

SININILVLS TVIONVNIL

FONVNYIA0D F1vH0d40D
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERME

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EZW&EAEER (&)

(Continued)
() Directors’ emolument ) E=Me
The remuneration of every director for the years ended HE_Z-_ZTFR_Z—NF+=
31 December 2020 and 2019 is set out below: A=+—HBIEFESESHFHMOT
Basic Employer' s
salaries, contribution
allowances to retirement Share-
and benefits Discretionary Termination benefit based
Fees in kind bonuses benefits scheme  payment Total
Exge. BB URG
BHR e RER
He LUET BEEL  EBEY 305 DES a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AT AT & A7 FEr  TEr  TEn
2020 k- X2
Executive Directors H7ES
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah PRErE - 4,560 310 - 558 49 5417
M. Tai Leung Lam e - 4,450 310 - 558 49 537
M. Joseph Mac Carthy Joseph Mac Carthy’t & - 3,900 310 - 93 42 4345
Mr. Georges René Gener (note )~ Georges René Gener’t &
(RzE) - 359 2 690 - - 10
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Fung Chun Chung BEEE 240 - - - - - 20
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing FRRLAE 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam #8544 240 - - - - - 240
720 13,269 958 690 1,209 140 16,986
2019 “T-NE
Executive Directors YrES
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah by =yt - 4,487 - - 558 869 5914
M. Ta Leung Lam R - 4,434 - - 558 869 5,861
Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy Joseph Mac Carthy £ S 2,640 = = = 745 3,386
Mr. Georges René Gener (note |}~ Georges René Gener’t £
(HzE) - 8,759 - - - -3
Independent Non-executive B diiTEE
Directors
M. Fung Chun Chung b 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing FRELAE 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam ~ EfH%4 240 - - - - - 240
720 15,320 - - 1,116 2483 19,639
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBWMRMEE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EEWEFNLER (£)
(Continued)
() Directors’ emolument (Continued) ) E=ME (&)
Note: HtaF -
(i) Mr Georges René Gener resigned with effect from 15 February (i) Georges René Generft £ Z T T4 %
2020. ZATHRABEMT- Ay
20
» 5
There was no arrangement under which a Director or REBEE-_ZT-FTF+-_A=+—H =
i P o m
the chief executive officer waived or agreed to waive LEFE ESFRXFETHABTE e O
> = R ] == = 4 — = Y,
any remuneration during the year ended 31 December ZHMEXRBREETMANEH (ZF <
2020 (2019: nil). —NE R e S
(g) Five highest paid individuals (9) EEESFMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the HE-_ZT-_THF+-_A=+—HIE
highest in the Group for the year ended 31 December FE AEERZESHFMALTE
2020 included 3 Directors (2019: 4 Directors) whose FEER DT REREMSHNIRES 3
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented ZE-NF ARER) - HEZT =
o
above. The emoluments payable to the remaining 2 “EFE+-A=t+—HILEE & ®Q
individuals during the year ended 31 December 2020 Mg T2H8 @A (ZE—N4EF - = %
(2019: 1 individual) are as follows: 1BBERALT) ESOT - =
=
2020 2019 &)
p g 32 —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Basic salaries, allowances and EXRF¢ 2UR .
benefits in kind EWEF 6,336 4,451 2
9]
Discretionary bonuses IS TEAT 430 346 S,
>
Employer’s contribution to RIRFEFET 8891 =4 5@ =
retirement benefit scheme 162 - @ g
Share-based payment VAR (7 B EERE A 5k 4 = V ﬁ
6,932 4,797 z
m
I
Pz
>
=z
e
g
29
o
=z
m
Pz
@
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9
(Continued)

(g) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (9)

EENENRER (&)

TEREHMAL (F)
FMNFUATHRBENIFESE RIETT

The number of non-director and non-chief executive

highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within

the following band is as follows:

AR S,

xmFrEEABMT

X (51 35T

2020 2019
—EC-EF —E-NF
Nil - HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,000/% 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 721,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7t &2,000,00075 7T - =
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/ 722,500,000 7T = =
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T 23,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ 7T £ 3,500,000/ 7T - -
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001/ 7t 24,000,000/ 7T, - -
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7t 24,500,000/ 7T = -
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7t £5,000,000/%& 7T CJ 1
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 5,000,001/ 7L 25,500,000 T 1 =
10 FINANCE EXPENSES, NET 10 BB FH
2020 2019
—E-FH —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Finance income B
Bank interest income RITH B WA 874 1,245
Other interest income H A B WA = 43
Finance income B WA 874 1,288
Finance expenses B
Interest on bank borrowings RITERFE
— Wholly repayable within five years - BARAFAZHEE (1,567) (5,584)
Interest on lease liabilities (note 35) HE&EH B (HIFE35) (1,027) (1,839)
Other finance expenses HEmi A
Bank charges RITIE (4,730) (5,617)
Finance expenses X (7,324) (13,040)
Finance expenses, net SRS EEE (6,450) (11,752)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRMRMEE
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FIERMAX
(a) The amount of taxation in the consolidated (a) HZEZTHEURERABESHT|WNOT :
statement of comprehensive income represents:
2020 2019
—E-EH —E-NEF Q
HK$’000 HK$’000 3
FET TEAT %
Current income tax: BIEAPTIS M - o z
- Hong Kong — BB 3,565 1,527 e
~ The PRC — 4,937 488 =
8,502 2,015 2
Overprovision in prior years BEFEHERE (45) (254)
Deferred income tax (note 26(c)) BEIEFBE (KisE26(c)) 357 193
Income tax expense S RiF 8,814 1,954
3
Notes: Vo o
@
(@  Under the Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 @ RE-F-—EFHRHK (BT (E7H) & %
two-tiered profit tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of FROIEROFSHMAE - AERE Ej 2
profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed at 8.25%, and ) 2,000,000/ 7T & F &9 B X 1§ & i z
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. Hong Kong 8.25% - 1M 2 #82,000,0007% 7T &9 i F e
profits tax of the qualified entity is calculated in accordance ZHER16.5% AEBEBHNEEF i
with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The profits of other BRIODBENESHEMRFTE - T/FE &
group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered FEHMAHNELEMEEERD
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at the flat S F 5 B 1R 16.5% M 8T — B R Fd T
rate of 16.5%. B
(@]
@)
2
o
2
P2
WD
¥ O
oK <
> m
20
P
>
=z
(@]
m
M
z
>
=z
o
S
A
=
m
Pz
@3

Annual Report 2020 3§ 2]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BRI
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(a)

The amount of taxation in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income represents:
(Continued)

(o)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) is provided on the
assessable income of entities within the Group incorporated
in the PRC, calculated in accordance with the relevant
regulations of the PRC after considering the available tax
benefits.

CIT of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC is calculated at
25% based on the assessable profits for the year ended 31
December 2020. One of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
was recognised as “New and High Technology Enterprise”
and enjoyed a preferential CIT rate of 15% from three financial
years from 2017 to 2019. Its CIT rate for the year ended 31
December 2019 was 15%. Other than the above, the CIT of
the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC for the year ended 31
December 2019 was calculated at the rate of 25%.

No provision for CIT in other jurisdictions has been made
as the Group has no assessable incomes in the relevant
jurisdictions during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
nil).

11

Frewipx (&)
GRERHARERABREASEMNT

(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 11

(@) The amount of taxation in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income represents:
(Continued)

REMBRRMEE

FrEBmx% (&)

(@) HEZTHWRBZXRABESHEDOT
(%)

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs 7R & B BR BT A5 0 A R N B 18 B I e =
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the RARENNRERFEZBREEE 3
tax rate applicable to profits as follows: Bl : §
2020 2019 é
—BC%F ZENF =
HK$°000 HK$'000 5
FET FET
Profit before income tax B BT 1575 A g A 37,695 24,311
Calculated at a tax rate of 16.5% LB E16.5% (ZE—NF :
(2019: 16.5%) 16.5%) FTE < Fi1H 6,219 4,011
Effect of different tax rates in other HitBPRTRAF RN E g
countries 1,618 (291) s
Income not subject to tax BARTUA (1,929) (4,589 ‘ %
Tax losses for which no deferred tax YW EIERIELE ST A E i
asset was recognised Z AR R 167 151 S
Expenses not deductible for tax L b E
puUrposes 2,949 3,139 -
Utilisation of previously unrecognised — EhFR Bk FHER 2 BiIEE 8
tax loss - (48)
Overprovision in prior years BAFERBERE (45) (254)
Concession tax rate BRI (165) (165) .
Income tax expense FRiaip% 8,814 1,054 i
12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 BREF 8
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) EBREXERN 2
The basic earnings per share is calculated on the BREARNEARRIHEE AR ?
profit attributable to owners of the Company divided HHEMENBE_FT_FFR=F -
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares —NF+ZA=Zt-BLFEEHE
in issue during the years ended 31 December 2020 TEBRMEFIRBGEE -
and 2019.
Ll
2020 2019 =
—2-8% -—T-N&F _O
g
Profit attributable to owners of ZAUNCIE 2PN apiw i 3
the Company (HK$’000) (F&T) 28,881 22,357 0
Weighted average number of ordinary £ 217 B INHE F 9 A% & E
shares in issue (thousand shares) (FR%) 1,000,000 1,000,000 @
Basic earnings per share (HK cents)  SRRERZF GEl) 2.89 2.24
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERME

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 12 BRER (&)
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) SREBBEERR
The diluted earnings per share is calculated by SREERF B BRFREITEIN
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary mnEFHLTARKRBEABERERS
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all EEEEEERGTE -
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
Diluted earnings per share was the same as basic BREBZE-Z-ZTF+-_A=1+—
earnings per share due to the absence of dilutive HEFEYEETHELBR A
potential ordinary shares for the year ended 31 It 5 AR 8 58 2 ) ER 19 AR B R & T A
December 2020. [ e
For the year ended 31 December 2019, the diluted HE-_ZT-—NF+=A=1+—H1E
earnings per share presented was same as the FE - MENSRBEERFNETR
basic earnings per share as the share options of the EXRBFER - TTEAXRR R BB
Company have an anti-dilutive effect. A REERE -
13 DIVIDENDS 13 KE
2020 2019
—EC-BHE —NEF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAET
Interim dividend paid of HK0.8 cent Bt B AR B AR 3B AR0. 878 Il
(2019: HKO.8 cent) per ordinary share  (=ZZ—J14F : 0.87%l) 8,000 8,000
Proposed final dividend of BEAARETRIT @R .28
HK1.2 cents (2019: HKO.8 cent) (ZZ—hF : 0.8781l)
per ordinary share (note) (Pf5E) 12,000 8,000
20,000 16,000
Note: Htat -

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 of 1.2 cents
per ordinary share, amounting to a total dividend of HK$12,000,000, is to
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on 24 May 2021.

RBE_T-_ZET A=+ RALFENRDE
SEREBE.2E W (KRB 42 % R12,000,000/%
) R B —FRA-THBREREITZEAR
AEERFBFEARE LIEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

REMBWMRMEE

14 Y% BEKRKE

SY3ATOHIYVHS N0 OL

Land & Plant &  Furniture & Office Motor Leasehold Construction
buildings  machinery fixtures equipment  vehicles improvements in progress Total
it BE BE #AZ BEN%
kg R R#E B RE &5 EEIR Eh 3
HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 3
FEn FEr FEr FEr FEn FEn ér  TEn ]log
L=,
Year ended HE-3-%% 5=
31 December 2020 tZA=+-HLEE i~ lgj
Net book value at RZZ-F5-A-R §
1 January 2020 MREFE 24,600 19,436 1,587 431 1,611 4,444 260 58,375 g |
Bxchange realignment B % - () 18 - - 78 13 106 i
Additions hE - 5,208 1,548 138 328 1,575 - 8,797
Transfer gz - 213 - - - - (213) -
Deficit on revaluation ElR) S (1,831) - - - - - - (188
Disposals HE - - 21) m - (254) - (282)
Depreciation e (1,069) (5,381) (2,789) (121) (472) (1,655) - (11,487)
Balance at \ZE_% ?E
31 December 2020 TZRAZT- B 21700 19,533 6,343 447 1,467 4,188 - 53678 5
At 31 December 2020 \"Z-% o
+t-B=t-H
Cost or valuation WA EE 21,700 53,310 22,292 3,963 4,169 28,801 - 134,235
Accumulated depreciation 23 - (3317 (15,949) (3,516) (2,702) (24,613) - (80,557)
Net book value at WZZ-ZF
31 December 2020 tZR=+-H i
NEEFE 21,700 19,533 6,343 447 1,467 4,188 - 53678 g
Z
g
> =
e
¥ O
oK <
Y m
By
P
>
=z
(@]
m
Ll
=z
>
=z
@]
2
iq
E
=
m
=z
@
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERME

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14 Y% - BER®RE (&)

Land & Plant&  Furniture & Office Motor  Leasehold Construction

buildings  machinery fixtures equipment  vehicles improvements in progress Total
i BE BE WAE HENE
kg R R#E B e &8 ERIE h)
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FEn FEr FEr FE7 FEx FE7 fEr  TEn
Year ended BE-g-nE
31 December 2019 TZBZ+-ALEE
Net book value at RZE-NE-A-H
1 January 2019 HEREFE 24,850 6,805 9,209 286 634 7,563 267 49,614
Exchange realignment BiAE - = (3) ) - ) - (13
Additions hE - 16,135 1,510 268 1,319 10 - 19,302
Surplus on revaluation EREH 699 - - - - - - 699
Disposals e - 9 (20) (16) - - Wl (52)
Depreciation he (949) (3,495) (3,169 (100) (342) (3,120) - (11,175)
Balance as at RZE-NE
31 December 2019 TZAZT-R0ES 24,600 19,436 7,587 437 1611 4,444 0 58,375
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
t-B=1-R
Cost or valuation R R 24,600 48,190 21,028 3,850 3,841 27,534 260 129,308
Accumulated depreciation  2EHTE = (28,754) (13,441) (3,413 (2,230) (23,090) - (70,928)
Net book value at RZE-NE
31 December 2019 T-A=t+-H
MREFE 24,600 19,436 7,587 437 1,611 4444 260 58,375
The analysis of the cost or valuation at 31 December 2020 of the above assets is as follows:
FHEER_E-_EF+ A=+ HORASEEITOT :
Land & Plant &  Furniture & Office Motor  Leasehold Construction
buildings machinery fixtures equipment  vehicles improvements in progress Total
1 HE KR HAZ BENx
it & R REE By ] RE £ HRIE @t
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn FEr FEr FEn
At cost HER K - 19,533 6,343 447 1,467 4,188 - 31978
At valuation ikt 21,700 - - - - - - 21,700
21,700 19,533 6,343 447 1,467 4,188 - 53,678
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020, depreciation
expense of HK$5,381,000 and HK$6,106,000 (2019:
3,495,000 and HK$7,680,000) was charged to “cost of
sales” and “administrative expenses” respectively.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s land and buildings
are held under medium term leases (unexpired period
between 20 years to 50 years) and the carrying amounts
of land and buildings pledged as part of the securities for
banking facilities from a bank amounted to HK$21,700,000
(2019: HK$24,600,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any fixed
assets held under finance leases (2019: HK$208,000).

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s land and building was valued at 31 December
2020 and 2019 by independent professionally qualified
valuers who hold a recognised relevant professional
qualification and had recent experience in the locations
and segments of the assets valued. For land and building,
the current use equates to the highest and best use.

The Group’s finance division includes a team that reviews
the valuations performed by the independent valuers for
financial reporting purposes. This team reports directly
to the chief financial officer (“CFO”) and the Directors.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between the CFO, directors, the valuation team and valuers
annually. As at 31 December 2020, the fair values of the
land and building were determined by Ascent Partners
Group Limited (2019: Grant Sherman Appraisal Limited).

REMBRRMEE

14 Y% - Jﬁﬁ%&%&ﬁ (&)

HE_Z-ZF+_A=+—HLFE"
& % F35,381,000/% 7T &6,106,000
B (Z & — NLF 3,495,000 7t &
7,680,000/ 7T) D RIFTF A TSEER A &
[TTERAS ] ©

R-ZZ-_ZF+-_A=+—08 ~5EZ
T REFAEP AL CRABHEA
20F E50F) 58 - UREIRF L KiE
F WEABRITIEMRITRENIDHE
%) BRME & &21,700,0008 7T (ZT—A
£ 1 24,600,000/ 7T) °

RIZB-ZEF+_A=+—R0 AEEL
BERMEHERBENETEE (ZF—
JUE : 208,000/ 7T) °

AEEWEERRE

AEENLHEBTFR_FT_TFR_
—hFET-A=1t— EIEiﬂE%/\éT%ﬁ_L
HEMGE - ZFEHEMAER AN
HEEXER UTEGBEEENMR NS T
ERANOER -t REFMmE - B
REBAERN&RE&ERZ -

REBERNTBHBEE—ZAEEZBLE
BT BREETHEENERK - ZE
BEZRAEFVEE ((BEEMEE]) &
EEWE - AEVBHE  EF - HEEK
MEEMSFREERAERERETH
MmN E-FTF+-_A=+—H Lt
FEFHAFERANAEEERAR (=
Z—NF  FEFHBRAA) EE o

VINHO4NI 31vH40d400

SY3ATOHIEVHS dNO OL NOI LY

)H 31vH0dd00

g

IAO
= VAN

JFONVNY

SINIWILVLIS TVIONVNIL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

14

15

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Valuation processes of the Group (Continued)

At each financial year end the finance division:

o verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation
report;

o assesses property valuations movements when
compared to the prior year valuation report; and

° holds discussions with the independent valuers.

Valuation techniques

For land and building, the valuation was determined using
the sale comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable
properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in
key attributes such as property size. The most significant
input into this valuation approach is price per square
foot, which is approximately amounted to HK$5,447 per
square foot for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
HK$6,135 per square foot).

14

M - BMERSZE (&)

AEBWHERRE (&)

REVREELER - BHEL

e REBIUMEREZMEXZEHA
%

s RUBRBAFEZHERSHE T
EMELEES : &

o EBYVIHERFTH

fEERI

REHREFME @ HEFRAESHEE
BE - LA BMENEEBRSREE
MEXNERRBUEEEMARE - ZHE
FHAZREEAEREANEBFEARZ
B BE-Z-_ZTF+=-A=+—H1L
FEAEBFHRL5447TET(ZEE—H
F: BFHR6,135%57T) °

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 15 BRAFVEFABRZRNEHMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Unlisted E ]
- Key man insurance contracts —ZEERBAEY (i) 8,816 8,621
- Fund investments —EeiE (ii) 5,038 S
13,854 8,621
Notes: Kz -

(i) The amount represented the investment element of key man
insurances purchased for an executive Director of the Company and
a senior management of the Group.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of key man insurances
pledged as security for the Group’s outstanding bank loan amounted
to HK$4,282,000 (2019: HK$5,189,000).

(ii) The fund investments were classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss as they were held for trading. The
fund investments were valued at observable prices of comparable
investments. During the year ended 31 December 2020, an increase
in fair value of HK$38,000 (2019: nil) is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

() BZEWEALA-ERTEFRALE %5
BEREFBESERROIETLE -

R-ZFB_ZE+_A=+—H EREEHE
AEERTEREARNEERBREEES
4,282,000/ 7T (= T — N1 % : 5,189,000/
L) °

(ii) ZESREEDHEREATEAARERNE
MEE  THRZEREARERZAE - %
SESREDEAVELBRENATBRERME
BE-BE_Z_TF+_RA=t+—HLFE"
PiRA 2 ERERER A FELE 38,0008 T

B ) o

778 TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | (& T %2 EF£@ER A A



16 SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 KEBAF

REMBRRMEE

RIBE-_EFR - T—AF+_A=1+—

2020 and 2019 are as follows: BREXEMBARFENAT :
Place of incorporation
or establishment and Issued and Effective interest held
Company name type of legal entity Principal activities paid-in capital by the Company
BIPVET WA E Y
NRER HEERESR TEEHK BRTREARE RARRECERER
2020 2019
—¥=%F  _TNF
Directly held:
EERR:
Trio Engineering Company Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability ~ Sale of electronic product 200,000 shares 100% 100%
company HK$20,000,000
HETRARAF &b/ AREEAA HEETER 200,0007 1
20,000,000 7
Professional Electronics Hong Kong/Limited liability ~ Sale of electronic product 10,000 shares 100% 100%
Manufacturing Solutions Limited company HK$10,000
EEBTIXRBERAA &8/ BRELAA HEBTEM 10,000 R 13
10,0007
Deltrix Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability  Sale of electronic product 10,000 shares 100% 100%
company HK$10,000
BN NERAT &%/ BREALH HETTER 10,0008 & 13
10,0007 T
Indirectly held:
MiEEE
Panyu Trio Microtronics Co., Ltd. The PRC/Wholly Manufacturing of Paid-in capital 100% 100%
foreign-owned enterprise electronic product US$5,000,000
BATEBRENERERAA hE/NEBELE HEBTEM EARA
5,000,000% 7T
Guangzhou Professional Electronics  The PRC/Wholly Sale of electronic product Paid-in capital 100% 100%
Manufacturing Solutions Limited foreign-owned enterprise RMB500,000
ENERETIEREER AT B/ IEBELE HEETER EARA
AR 500,000
Trio Engineering GmbH Germany/Limited Sale and development of Paid-in capital 100% 100%
liability company printed circuit boards and EUR200,000
electronics sub-assemblies
B8/ EREEAA ARERRRE A EARA
MEERFAE 200,0008( T
Trio-tronics Manufacturing Ireland/Limited Global sourcing and 100,000 shares 100% 100%
Global Limited liability company purchase of materials, EUR100,000
sales and marketing,
service support
ERH/BRELAT SRFBRBEMR 100,0008 83
HEREH  RBXH 100,000 7T

EEHCHR T

SY3ATOHIEVHS dNO OL

EHEGh I
SINIWILVLS TVIONVYNIS

NOILVINHO4NI 31vH0dH00

AOYH F1VH0dH00

JFONVNY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMEE
16 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 16 HEBLTR (&)
Place of incorporation
or establishment and Issued and Effective interest held
Company name type of legal entity Principal activities paid-in capital by the Company
SMB LKL LER
NAER HRERER TEEH BRTREARE FAARECERER
2020 2019
—B-BF TR
Deltrix (Europe) Limited Ireland/Limited Manufacturing of 100,000 shares 100% 100%
liability company electronic components EUR100,000
EBW/ARECARA BEERTHH 100,000 {7
100,0008A 7T
Trio-Tronics (Thailand) Limited Thailand/Limited Manufacturing of Paid-in capital 100% N/A
liability company electronic product THB38,000,000
%8/ BREALA HESTEm EARA TaR
38,000,000%
17 INVENTORIES 17 #E
2020 2019
—B-BHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Raw materials B 94,776 99,203
Work in progress RS 22,664 23,431
Finished goods BIRK T 11,129 19,728
Goods in transit TEE R 4,362 2,733
132,931 145,095
The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included HE_ZT-ZF+-_A=+—HILFE "
in “cost of sales” amounted to HK$418,587,000 for the BRAERAITIFATHERKRERA NFEE
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$498,528,000). B AN 5418,587,0008 7T (Z & — L5
A provision for impairment of inventories of HK$2,912,000 498,528,000 7T) - HHE T _ZEF +
was recognised in “other operating expenses” in the —A=+t—HLEEFE REtdzEk=
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the RANERATEMSER ] OFER
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$3,270,000). BB B2,912,000/ T (Z 2 — hFE

3,270,000/ 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRRME
18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18 EFRHEMEWRIE

2020 2019

—E-2F ZFNF

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Bt FET FET

Trade receivables =) AE e (a) 184,350 157,175
Less: allowance for impairment of o 2 BRI
trade receivables ER R (b) (1,836) (1,329) 2
Trade receivables — net B G pElhkiE — F58 182,514 155,846 ¥

Other receivables H fth pE U Fh1B 530 789

183,044 156,635

Under the factoring arrangement with banks, the Group
has transferred certain trade receivables to the factor in
exchange for cash and is prevented from selling or pledging
the receivables. The Group has been legally transferred all
of the risks and rewards of ownership of the discounted
trade receivables to the financial institutions. The carrying
amounts of the trade receivables exclude receivables which
are subject to factoring arrangement.

Notes:

(a) Trade receivables were arising from trading of
electronic products. The payment terms of trade
receivables granted to third party customers generally
range from full payment before shipment to 75 days
after the end of month. The aging analysis of the trade
receivables based on invoice date at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

RBERITHRERYE - AEED KA
TESREFAERZRIEANRIGR
T WREEIE R EREREWFR - KK
EEREMREESREKRBERBEENAE
R MERAZERTSRESE - BEHE
WHRIEREENBRZRIERHRRAE
WOskIE ©

Hiet -

(@) EZRKWFERBETEfFEM-
BRYE=TEFNEZREFIAEN
MHER-—REEEMEENRE
R#E#R76K - RBEZEZRH  ®E
HAR ) & 5 i WK TE 1) BR i 99 AT 1A
T

g

2020 2019

—E-FF —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Below 30 days 30KLAR 103,917 85,083
Between 31 and 60 days 31260K 49,052 37,249
Over 60 days 60K A £ 31,381 34,843
184,350 157,175

Trade and other receivables are past due when a
counterparty has failed to make a payment when
contractually due.

EHF I TERNE DB HE AR
B E5 REAMERFIRRR SE
5 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERME

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 18 B3Rk HE{bEWRIE (&)
(a) (Continued) (a) (&
As at 31 December 2020, trade receivables of W-_ZE-_ZTF+-_A=+—H" &
HK$150,129,000 (2019: HK$126,821,000) were not 5 W FkTE 150,129,000 7T (==&
yet past due. — L% 126,821,000/8 70) & A8
Hy o
Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired BEaHETEREZE S EWKKRE
relate to a number of independent customers for MEZWESAUNBERENBLE
whom there is no significant financial difficulty and FPER BEATLER - AIUEZ
based on past experience, the overdue amounts can LEERIE - ZFRWNFIBRRE
be recovered. The aging analysis of these receivables AITAT -
is as follows:
2020 2019
—B-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Past due by: peng=i
Below 30 days 30KLATR 29,825 22,291
Between 31 and 60 days 31 260X 1,657 1,599
Over 60 days FNY 2,739 6,464
34,221 30,354

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables
are denominated in the following currencies:

AREBEE S EYFHIRZREERT
SIEHEHE -

2020 2019
—E-EF —E—NF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

HK$ BT 148 253
RMB AR ¥ 3,930 1,865
Uss$ ETT 180,014 155,045
EUR BT 258 u
GBP K - 12
184,350 157,175
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBWMRME
18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 18 Z 3R HEtEWKTIE (£)
(b) Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (b) BZEWFIBRERE
The movements on the allowance for impairment of B2RAGRREREREBIT
trade receivables are as follows:
2020 2019
b g %2 —ZT-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
At 1 January R—A—H 1,329 4,601
Exchange realignment b R (7) -
Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance FERRGEEER S
recognised in consolidated statement of R EaRE
comprehensive income during the year B S GRA)
(note 7) (FF3E7) 514 (1,028)
Receivables written off during the year as  £E JJ [ 7~ AT U 1B 41 5
uncollectible FEM FRIE = (2,249)
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—8H 1,836 1,329
The creation and release of provision for impaired B R 18 18 LUK I B 2 38 2R R R BR
receivables have been included in “other operating ERfAREZEKER fﬁfﬂi‘“%%ﬁ
expenses” in the consolidated statement of T A sFABEBR 2 FUE—RNTE
comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the Eﬁﬁﬁi”ﬁl@gﬁﬂ‘fﬁiﬁv%ﬁﬁ

allowance account are generally written off, when
there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables
approximate their fair values as at 31 December 2020
and 2019.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit loss which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.
Information about the impairment of trade receivables
and the Group’s exposure to credit risk can be found
in note 3.1(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

N_E_FEFR_E—NF+=A

=+—8" %%&E@F’EH& IR Z
FREEEEAHERS

AEERBEBMISRE LD FEHR
Bl F AT ERHEERE &Y
FrEBZEWRFEFR2HERE
BEE - EHESERFERED
EREAEERERNEERRBRESRE
RE MR FES. (D) ©

HE

g

EHEGh I
SINIWILVLS TVIONVYNIS

NOILVINHO4NI 31vH0dH00
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERME

19 PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

19 BANRERRE

2020 2019
= —FNEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Prepayments TR IE 18,879 9,249
Rental, utility and other deposits M PRAEEREMES 12,776 11,524
31,655 20,773

Less: non-current portion B IETRENER S
Prepayments TET A (1,864) (1,897)
Current portion mENER D 29,791 18,876

The carrying amounts of deposits of the Group approximate
their fair values as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

20 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK
AND CASH BALANCES

AEERENEAEREAR T _TFR-F
—hF+ZA=t—BZRAVFEHEE -

20 TRFBITERRBOTIRRESE

VN

2020 2019
= —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#ET FAET
Restricted bank deposits (note (a)) ZRHRITER (H5E(@) 6,139 6,186
Time deposit up to three months BE=EA A TR ERFER 50,000 85,000
Bank and cash balances IRITRIB % 49,216 12,679
99,216 97,679

Notes: Htat -

(a) The Group’s restricted bank deposits represented
deposits pledged to banks to secure banking facilities
granted to a subsidiary of the Group as set out in note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

(a) AEEWNZRBIBITERXRSERR
RITOEFR - MMERGRAEPBIE
MisE28fr i X T AKE —RME A
BIRYIRTTRRE 2 A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEmRME

20 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 20 ZR&BITEZRBITRRLSSE
AND CASH BALANCES (Continued) g (&)

(b) The carrying amount of restricted bank deposits, time (b) AEENZRERITER - BE=

deposit up to three months, cash and bank balances BAKUATHEER - BERIE
THBRAEN T EEBEHE -

of the Group are denominated in the following 3

currencies: B

(@)

b

2 5

2020 2019 o C

—g=-8% -—T-NE o

2

HK$’000 HK$’000 %

FET TR 5
HK$ BT 72,395 96,020
us$ = 23,370 4,097
RMB AR 5,558 2,749
EUR BT 1,021 960

THB Rk 2,973 = 3

Other currencies Hih 5 38 39 . %

105,355 103,865

(c) The Group’s bank and cash balances included (c) BEZABERERME  A5EM é

the following for the purpose of the consolidated ROTRIFACEBRBIEUTIER ¢ 3

statement of cash flows:

2020 2019

—E-FHF —TNEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Time deposit up to three months BH=EA A TR EHRFER 50,000 85,000
Bank and cash balances RIT IR 6k 49,216 12,679
Bank overdraft (note 22) RITER (5E22) = (841)
Cash and cash equivalents RBeRReEEY 99,216 96,838

The restricted deposits, time deposit up to three
months, and bank and cash balances are at fixed
interest rate range from 0.001% to 0.2% per annum
(2019: 0.001% to 2.55%) as at 31 December 2020
and therefore are subject to fair value interest rate

risk.

N-_B-_ZEE+_A=+—0 %
RETFR - BHE=ZEALATHE
B RA RIRIT R & AR E T
FERREEO0.001%E0.2% (ZFE—
NE 0.001%E2.55%) =t & -

I ZAE B A FEMXRER

anl
=z
>
P
Q
2>
%o
HH 4
>

3
%m
<
m
z
=
w

AOYH F1VH0dH00
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M BBRRME

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21 B RHMENIE
2020 2019
—E-EF ZThF
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
it FHETT FET
Trade payables B 5 ENFIE (@) 95,693 78,640
Trust receipts (ELTS 14,211 25,224
Accruals and other payables FEET N E At FE A 5RIR 19,884 14,643
129,788 118,507

Notes:

(a) The credit terms of trade payables granted by the
vendors generally range from full payment before
shipment to net 180 days. The aging analysis of trade
payables based on invoice date at and of reporting

period is as follows:

Byt

(a) BEARTHEZENFENEED
—RALEME2HENRERER180
ATE - REZZAH HEHKR
B BN RIERRE T T -

2020 2019

—ECEF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Below 30 days 30KLATR 42,161 40,086
Between 31 and 60 days 31 260X 37,180 26,975
Over 60 days 60K A 16,352 11,579
95,693 78,640

(b) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables
are denominated in the following currencies:

(b) AEEEZEMFBZIEKEEAT
SIEEEEHE

2020 2019
—B-%F —T-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FEIT

HK$ BT 17,674 12,936
Us$ =T 36,220 33,578
RMB AR 40,021 30,049
EUR BT 1,298 1,384
Other currencies Hih & 480 693
95,693 78,640
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRERME
22 BORROWINGS 22 &
2020 2019
—g-®5 -T-hf
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FET 3
Term loans THE R (a) 4,468 5,822 3
Insurance premium loan REEXK (@) 4,282 5,189 .-
Bank overdraft RITESX (@) - 841 =i
- T
8,750 11,852 .
z
;;
(@]
The Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows (without REBMEREEBRAT REFRTX -
taking into account the Repayable on Demand Clause as B 5% (a) FTRF LR 2 SKE BN -
detailed in note (a)) below:
2020 2019 ‘
—g-88 -—T-AE  ©
HK$°000 HK$'000 =%
— WO
FET FHET <
- 2
Within 1 year 1FE R 2,327 2,969 ‘T g
Between 1 and 2 years 1FZE25F 2,374 2,221 =
Between 2 and 5 years 2FEEHF 4,049 5,790 3
Over 5 years 5F A - 872
8,750 11,852
Note: Mat - o
%
(a) As these loans include a clause that gives the lender the unconditional (@) HRZEEREE " BERIE TERAERK e
right to call the loans at any times (‘Repayment on Demand HENEENSHELDER ([REREEK B g
Clause”), according to HK Interpretation 5 “Presentation of Financial ) BREEEREESRIMBERENT *i m
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that - ERAERE AR ERERERZ T ) g
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause” which requires the ERzHE] ERER SRR ERERK r;\gji
classification of whole term loans containing the Repayment on FHEHERDBEARDEE  ZZTERIH Z
Demand Clause as current liabilities, these loans were classified by AARIBEARBEE - Z
the Company as current liabilities. m
.
z
>
5
2 2
A
<
m
b
@
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE

22 BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the total borrowings
pledged by certain assets and their carrying values are

22 &% (&)

RZB_ZTFR_ZFE—NF+_A=+—
B UETEEEBERNBERNIERR

shown as below: BY RN -
2020 2019
—E-FF —FNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Property, plant and equipment (note 14)  #)% - &&E &&E (FizE14) 21,700 24,600

Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFTABTRERS

profit or loss (note 15) SREE (FisE15) 8,816 8,621
Restricted bank deposits (note 20) R EIRITER (FEE20) 6,139 6,186
36,655 39,407

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate
changes and the contractual repricing dates at end of the
reporting period are as follows:

RBERR - AEEBREEEH N RES
R RAEREFEEAHRMOT

2020 2019

—ECEF —ET-NEF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Variable rate EHENF R 8,750 11,852

The fair value of current borrowings equals their carrying
amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

The effective interest rate of bank borrowings are 3.53%
per annum for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
3.88% per annum).

HRITBREFELIFEKN - AIHIERZAF
ERAEREERS

BE-_E-_TE+-_A=+—HILEE -
RITEZNERFFEAE3.53% (ZF—
NEF  FFI%E3.88%) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEmRME

BORROWINGS (Continued) 22 &R (&)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are REEERZEEEATIEEFHE -
denominated in the following currencies:
2020 2019
—ECEF ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
HK$ BIT 4,468 6,663
Us$ EIT 4,282 5,189
8,750 11,852
The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities: REB A TN HARIZEMERBERE -
2020 2019
—EFFF —FB-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAETT FEIT
Expiring within one year R—F AR 219,922 208,249
FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 23 REHESENIEA
2020 2019
—EDEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Gross finance lease liabilities MEHEaEAE
- minimum lease payments - BREAEFR
Within 1 year 1FR - 43
Future finance charges on finance lease ~ FEAMEHRKBHE S H = =
Present values of finance lease liabilities MmEHEEaENRE = 43
The carrying amounts of balances of the Group approximate AEEEMcERERER S -ZFK
their fair values as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. —E-hFE+-A=+—HZAFEMR

Assets arranged under finance leases represent plant and
machinery. The average lease term is 4 years with effective
interest rate of 3.63% per annum as at 31 December 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRME
24 SHARE CAPITAL 24 R
2020 2019
= i
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
RAEE 8 B! £
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Issued and fully paid BRTRERE
At the beginning and the end of the year REDRER 1,000,000,000 281,507  1,000,000,000 281,507

25

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION

Pursuant to a written resolution of the then shareholder
passed on 27 October 2017, the Company adopted a
Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”). The terms of the
Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.

The Scheme is a share incentive scheme established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions eligible
participants have made to the Group. The Scheme is valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
date of the adoption of the Scheme, unless terminated
earlier by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Participants may include: (i) any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner
or adviser of or contractor to any member of the Group
or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a
subsidiary of such company (the “Affiliate”); (ii) the trustee
of any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary
trust the discretionary objects of which include any director,
employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier,
agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to any member
of the Group or an Affiliate; or (i) a company beneficially
owned by any director, employee, consultant, professional,
customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor
to any member of the Group or an Affiliate.

25

UREREERBROABERSRN
X5
BRER-Z—+tF+AZ+EAHRERR
HBBANEERERER - N2 R ENERE
T8 ([t 8ll) - ZETEIMIERFE £
TR BNFE17ERIE -

&t 8l A — AR R 8 - I AREA
BEARERSEEHAEEMERRMR
Moo AT EIRRFARBRAEBRR ARG LIRE
R1E - BRIB &SRS A HE+FHME
BRRERN

S2HEEMBHE  ((ANEEERKERARH
AEERFAEPEDH A B HE R AR
BRABNEMAES B8 - EH - FXA
B -BP - fEnm - K2 ABASLFKN
ASENE ([BBAL]  ((EBEXE
ABEASBEAKEARMNERMES -
BE - B EXAR TP - HHER
RIE - BBA - 7B A SR 2 R
THEMEEREEEENZTEA ¢ 2K
AEBEIAKERABNEAES B8 -
BRE - HXEAE - BP - fiERm - K2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTION (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme was 70,000,000
(2019: 70,000,000 shares), representing 7% (2019: 7%) of
the issued share capital of the Company. The aggregate
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company, must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at the Listing Date. The 10%
limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of
the Company’s shareholders in general meeting provided
that the total number of the Company’s shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company, must not exceed 10% of the Company’s shares
in issue as at the date of the approval of the refreshed limit.

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect
of which options granted and which may be granted to
any individual in any 12-month period up to the date of the
grant, shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of this
limit must be separately approved by the Company’s
shareholders in a general meeting with such grantee and
his/her close associates abstaining from voting. Any grant
of an option to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective
associates) must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is the grantee of the option).

REMBRRMEE

25 DESEERROAERMSRE

x5 (#&)
MN-ZB-_TE+-A=+—08 - BEZXT
21| 7] 4 2% 77 89 A% {5 42 B A70,000,0000%
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NEBBITRAT% (ZF—NF 1 7%) °
RIEZ T8I AR T H b BE R M A 2
BRHMA FITENTE RITERREE
TERAEITHRMNAE - & X TE5HBA
ARRARNETAEHEZEITRMH10% ° %
10% ERRATBERF R AR AR R EBE RS
RO T AES - EREZAEIRAR
AT R T R AT AR
TEIETTIERF Al T EITHI A D R IR 1D 4B 8K -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 25 LUEZZ£ERROAERSEMN

TRANSACTION (Continued)

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder of
the Company or an independent non-executive Director
(or any of their respective associates) will result in the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted and to be granted to such
person under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of grant representing in aggregate
over 0.1% of the shares in issue and having an aggregate
value, based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such further
grant of options is required to be approved by shareholders
at a general meeting of the Company, with voting to be
taken by way of a poll.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for shares,
the eligible participant shall pay HK$1 to the Company
as consideration for the grant. The subscription price of
a share subject to options granted under the Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the higher of:

() the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
grant of the option; and

(i)  The average closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of
the grant of the option.

X5 (&)

MAARR EERRRBILIFEATES
(HBEESANEABEA) REEAE
B eEFNEFMIEARERES
REAH (BFEZA) A LREZAE
R AR R B At BB AR AR AT IR X K iS 1
BOMmERBEE (BEETE CHEER
RRTTE 2 BBAE) BITERE EITRS
BITHRMNAR S HBBEHETROK
0.1%  BRESXEL A MOERN KT
Bt HE - 4 {E# 385,000,000 T - 8l £
M-SR OB ARBRRERNR AR
RAGL#tE  BARKRETARR

BRI REEIR D BV BB AR IR - A BB 2
HEAMARAXMIBTERRRIKL
BRME - RIBZEIREBRER S K
RNAREBEEESHEZSETWMBEE
MEHNER TEKIHEERATERS
S

() BMIMEBARERAIEONERD
BREEHKRHE: &

(i) BMXABAMEBRATEONER
REBREASNNAERSBHF
BRTHE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEmRME

25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 25 UREZEZERRAAEBRNARH

TRANSACTION (Continued) x5 (#&)
The movement in the number of share options under the BE_Z-ZF+_A=T—HILFE "
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2020 is as ZETEIE T ERESR A ZEHNT
follows: o)
(@]
3
Exercise Outstanding  Granted Exercised  Cancelled Outstanding - iﬁ
Price at1January  during during during  at 31 December L E
Date of grant (Note) 2020  the year the year the year 2020 5’ f
R-2-%% R-B-%%F <
R -5-R +B=t-8 =
REAH (HzE) K EARE ERBOE FRHE K -
Executive Directors
BiTES
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah 28 December 2017 0.954 7,000,000 - - (7,000,000) -
RRERE —5-f .
TZA=T/A =
Mr. Tai Leung Lam 28 December 2017 0.954 7,000,000 - - (7,000,000) S ;
BRiEE o 2z
+-A=t/A 5 O
Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy 28 December 2017 0.954 6,000,000 - - (6,000,000) = é
Joseph Mac Carthy%: 4 —E—+F 3
TZA=+/AR
Other eligible participants 28 December 2017 0.954 8,400,000 - - (8,400,000) -
Hiha B2 0EE ZTtF
TZRZTNH
O
28,400,000 - - (28,400,000) - =
9]
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.954 - - HK$0.954 - . %
- e —  — 7 =
MELHTEE 0.954%7T = - 0.954ET = %]r o
0 Q
Note: The closing price of the share immediately before the date on which Hiat - BEBRERR L B ARG KT EA0.95 izj
the share options were granted was HK$0.95. BIT © =
m
il
Pz
>
=z
@]
g2
29
I
=
m
Pz
@
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TRANSACTION (Continued)

The movement in the number of share options under the
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2019 is as

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 25

UREZEERRORBERIRKE
X5 (&)
BE-T-hE+-A=+—AILEE
a8 RS R 2B -

follows:
Exercise  Outstanding Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
Price  at 1 January during during during at 31 December
Date of grant (Note) 2019 the year  the year the year 2019
RZB-0§ RZB-N§
e -fA-H TZRZt-8
BB (M) K ERRE  FREHE EREH TR
Executive Directors
HiTES
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah 28 December 2017 0.954 7,000,000 = = = 7,000,000
REEEE “Etf
TZAZtAR
Mr. Tai Leung Lam 28 December 2017 0.954 7,000,000 - - - 7,000,000
HRMEE “TtF
TZAZT/NE
Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy 28 December 2017 0.954 6,000,000 = = = 6,000,000
Joseph Mac Carthy%: 4 ZE—+F
TZAZtAR
Other eligible participants 28 December 2017 0.954 9,700,000 - - (1,300,000) 8,400,000
EthaERSEE “TtF
TZAZT/NE
29,700,000 - - (1,300,000) 28,400,000
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.954 - - - HK$0.954
MEPITEE 0.9547 7T - - - 0.9547 T

Note: The closing price of the share immediately before the date on which et - BB BEARE B HAATAI IR0 LT (B £ 0.95/8
the share options were granted was HK$0.95. JC ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTION (Continued)

The options granted on 28 December 2017 (the “Valuation
Date”) with an exercise price of HK$0.954 per share, are
vested for a period of three years immediately after the
date of the grant. Options granted are exercisable after
three years but not exceeding ten years from the date of
the grant.

As approved by the Board and consented by the option
holders, all outstanding share options granted under
the Scheme, being an aggregate of 28,400,000 share
options, were cancelled with effect from 21 January
2020 in accordance with the terms of the Scheme. No
compensation was payable to the option holders for the
cancellation of the share options. The amount previously
recognised in share option reserve was transferred to
retained profits. Except for the above, no share options
were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
nil).

Share-based compensation expenses of HK$198,000 were
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
HK$3,533,000).

25

REMBRRMEE

UREZEERROABERIRKE
X5 (%&)
R-Z—tF+-A=-+NRA(5ER
$)) W16 (B A B AR0.05478 LAY AR
B DREREEHBRG = FRNS
BB o IR M BB ARHE A AN IR B At =
FRETBBTFOHBITE -

CEESHETEBEREZFFARE B
BRZAT 8RBT A M AR 1T A B AR
(BN 42 3128,400,0007 BEE M #E) - B8 =
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T AR o SRR EE AR BRER
BEAXHEMESE AT BB AR AE R
REOCHEEREREBEF - B EXFtE
I BEZE_EF+-_A=+—AHLHF
B BERREREZEERLE BT
i BHEEREER (ZZT—NEFE  #) -

VAR 10 A 2 1 69 3% B 59 52 198,000/% 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 26 ELFEHR
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary HE_Z-ZF+_A=+—HILFE"
differences under the liability method using a principal BEEMSHOEAEEREEHEEER
taxation rate of 16.5% for the year ended 31 December FEHE16.5% (ZF — 1% :16.5%)
2020 (2019: 16.5%). The net movement on the deferred FTE o AIMNERTIIBNESHARELEFEH
income tax liabilities, arising from accelerated tax BEFEFHNOT -

depreciation is as follows:

(a) Deferred tax assets (a) EEFHEEE
2020 2019
—E_THF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
At 1 January R—H—H 214 S
Exchange realignment fE 5 A= = (1)
(Charged)/credited to consolidated RErE2EBERA
statement of comprehensive income (%) 5t A
(note ¢) (Ff3Ee) (214) 215
At 31 December n+—-—A=+—H - 214
(b) Deferred tax liabilities (b) EEZEFHEBEAEESE
2020 2019
—E_THF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
At 1 January Rn—H—H 4,098 3,735
Credited to other comprehensive income AR M EEYES (294) (45)
Charged to consolidated i 2EK AT
statement of comprehensive income H0BR (PsEce)
(note ¢) 143 408
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—H 3,947 4,098
(c) Deferred income tax charged/(credited) to () REEZEB@RAMEE (FEA)
consolidated statement of comprehensive HYIESE A 1S Bt
income
2020 2019
—EC-EF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT FET
Deferred tax assets (note a) EEFTBEE (Mizta) 214 (215)
Deferred tax liabilities (note b) EETRIBEE (Mitb) 143 408
Deferred income tax charged to RErE2EBERA
consolidated statement of BRAIEEFT ISR
comprehensive income (note 11) (BtzE11) 357 193
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

(d)

(e

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are expected
to be recognised/settled after more than 12 months.

Deferred income tax liabilities of HK$5,764,000 as at
31 December 2020 (2019: HK$5,315,000) have not
been recognised for the withholding tax that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain
subsidiaries. Unremitted earnings as at 31 December
2020 is HK$115,272,000 (2019: HK$106,309,000).

27 RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Other capital reserve

Other capital reserves as at 31 December 2020
and 2019 represent the aggregate paid-in capital
of the subsidiaries acquired, offset by investment
costs in subsidiaries of the Company during the
Reorganisation.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the
articles of association of those group companies
incorporated in the PRC, the group companies are
required to appropriate 10% of their profits after
tax, as determined in accordance with Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises and the
Accounting System for Business Enterprises and
other regulations applicable to group companies,
to the statutory surplus reserve until such reserve
reaches 50% of the registered capital of the group
companies. The appropriation to the reserve must be
made before any distribution of dividends to holders
of the group companies. The statutory surplus reserve
can be used to offset previous years’ losses, if any,
and part of the statutory surplus reserve can be
capitalised as the group companies’ capital provided
that the amount of such reserve remaining after the
capitalisation shall not be less than 25% of the capital
of the group companies.

Revaluation reserve

Revaluation reserves as at 31 December 2020 and
2019 represent the revaluation of land and buildings
held by the Group.

26

27
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE

27 RESERVES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Share option reserve

The fair value of share options granted at the grant
date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period with a corresponding increase in the
share option reserve.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to ultimately vest and the impact of the
revision of these estimates, if any, is recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the remaining vesting period, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

At the time when the options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in the share option
reserve is transferred to the share capital. When the
share options are forfeited or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in the share option reserve is transferred to retained
profits.

Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve comprises the
exchange differences arising for the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations.

28 BANKING FACILITIES

(a)

(b)

At 31 December 2020, the Group had banking facilities
totalling HK$270,600,000 (2019: HK$285,600,000)
granted by three banks (2019: three banks). These
facilities were secured by the leasehold land and
buildings of the Group, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of the Group, fixed deposits
placed in two banks, and an indemnity for an unlimited
amount executed by the Company.

The Group’s borrowings and obligations under finance
lease (note 23) of HK$43,000 as at 31 December
2019 were secured by plant and equipment of the
Group, a guarantee executed by the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region Government, and an
indemnity for an unlimited amount executed by the
Company. The Group did not have borrowings and
obligations under finance lease as at 31 December
2020.

27 f#fw (&)

(d)

(e)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBEBRERMT
29 COMMITMENTS 29 &
(a) Capital commitments (a) BAREE
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the RBERARBEITNEREENER
reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows: R UENE
8
2020 2019 3
—E-EF ZE-NF .=
HK$°000 HK$ ' 000 2 il
FET FET ¥ Qg
Property, plant and equipment ME  BENMEE 1,473 - %
S
(b) Operating lease commitments - as a lessee (b) REHERE - FEREHEA
The Group leases office and staff dormitory under AEBBBETIHHECEHERZ
non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The HERAZEREIES - HHBA—
lease terms are within one year. FR o 3
(@]
(e
The total future minimum lease payments under BB SR ERRIER ;_j s
non-cancellable operating lease payable as follows: SEEENRBELOT ¢ = %
2020 2019 e
m
—ECEF —T—NF 3
HK$’000 HK$ ' 000
FHET FET
Within one year —FR 59 44
(@]
o
2
3
2
B 3
WD
op EH
=z
>
=z
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m
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

30 NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 30 R&E&REXRME
(a) Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated (a) BRWADENREEEE ZRSHER
from operations:
2020 2019
s 3 —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Cash flows from operating activities RETEEEESRE
Profit before income tax R PSS B AR T 37,695 24,311
Adjustments for: BRFHIBFAE
Interest income FEMA (874) (1,245
Investment income HEWA (139) =
Amortisation of insurance expense IR R =2 8 8 33 31
Depreciation for property, plant and YE - BENMREITE
equipment 11,487 11,175
Depreciation for right-of-use assets FREEERE 8,602 6,784
Equity-settled share based EREE KR AER
payment expense FFEZ 198 3,533
Finance costs B & R AR 7,324 13,040
Loss on derivative financial instruments AL T AEE - 2,245
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, LEME - BE X
plant and equipment HEEE () 282 (252)
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss & 5 FEW R IB &
on trade receivables EiaRE /(E) 514 (1,023)
Provision for impairment FERERRE
loss on inventories B 2,912 3,270
Obsolete inventories written off BREFEME 1,997 1,325
Fair value gain on financial assets BRATHET A ERERN®
at fair value through profit or loss BMEEMNATE
Wz (356) (177)
Bad debt written off EE AR EH 985 334
Operating profit before working 2BEESEEBAN
capital changes AR 70,660 63,351
Decrease in inventories FERL 7,255 40,124
Increase in trade and B 5 R EAEUGKIA
other receivables bl (27,908) (49,612)
Increase in prepayment and deposits FB 5 FRIB M AR & 18 0 (10,915) (2,186)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5 REAMERNFIA
other payables g,/ Chd) 11,280 (62,519)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities SHadEEm, ) 489 (40)
Net cash generated from/(used in) KEmE (A R
operations okl 50,861 (10,882)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEmRME

30 NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 30 R&hExRK= (&)

Annual Report 2020 €3 25

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) REBEBELZAEYHE:
activities:
8
Borrowings §
(excluding Finance g
Lease interest lease % ;
liabilities payables) payable Total NG i
B g
(Faf  BEAE 5
HERE  EFFR) ERHE @t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FAT FAT
Balance at 1 January 2019 R=B-h%-A—-H
i eh = 31,627 866 32,393 3
(@]
Cash flows BER s
- Inflow from financing activities -BEEHRERA - 37,000 - 37,000 — %
_ Outflow from financing actities ~ ~BEEBBE R, (65355 (57,489) @3  (63667)
- Outflow from operating activities -BETHRS T (1,839) (956) (14) (809  HE
Non-cash changes FHEEE 3
Interest expense FEX 1,839 956 14 2,809
Exchange differences EREE ©) (27) - (30)
Other non-cash items HiFEREBE 28,447 - - 28,447
Balance at 31 December 2019 R-E-h&E+=-A=1+-A
and 1 January 2020 R-BE-ZE-F-ANEH 23,089 11,011 43 34,143 2
Cash flows Bem g
- Inflow from financing activities -BEEHRERA - 10,000 - 10,000 R 2
- Outflow from financing activities -BEFHRESTIL (7,937) (12,259) (43) (20,239) %ﬂ# 2
- Qutflow from operating activities -REEHRE R (1,027) (298) - (1,325) 77
Non-cash changes FHEEE g
Interest expense FEZH 1,027 298 - 1,325 =
Exchange differences ER=S 231 @2 - 229
Other non-cash items Hin3EReBE 9,929 = = 9,929
Balance at 31 December 2020 R-E-Ef+-A=+-H
e 25,312 8,750 - 34,062
.
§
25
5
&
o




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BEMBHRRM T

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31 BEAIRS
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries RATEEWB AR CHORZEREGSE
have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed R B ESEM T BN A EARE - BA
in this note. Save for those disclosed elsewhere in this MEVBHREMITDBEENARIN » &K
consolidated financial statements, details of transactions SEEEMBR T cHNRSFRREDN
between the Group and other related parties are disclosed ™
below:
(a) The directors of the Company are of the view that (a) ARAEZERARUTRARNR_-F

the following company was related party that had
transaction with the Group as at and during the year
ended 31 December 2020:

Relationship
Name of related parties with the Group
Myrra Hong Kong Controlled by Mr. Georges
Limited René Gener, a former

executive Director of the
Company resigned with
effect from 15 February
2020. Myrra Hong Kong
Limited is no longer a
related party of the Group
since 15 February 2020.

(b) The following transactions were undertaken by the (b)
Group with the related party during the year ended
31 December 2020:

—TE+-A=t+-BREEXA
L M RAREETRS N

4
Jr

SAKHE
BESER  WEE

Myrra Hong Kong HZ2 AR
Limited EHITES
Georges René

Generft £
(BZZ=%
F-RA+A
BeE(E) 15
H# > Myrra
Hong Kong
Limited&8 ==
—EFEZA+
THEETERE
IR ER [ Y A Es
7 o

AEERBE-T-TE+=A=
T—BHIEFEEFBTETATR
5

2020 2019
—B-2F —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT FAET
Myrra Hong Kong Limited Myrra Hong Kong Limited
- Purchase of goods —-BEER = 136

Goods are bought from the entity controlled by the
former executive Director, who resigned with effect
from 15 February 2020, on normal commercial terms
and conditions.
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(c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BREMBHRRWET
31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 31 BEARES (&)
Balances due to a related party (c) ENBEBESEER
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Myrra Hong Kong Limited N/A B H 38 )

(d)

The balances due to a related party is mainly
denominated in US$. The amount due to a related
party is unsecured, interest-free, trading in nature
and due within net 60 days. The fair value of amount
due to a related party approximates to the carrying
amount at 31 December 2019.

Key management compensation

Members of key management during the year
comprised the Directors only whose remuneration
is set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(d)

AN/

B
NOILYINHO4NI 3Lv40dH09

FENRBEE B EBEIAR TR E -
ENBEETRELEEN 28
BEZMUEERRIRERE0OREH -
ENEBINATFERER —T—
NEFE+-A=+—BHREERS -

-
FEEEBHH c
(e

RAFETEEREREEBEF 0
N \ \ . SEan
BESIN AR BRAM T EE
FT4AFK - s
5 O

O

m
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w
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERME

32 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 32 ZAQFBMBERRARREGEESD

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

2020 2019
—E_THF —E-NEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
it F#ET FET
Assets EE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RSB R AR E 16 145,182 145,182
Right-of-use asset FEREEE 142 291
Financial assets at fair value through BAFERTA
profit or loss BN erEE 5,038 =
Amount due from a subsidiary U — KM B R B3R IE 86,537 =
Deferred tax asset BT IBEE = 4
236,899 145,477
Current assets REBEE
Dividend receivables EUL RS 8 12,000 8,000
Prepayments and deposits A RIE RiRE 377 298
Amount due from subsidiaries FE U b BB N =) FR 1B 1,751 64,152
Tax recoverable Al U B F I 632 579
Bank and cash balances RITMIR 8k 62,388 89,272
77,148 162,301
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 NE M ENFIE 2,898 2,371
Lease liabilities — current HEAE—RY 155 156
3,053 2,527
Net current assets REBEEFE 74,095 169,774
Total assets less current liabilities EEBERABERE 310,994 305,251
Non-current liability FRBERE
Lease liabilities — non-current HERE—IERD = 155
Net assets EEFE 310,994 305,096
Equity =
Share capital [N 24 281,507 281,507
Reserve (G (a) 29,487 23,589
Total equity mER 310,994 305,096

The statement of financial position of the Company were
approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2021 and

were signed on its behalf

AR BRARERAETFEN T
—F=ZA-t+HBE#E YAUATESEK

RELERE

Lai Yiu Wah Tai Leung Lam
RipE BEM

Director Director

EE EFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BREMBHRRWET
32 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIONAND 32 XARHMBEMRARRFEES
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (7 §)
(Continued)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) AEATHEEE
8
Share §
options Retained . E
reserve profits Total % ;
B RERF CLSNE 3
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 §
Hizt FHT FHT FHT S
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE—hEF
+=-A=+—H 7,039 16,550 23,589
Profit for the year FRR A - 21,700 21,700
Equity-settled share-based NE=EERRNAE 25
transaction EBAZRNR S 198 - 198 =)
Cancellation of share options 535 A& (7,237) 7,237 - . %
Dividend paid BN A 13 - (16,000) (16,0000 = ©
& >
At 31 December 2020 R-ZT-TF < ﬁ
+-A=+—~8 - 29,487 29,487 O
O
At 31 December 2018 R-Z—N\%F §
+=-A=+—H 3,698 23,641 27,339
Profit for the year F N F - 18,717 18,717
Equity-settled share-based DMEE%:-&HXHE 25
transaction EMMTER 3,533 = 3,533
Forfeiture of share options R U R A HE (192) 192 - 3
Dividend paid BARE 13 - (26,000) (26,000) g
At 31 December 2019 RZEB—-NE B> %
+=A=+-8 7,039 16,550 23589 | o
i
=
>
=z
=]
=
)Z>
_ o
- >
5 2
=
Z
@
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERME

33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
As at 31 December 2020

33 SRIE - REHED
R-E-ZEF+=-H=+—H

Financial Financial
assets assets at fair
at amortised value through
cost profit or loss Total
R 8 AR AR BAYE
FTEN s AEER
cMEE HEmEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FEIT FET
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABZED
through the profit or loss TREE = 13,854 13,854
Trade and other receivables B 5 RHEAFEWFIE 183,044 = 183,044
Deposits e 12,776 - 12,776
Restricted bank deposits SRR HIBITIER 6,139 - 6,139
Bank and cash balances RITRIRE e 99,216 - 99,216
Total HEt 301,175 13,854 315,029
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
1R 8H AR A
TEN
=R et
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b e FRIE
(excluding sale deposits received) (DU HEST 2B 118,074 118,074
Contract liabilities AHAaE 3,453 3,453
Borrowings & 8,750 8,750
Lease liabilities HEAE 25,312 25,312
Total #Et 155,589 155,589
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEmRME

33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33 £m I H —RERIZES (&)

34

(Continued)
As at 31 December 2019

R-B-AFt+t=-A=t+—8H

Financial

-

Financial assets at fair % o
assets value through : §
at amortised the profit L m
cost or loss Total . ?
R R A BAoTE 2
HE HABBE =
SEMEE HEmEE st .
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET
Financial assets at fair value BEATER ABEREED
through the profit or loss TREE - 8,621 8,621 3
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HAtb e Y IR 166,635 S 166,635 2
Deposits e 11,524 - 11,524 B
Restricted bank deposits ZRE|SRITER 6,186 - 6,186 S
Bank and cash balances FORBSEH 97,679 - 97,679 L
Total @it 272,024 8,621 080,645 5
wn
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
RS AR A o
HEZ -
SMAME Ay
HK$ ' 000 HK$ " 000 e
FET FET = 2
Trade and other payables B REMERNFRIE 173
(excluding sale deposits received) (BUWSHERTSBRIM) 105,965 105,965 5
Contract liability aREaRE 2,964 2,964
Borrowings B 11,852 11,852
Finance lease payables BE AR RIB 43 43
Lease liabilities HEAE 23,089 23,089
Total eE 143,913 143,913
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 34 HAREE

RZZBE-ZEF+-RA=+—0 FEEL
BEMBEAXREE (ZT-NF  8)-

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities
as at 31 December 2020 (2019: nil).

SINIWILVLIS TVIONVNIL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERME

35 LEASE 35 HE

This note provides information for leases where the Group
is a lessee.

() Amount recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position
shows the following amounts relating to leases:

WA EEARMA - BIAN R R
B

i

-

REEMBERRARBERNEH

REMBAAREINATEAES
FARY S8 -

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Buildings B3 23,200 21,657

Lease liabilities HEERE

Current E 9,207 6,597
Non-current JERED 16,105 16,492
Total equity R 25,312 23,089
Additions to the right-of-use assets were BE_Z_TF+-_HA=+—H1IE

HK$10,271,000 (2019: HK$6,406,000) during year
ended 31 December 2020.
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income
shows the following amounts relating to leases:

(i)

FEFEAEEENE10,271,000%
7T (ZZ— 1% : 6,406,000/ 7T) °

REE2HEBERERNEHE

FAEEEWRERHIATERESR
M T

2020 2019
—E-BF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEENERY
assets (note 7) (B3E7) 8,602 6,784
Interest expenses A=
(included in finance costs) (FFABVERAN)
(note 10) (M45E10) 1,027 1,839

The total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was
HK$9,134,000 (2019: HK$7,670,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 LEASE (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouses,
factory, staff dormitory, and car parking spaces.
Non-cancellable rental contracts are typically made for
periods of one to three years. The Group also leases
various warehouses and factory under cancellable
rental contracts. The option to terminate the leases
are described in note (iv) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants.

Extension termination options

Extension termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These
are used to maximize operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations.
The majority of extension termination options held
are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor.

REMBWMRMEE

35 HE (&)

(iii)

(iv)

FEBHEEDRETEESRX

ANEBREZENAZT AE- T
B BIESREEN - TA]
HEAH-—MAEH—Z=F - &A%
ENREATHEAEANTHEESZR
PERIR - RIEHAENEFNRT
SR RE(v)BE AL

MHE BRI B E R L - I
BEERETRMGR RGN - BE
195 5% 30 45 6 DN (E (] 58

FEFRAR -1
ERRIEEFAANEEZEYEM
E-ERAKEEZMAEEM
5 OREFAREAMCELSEEN -
HRAENKE S EHR EEETHA
SEMIEABBBEAITE

F YT

L)

SH3IdTOHIYVHS 4NO OL

UL

SININILVLS TVIONVNIL

NOILVINHOANI 31v40d400

AOH F1v40d4400

JFONVNY
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hFEMBEBE
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—-HLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—EZZF ZE-NEFE ZE-N\F ZE—+F ZT—RF
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKP000
FET FET FET FET FET
Results HE
Revenue s 701,699 808,599 885,971 788,042 744,899
Profit before income tax ey Tyl 37,695 24,311 49,639 87,148 97,355
Income tax expense Frfe R (8,814) (1,954) (7,261) (17,140) (22,098)
Profit for the year F RS F) 28,881 22,357 42,378 70,008 75,257
Attributable to: JE1S -
Owners of the Company ERREBA 28,881 22,357 42,378 70,008 75,257
As at 31 December
R+t=-—RA=+—~H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—ECZF ZE-NEFE ZE-N\F ZT—+F ZT—RF
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKP000
FET FET FEr FET FET
Assets and liabilities BEERERE
Total assets BERE 543,717 515,235 573,573 524,736 294,224
Total liabilities BiELE (178,912)  (162,744)  (221,678)  (192,172)  (139,469)
Net assets BESE 364,805 352,491 351,895 332,564 154,755
Equity attributable to owners ZA/NCIEZZE N
of the Company FEh Tz 364,805 352,491 351,895 332,564 154,755
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Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited

BETRETFRERRLF

Block J, 5/F., Phase Il, Kaiser Estate, 51 Man Yue Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

BEBNRRAMERE S FIELIEFP L 285BI E

www.trio-ieg.com
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